

ISSN: 2356-3931 (Online) Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Gadjah Mada Journal of the Medical Sciences

Volume 55 No 2, 2023



Published by Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Credits

Editor in Chief

Hardyanto Soebono

Associate Editors

Dewi Kartikawati Paramita Eti Nurwening Sholikhah Gunadi Junaedy Yunus Mae Sri Hartati Wahyuningsih Mardiah Suci Hardianti Mei Neni Sitaresmi Muhammad Bayu Sasongko Mustofa Retno Danarti Sultana MH Faradz Yana Supriatna Yohanes Widodo Wirohadidjojo Pamungkas Bagus Satriyo Fara Silvia Yuliani

International Advisory Board

Agostino Pierro, Alexis Valentin, Carina Hanashima, Dorothy E. Oorschot, Fatima Shad Kaneez, Françoise Benoit-Vical, Gan Siew Hua, Hisahide Nishio, Hugo A. Heij, I. Bing Tan, Isaak Effendy, Jaap Middeldorp, Mulyoto Pangestu, Rik J. Scheper, Teguh Haryo Sasongko William R Faber, Yoshitake Hayashi Zilfalil Bin Alwi,

Language Editor

Rahmi Ayu Wijayaningsih Irham Ramadhan

Cover

Dian Angraeni Shadab Maqsood

Layout editor

Tri Mulyono Nurhadiyahya

Table of contents

Effects of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one on serum levels of antioxidant enzymes in hyperlipidemic rats	
Prasetyastuti, Noviyanty Indjar Gama	99-107
High resolution ultrasonography of thyroid nodules: can ultrasonographic assessment obviate the need for invasive aspiration cytology in ultrasonographically benign lesions? Shadab Maqsood, Inzimam Wani, Omair Shah, Tariq Gojwari, Zubaida Rasool, Bashir Laway, Shujaut Farooq	108-115
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on decreasing hospitalization rates and management of acute coronary syndrome: a study from single centre hospital in Yogyakarta, Indonesia Hendry Purnasidha Bagaswoto, Ferdinandus Bayu Satria, Hani Khairina, Nahar Taufik, Budi Yuli Setianto	116-126
Correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and hyperlipidemia in post-ischemic stroke patients	
Dian Angraeni, Lina Choridah, Evi Artsini	127-134
Relationship of bizygomatic and bigonial breadth with the suitability of surgical masks Tjam Diana Samara, Magdalena Wartono, Nany Hairunisa, Lie T. Merijanti, Alvin M. Ridwan, Ridwan Harrianto	135-141
The facial measurements in health workers at Dr.Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta Nadiya Husna Aliya, Neni Trilusiana Rahmawati, Janatin Hastuti, Sri Awalia Febriana	142-150
Reconsidering the limited role of right heart catheterization on severe pulmonary hypertension-due to progressive interstitial lung disease in young male patient: a case report	
Megawati Abubakar, Anggoro Budi Hartopo, Ika Trisnawati, Eko Budiono, Dyah Wulan Anggrahini, Lucia Kris Dinarti	151-159
Acute compartment syndrome of the forearm after transradial approach to percutaneous coronary intervention: a case report	
Istan Irmansyah Irsan, Satria Pandu Persada Isma, Alifian, Muhammad Alwy Sugiarto	160-167
Protective role of Nigella sativa oil against cisplatininduced ototoxicity: a literature review	
Donny Hendriyanto, Helmi	168-178
Health-related quality of life of the elderly after natural disasters: a scoping review Pujiatun, Anindya K Zahra, Detty Siti Nurdiati	179-194



Submitted: 2023-01-06

Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 99-107 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202301

Effects of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)chroman-4-one on serum levels of antioxidant enzymes in hyperlipidemic rats

Prasetyastuti^{1*}, Noviyanty Indjar Gama²

¹Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta; ²Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Mulawarman, Samarinda, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Hyperlipidemia triggers oxidative stress caused by an imbalance between Accepted : 2023-04-02 oxidant and antioxidant levels due to the excess production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The increase of ROS can decrease antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione peroxidase (GPx). 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3-Methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one is exogenous antioxidants isolated from mahogany seeds (Swietenia macrophylla King). This study aimed to evaluate the effects of the 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one on serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx in hyperglycemic rats. Thirty-six male Wistar rats (Rattus norvegicus) were divided into the following six groups: (N) normal group, (HL) hyperlipidemia group, (P) hyperlipidemia group with simvastatin, F10, F30, and F90 hyperlipidemia group with 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one 10, 30 and 90 mg/200g body weight (BW), respectively. Hyperlipidemia was induced by feed enriched with cholesterol and cholic acid. Treatments were administered orally by gavages. After 4 weeks of treatments, blood sample was drawn and serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx enzymes were analyzed using a spectrophotometric method. Serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx in hyperlipidemic rats treated with 7-hydroxy-2-(4hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one at dose 10, 30 and 90 mg/200g BW were higher than HL group. In addition, no significantly different on serum

ABSTRAK

Hiperlipidemia dapat memicu stress oksidatif yang disebabkan oleh ketidakseimbangan antara senyawa oksidan dan kadar antioksidan akibat produksi reactive oxygen species (ROS) yang berlebih. Kenaikan ROS ini dapat menurunkan enzim antioksidan seperti superoksida dismutase (SOD), katalase (CAT) dan glutation peroksidase (GPx). Senyawa 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3metoksifenil)-kroman-4-one adalah antioksidan eksogen yang diisolasi dari biji mahoni (Swietenia macrophylla King). Tujuan dari penelitian ini adalah mengkaji pengaruh pemberian senyawa 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3-metoksifenil)kroman-4-one terhadap kadar SOD, CAT dan GPx dalam serum tikus hiperglikemia. Sebanyak 36 ekor tikus wistar (Rattus norvegicus) jantan dibagi menjadi 6 kelompok yaitu (N) kelompok normal, (HL) kelompok hyperlipidemia, (P) kelompok hyperlipidemia + simvastatin, F10, F30, dan F90 kelompok hyperlipidemia + 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3-metoksifenil)-kroman-4-one berturut-turut dengan dosis 10, 30 dan 90 mg/200g berat badan (BB). Tikus hiperglikemia dibuat dengan diinduksi makanan kaya kolesterol dan asam kolic. Enzim SOD, CAT dan GPx dianalisis menggunakan metode spektrofotometri. Kadar SOD, CAT, dan GPx serum tikus hiperlipidemia yang diberi 7-OH -2-(4-OH-3-metoksifenil)-kroman-4-one dosis 10, 30 dan 90 mg/200g BB lebih tinggi dibanding kelompok HL. Kadar SOD dan CAT serum kelompok F90 (dosis 90mg/200g BB) berbeda tidak bermakna dengan kelompok P (p>0,05).

SOD and CAT between group F90 and group P was observed (p>0.05).

Keywords: hyperlipidemia: superoxide dismutase; catalase; glutathione peroxidase; antioxidants

INTRODUCTION

Hyperlipidemia is а medical condition characterized by an increase in one or all of the lipid or lipoprotein profiles in the blood.¹ These conditions lead to the development of free radicals in the body that cause other pathological diseases. Hyperlipidemia is the most of common cause atherosclerosis which affects more than 3 million adults throughout the United States and Europe. Recently, the incidence of the atherosclerosis is rapidly increasing.² The decrease in antioxidants caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a key factor for the initiation of the development of hyperlipidemia-related diseases such as atherosclerosis.³ An imbalance between ROS production and the endogenous antioxidant systems can cause damage to cellular biomolecules, including lipids, proteins, and DNA.⁴

Several natural antioxidants such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) act as radical scavengers which are biomolecular repair systems damaged radicals.⁵ These free enzymes bv act as an inhibitor of the oxidation process and also inhibit chain oxidant reactions at small concentrations so they can suppress the potential threat of pathological processes.⁶ The SOD enzyme act as the first scavenger by catalyzing the superoxide anion into H_2O_2 and oxygen molecules.⁷ The CAT enzyme is a tetrameric ferriheme oxidoreductase which catalyzes H_2O_2 into water and oxygen.⁸ In addition, there is a debate on the role of CAT versus peroxynitrite, but recent advances reported the ability of CAT as an ONOO-scavenger.⁹ The GPx enzyme is a selenium-dependent oxidoreductase that uses H₂O₂ or organic hydroperoxides as oxidants and tripeptide glutathione (GSH) as electron donors.¹⁰

Hyperlipidemia conditions can be treated through a pharmacological approach by considering the side effects associated with drugs. Several studies have examined natural ingredients that have active compounds such as polyphenols and flavonoids which have antioxidant and antihyperlipidemic activities.¹¹

(Swietenia Mahogany seeds *macrophylla* King) have a variety of isolated pure compounds with a large number pharmacological of activities that have been identified and isolated. Some of these compounds have hypolipidemic and antioxidant activities.¹² One of the compounds that was successfully isolated from mahogany 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyseeds was 3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one which is a compound belonging to the flavonoid class which has many benefits including as antioxidant effect.¹³ This study aimed to evaluate the antioxidant effects of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one by measuring serum antioxidant enzymes in hyperlipidemic rats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Compound tested

7-Hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one was isolated from S. macrophylla King by Dr. Sri Mursiti from the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Semarang, Semarang.

Experimental design

Thirty-six male Wistar rats weighing between 150 and 200 g, 10 weeks old, were used in this study. Serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx were tested using a post-test only with a normal group design. The research location was conducted in two laboratories: The Biochemistry Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, and the Food and Nutrition Laboratory, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. The experiments were carried out according to the guidelines for the use of animals and approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethic Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada (No. KE/FK/08/8/EC/2017).

The rats were divided into 6 groups of experimental with 6 rats in each group with the following distribution: Normal group (N), hyperlipidemia group (HL), hyperlipidemia group with simvastatin 0.18 mg/200 g BW (P), hyperlipidemia group with 10 mg (F10), 30 mg (F30) and 90 (F90) mg/200 g BW 7-OH-2-(4-OH-3-methoxyphenyl) chroman-4one, respectively. The rats were given AIN 93M standard feed for 5 days for acclimatization. Hyperlipidemia was induced by administering laboratory feed enriched with 10 g/kg cholesterol and 2 g/kg cholic acid for a week. Groups N and HL were given orally by infusion with the same volume of water, while the other groups were given 7-hydroxy-2-(4hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4one once daily for 4 weeks. At the end of the experiment, the serum samples were collected for assessment of SOD, CAT, and GPx serum levels.

Serum antioxidant measurement

The serum SOD level was measured by spectrophotometry in percentages. The CAT serum level (U/mL) was measured by spectrophotometry.¹⁴ The GPx serum level (U/mL) was measured spectrophotometrically.

Statistical methods

The data were expressed as the mean ± standard deviation (SD). Oneway Anova was used to examine the effects of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one on serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx. The p value <0.05 was used to determine significant differences between groups. Homogeneous variance with individual comparisons were obtained by Tukey's HSD post hoc test.

RESULTS

Serum level of SOD

The results showed that the cholesterol-induced rats (HL) had lower serum SOD levels than the normal group (N) (FIGURE 1). Serum SOD levels in hyperlipidemic rats that were intervened with 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one dose 10,30 and 90 mg/200g BW were higher than HL group that was not intervened. Serum SOD levels at the dose of 90 mg/200 gBW (F90) were not significantly different (p>0.05) compared with the simvastatin group (P).

Serum CAT levels

Serum CAT levels after of administration 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)chroman-4-one at doses 10, 30, and 90 mg/200gBW were higher compared the hyperlipidemic group (HL) to (FIGURE 2). Serum CAT levels at a dose of 90 mg/200gBB were not significantly different (p>0.05) compared with the simvastatin group (P).

Serum GPx levels

Serum GPx levels after administration of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)chroman-4-one at doses 10, 30, and 90 mg/200gBW were higher compared to the hyperlipidemic group (HL) (FIGURE 3).



FIGURE 1. Serum SOD levels (%) in hyperlipidemic rats. N: normal, HL: hyperlipidemia, P: HL + simvastatin, F10, F30, F90: HL+ 7-OH-2-(4-OH3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one 10, 30, 90 mg/200g BW, respectively. Normality test with Shapiro-Wilk; data were tested with Anova test, Notation *: p <0.05 vs P; #: p <0.05 vs HL.</p>



FIGURE 2. Serum CAT levels (U/mL) in hyperlipidemic rats. N: normal, HL: hyperlipidemia, P: HL + simvastatin, F10, F30, F90: HL+ 7-OH-2-(4-OH3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one 10, 30, 90 mg/200g BW, respectively. Normality test with Shapiro-Wilk; data were tested with Anova, p <0.05. Notation *: p <0.05 vs P; #: p <0.05 vs HL.



FIGURE 3. Serum levels of GPx (U/mL) in hyperlipidemic rats. N: normal, HL: hyperlipidemia, P: HL + simvastatin, F10, F30, F90: HL + 7-OH-2-(4-OH3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one 10, 30, 90 mg/200g BW, respectively. Normality test with Shapiro Wilk; data were tested with Anova p <0.05. Notation *: p <0.05 vs P; #: p <0.05 vs HL.</p>

DISCUSSION

The high-fat diet for one week promotes hyperlipidemia as reviewed by Ayunda *et al.*,¹⁵ who reported that cholesterol-induced rats had higher total and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol than the normal group. Lipids are very susceptible to damage caused by free radicals which result in lipid peroxidation that causes adverse changes.¹⁶

High lipid levels change the properties of lipids and activate NADPH oxidase to produce ROS. High levels of fat and LDL can also suppress antioxidant enzymes.¹⁷ This is in line with the results after induction of hyperlipidemia which showed lower serum antioxidant enzymes compared to the normal group. Increased lipid peroxidation and decreased antioxidant activity are the initial events in the development of hyperlipidemia.¹⁸ Low antioxidant enzyme activity can also be associated with enzyme inactivation by ROS which causes damage to proteins.

Simvastatin is clinically proven to reduce blood cholesterol levels.¹⁹ The simvastatin effectively inhibits HMG CoA reductase activity, thereby preventing cholesterol synthesis in the liver. Decreased cholesterol synthesis in the liver will affect the lipid profile in circulation.²⁰

Flavonoids can reduce cholesterol levels by inhibiting the absorption of cholesterol in the intestines and can suppress increasing bile formation to be excreted with feces.²¹ Both simvastatin and flavonoids have a positive effect on body fat balance. The 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)chroman-4-one is a flavonoid isolated from mahogany seeds which is a class of flavanones. The positive 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3effects of methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one on antioxidants and the body, especially in serum are reflected in the results of post-intervention with 7-hydroxy-2-(4hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one for 4 weeks which can increase serum antioxidant enzymes (SOD, CAT or GPx) in various dose groups compared to the hyperlipidemia group.

Serum level of SOD and Catalase at the dose of 90 mg/200gBW (F90) have the same effect with the simvastatin group (P) p>0.05. The increase in serum antioxidant enzymes is in line with the study of Wu et al.,22 who administered extracted flavonoids from Rhodomyrtus tomentosa Hassk berries thereby increasing serum SOD and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) levels and suppressing serum malondialdehyde (MDA) levels. Zeng et al.,²³ also conducted research related to the increase in serum antioxidants after the flavonoid intervention, which different flavonoids, compared six namely epicatechin, epigallocatechin, procyanidin, quercetin, taxifolin, and rutin given to rats with induced aging by D-galactose.

In addition to increasing antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, CAT, and G-Px, the studied flavonoids also suppress MDA and inflammatory markers such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α), Interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6 which are caused by oxidative stress. The structural diversity of flavonoids is postulated to be an important element that influences their antioxidant activity.²⁴ Several previous studies have compared the antioxidant activity of subclasses of flavonoids with different structures and the results reported that: the position and number of hydroxyl groups,²⁵ degree of polymerization,²⁶ glycosylated compounds,²⁷ the combination of carbonyl groups and C2=C3 double bonds²⁸ affect antioxidant activity.

7 - h y d r o x y - 2 - (4 - h y d r o x y - 3 methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one belongs to the homoisoflavonoid group which is a naturally occurring oxygen heterocyclic compound having two aromatic rings and an additional carbon between rings B and C on the isoflavonoid framework.²⁹ The antioxidant activity of similar compounds using nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) and 1.1-diphenyl-2picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) which are free radical scavenging methods. So besides being able to encourage the expression of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, CAT, and GPx, these compounds can also act directly as free radical scavengers.³⁰ The lack of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD was proven to promote lipid peroxidation and triglycerides in rat livers and fatty liver conditions.³¹ The low catalase in circulation is associated with hyperhomocysteinaemia can increase myocardial wall dysfunction under ischemia reperfusion by excessive ROS production by increased lipid peroxidation.³² The GPx deficiency can accelerate and modify the development of atherosclerotic lesions in mice.³³

showed The results that the serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx hyperlipidemic rats that were in intervened with 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one were higher than HL group that was not intervened. This finding can prevent the development of other diseases that originate from hyperlipidemic conditions through flavonoids related to the regulation of antioxidant enzymes, and suppression of lipid peroxidation by antioxidant gene expression in circulation.

CONCLUSION

Serum levels of SOD, CAT, and GPx in hyperlipidemic rats that are intervened with 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one at dose 10, 30, and 90 mg/200gBW are higher than HL group that is not intervened. Group F90 (dose 90 mg/200g BW) and group P (simvastatin) shows no significant difference in results on serum SOD and CAT.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors wish to extend their thanks to all staff in the Biochemistry Laboratory at the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, and the Food and Nutrition Laboratory, Universitas Gadjah Mada for preparing the necessary materials during this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Rasool Hassan Overview BA. hyperlipidemia. Chromat on I Separation Technig 2013; 04(03):e113. https://www.longdom.org/ open-access-pdfs/overviewon-hyperlipidemia-2157-7064.1000e113.pdf
- 2. Hill MF, Bordoni B. Hyperlipidemia. StatPearls Publishing 2022;
- 3. Kaliora AC, Dedoussis GVZ, Schmidt H. Dietary antioxidants in preventing atherogenesis. Atherosclerosis 2006; 187(1):1-17.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2005.11.001

4. Juan CA, de la Lastra JMP, Plou FJ, Pérez-Lebeña E. The chemistry of reactive oxygen species (ROS) revisited: outlining their role in biological macromolecules (DNA, Lipids and Proteins) and induced pathologies. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22(9):4642.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094642

- 5. Rajani G, Ashok P. *In vitro* antioxidant and antihyperlipidemic activities of *Bauhinia variegata* Linn. Indian J Pharmacol 2009; 41(5):227-32. https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7613.58513
- 6. Ighodaro OM, Akinloye OA. First line defence antioxidants-superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX): Their fundamental role in the entire antioxidant defence grid. Alexandria J Med 2018; 54(4):287-93.

h t t p s ://d o i . o r g/10.1016/j. ajme.2017.09.001

- Singh YP, Patel RN, Singh Y, Butcher RJ, Vishakarma PK, Singh RKB. Structure and antioxidant superoxide dismutase activity of copper (II) hydrazone complexes. Polyhedron 2017; 122:1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2016.11.013
- 8. Grigoras AG. Catalase immobilization—A review. Biochem Eng J 2017; 117:1-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2016.10.021

9. Gebicka L, Didik J. Catalytic scavenging of peroxynitrite by catalase. J Inorg Biochem 2009; 103(10):1375-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jinorgbio.2009.07.011

- 10. Cardoso BR, Hare DJ, Bush AI, Roberts BR. Glutathione peroxidase 4: a new player in neurodegeneration? Mol Psychiatry 2017; 22(3):328-35. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.196
- 11. Nagarthna PKM, HarshaVardhini N, Bashir B, Sridhar KM. Hyperlipidemic and its treatment: a review. J Adv Sci Res 2020; 11(1):1-6. http://www.sciensage.info/ journal/1359303580JASR_3006121. pdf
- 12. Moghadamtousi SZ, Goh BH, Chan CK, Shabab T, Kadir HA. Biological activities and phytochemicals of *Swietenia macrophylla* King. Molecules 2013; 18(9):10465-83. h t t p s : //doi.org/10.3390/ molecules180910465
- 13. Mursiti S. Isolation of secondary metabolite compounds antihyperglycemia of mahogany seeds (*Swietenia macrophylla*, King [Dissertation]. Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta; 2015.
- 14. Iwai K, Nakaya N, Kawasaki Y, Matsue H. Antioxidative function of natto, a kind of fermented soybeans effect on LDL oxidation and lipid metabolism in cholesterol-fed rats. J Agric Food Chem 2002; 50(12):3597-601.

https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0117199

 Ayunda RD, Prasetyastuti, Hastuti P. Effect of 7-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-chroman-4-one on level of mangan-superoxide dismutase (Mn-sod) and superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) gene expression in hyperlipidemia rats. Indon J Pharm 2019; 30(3):180-6.

https://doi.org/10.14499/ indonesianjpharm30iss3pp17

 Yin H, Xu L, Porter NA. Free radical lipid peroxidation: mechanisms and analysis. Chem Rev 2011; 111(10):5944-72.

https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200084z

17. Amiya E. Interaction of hyperlipidemia and reactive oxygen species: Insights from the lipidraft platform. World J Cardiol 2016; 8(12):689-94.

https://doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v8.i12.689

 Yang RL, Shi YH, Hao G, Li W, Le GW. Increasing oxidative stress with progressive hyperlipidemia in human: relation between malondialdehyde and atherogenic index. J Clin Biochem Nutr 2008; 43(3):15458.

https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.2008044

 Graveline D. Adverse effects of statin drugs: a physician patient's perspective. J Am Phys Surg 2015; 20(1):7-11. http://www.jpands.org/vol20no1/

graveline.pdf

- 20. Gazzerro P, Proto MC, Gangemi G, Malfitano AM, Ciaglia E, Pisanti S, *et al.* Pharmacological actions of statins: a critical appraisal in the management of cancer. Pharmacol Rev 2012; 64(1):102-46. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.111.004994
- 21. Shattat GF. A review article on hyperlipidemia: types, treatments and new drug targets. Biomed Pharmacol J 2014; 7(2):399-409. https://doi.org/10.13005/bpj/504
- 22. Wu P, Ma G, Li N, Deng Q, Yin Y, Huang R. Investigation of *in vitro* and *in vivo*

antioxidant activities of flavonoid rich extract from the berries of *Rhodomyrtus tomentosa* (Ait.) Hassk. Food Chem 2015; 173:194-202.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2014.10.023

23. Zeng Y, Song J, Zhang M, Wang H, Zhang Y, Suo H. Comparison of *in vitro* and *in vivo* antioxidant activities of six flavonoids with similar structures. Antioxidants 2020; 9(8):732.

https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9080732

- 24. Sarian MN, Ahmed QU, Mat So'Ad SZ, Alhassan AM, Murugesu S, Perumal V, *et al.* Antioxidant and antidiabetic effects of flavonoids: a structureactivity relationship based study. BioMed Res Int 2017; 2017:8386065. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8386065
- 25. Narayani M. Bioethanol production from tea fungal biomass grown on tea manufacture waste. [Thesis]. National Institute of Technology, Raurkela; 2013.

h t t p : / / e t h e s i s . n i t r k l . ac.in/4724/%5Cnhttp://ethesis.nitrkl. ac.in/4724/1/411LS2055.

26. Heim KE, Tagliaferro AR, Bobilya DJ. Flavonoid antioxidants: chemistry, metabolism and structure-activity relationships J Nutr Biochem 2002; 13(10):572-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0955-

https://doi.org/10.1016/s0955-2863(02)00208-5

27. Chen Y, Tang S, Chen Y, Zhang R, Zhou M, Wang C, *et al.* Structureactivity relationship of procyanidins on advanced glycation end products formation and corresponding mechanisms. Food Chem 2019; 272:679-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

foodchem.2018.08.090

 Çelik H, Koşar M. Inhibitory effects of dietary flavonoids on purified hepatic NADH-cytochrome b5 reductase: Structure-activity relationships. Chem Biol Interact 2012; 197(2-3):103-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2012.04.003

- 29. Abegaz BM, Kinfe HH. Naturally occurring homoisoflavonoids: phytochemistry, biological activities, and synthesis (Part Nat Prod Commun II). 2019; 14(5):1934578X1984581. https://doi.org/10.1177/1934578X19845813
- 30. Siddaiah V, Rao CV, Venkateswarlu S, Subbaraju GV. A concise synthesis of polyhydroxydihydrochalcones and homoisoflavonoids. Tetrahedron 2006; 62(5):841-46.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2005.10.059

31. Uchiyama S, Shimizu T, Shirasawa T. CuZn-SOD deficiency causes ApoB degradation and induces hepatic lipid accumulation by impaired lipoprotein secretion in mice. J Biol Chem 2006; 281(42):31713-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-

9258(19)84085-1

32. Noichri Y, Chalghoum A, Chkioua L, Baudin B, Ernez S, Ferchichi S, *et al.* Low erythrocyte catalase enzyme activity is correlated with high serum total homocysteine levels in Tunisian patients with acute myocardial infarction. Diagn Pathol 2013; 8:68.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-8-68

33. Torzewski M, Ochsenhirt V, Kleschyov AL, Oelze M, Daiber A, Li H, *et al.* Deficiency of glutathione peroxidase-1 accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27(4):850-57.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01. ATV.0000258809.47285.07



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 108-115 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202302

High resolution ultrasonography of thyroid nodules: can ultrasonographic assessment obviate the need for invasive aspiration cytology in ultrasonographically benign lesions?

Shadab Maqsood*, Inzimam Wani, Omair Shah, Tariq Gojwari, Zubaida Rasool, Bashir Laway, Shujaut Farooq

Sherikashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, India

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2022-11-17 Accepted : 2023-02-27

The use of high-resolution ultrasound (HRUS) thyroid imaging has resulted in a significant revolution in the treatment of thyroid nodules. The enigma of thyroid nodules has been a blind spot for radiologists for a long period. Reporting a thyroid nodule as benign or malignant is quite difficult and many times not accurate. The American Collage of Radiology-Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System (ACR-TIRADS) 2017 classification has solved this problem to a large extent. However, the classification needed pathological confirmation for it to be highly accurate. We compared our HRUS-based TIRADS labeling of thyroid nodules with thyroid cytopathology using revised Bethesda classification system. Patients detected with thyroid nodules by HRUS were categorized using ACR-TIRADS and further were taken for fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) in our department. The pathological results were compared with the initial TIRADS category of the nodule and the effectiveness of the TIRADS classification in categorizing nodules into benign and malignant was assessed using various statistical variables. The initial USG and the FNAC were performed by a single radiologist with over 10 years of experience. A total of 201 patients underwent HRUS followed by FNAC after obtaining written consent in our department. The thyroid nodules labeled as true benign on ACR-TIRADS (TIRADS 2) were all true benign on Bethesda cytopathology (less than Bethesda III), confirming the high accuracy of HRUS. The diagnostic accuracy of HRUS in cases of ACR-TIRADS 3 nodules was approximately 90.6% with an error rate of 9.4%. Nodules labeled as ACR-TIRADS 4 and 5 had error rates of 47% and 10% in labeling nodules as malignant. The ultrasound-based ACR-TIRADS system can accurately predict the likelihood of specific nodules being benign. There is a strong concordance between Bethesda cytology and ACR-TIRADS classification, particularly for benign nodules. In resource-constrained system like ours, patients with TIRADS 2 and 3 nodules can be safely followed obviating the need for an invasive procedure like FNAC.

Keywords:

thyroid imaging reporting & data system (TIRADS); ultrasonography (USG); Bethesda; fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC); high resolution ultrasonography (HRUS)

INTRODUCTION

Thyroid nodules are quite common and often detected incidentally. The method used to diagnose them has a significant impact on their prevalence rates.¹ Imaging techniques like highresolution ultrasound (HRUS) show the prevalence rate in the adult population ranging from 20 to 76% as opposed to just 4 to 7% when determined solely by palpation method.² Most thyroid nodules are benign but to categorize a nodule as benign or malignant based

on imaging has been traditionally difficult. The ability to diagnose a nodule as malignant is the ultimate goal of all imaging modalities so that appropriate treatments can be started at the earliest. The incidence of malignancy among thyroid nodules varies based on clinical and radiological assessment.³ Histopathological assessment, which in the case of thyroid nodules took the form of fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC), has historically been the solution to clinical and radiological uncertainty. Nevertheless, **FNAC** only detects malignancy in 4-6% of thyroid nodules.⁴ The frequency of incidental diagnoses of thyroid nodules (thyroid incidentalomas) is rising as a result of the frequent use of HRUS and the improved accessibility to cytological analysis through Ultrasound guided FNAC.⁵ Therefore the question of their benignity or malignant nature is a big question that needs to be answered. This question has been partially answered by the introduction of the ACR TIRADS system of classification of thyroid nodules.⁶ Incidence of these thyroid nodules is more among women and is almost four times than that of men of same age group. This gender difference is thought to be secondary to hormonal effect (both progesterone and estrogen).7

Nodules are grouped into their respective TIRADS category based on shape (S), echogenicity (E), margin (M), and echogenic foci (F). The final ACR-TIRADS categories are based on the sum of the scores for each of these categories, which range from 0 to 3.^{8,9} The histopathological results of thyroid nodules are classified based on the Bethesda system for reporting thyroid cytopathology (2017) which categorizes the specimens into 6 categories.¹⁰

Our study was aimed at reaffirming the role of the ACR TIRADS classification in the management of thyroid nodules, especially with regard to benign nodules, so that a large number of invasive procedures (FNAC, biopsies) can be avoided in a resource constrained system like ours. We also sought to put to test the accuracy of TIRADS system to suggest a diagnosis of malignant thyroid nodule and thereby direct early management of these nodules.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

Patients

This study was conducted in the Department of Radio-diagnosis and Imaging Sheri Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Srinagar in collaboration with The Department of Endocrinology and Department of Pathology over a period for 2 years (September 2020 to October 2022) and included patients who had thyroid nodules on high resolution ultrasound imaging. Informed consent was obtained from all participants in this study. Normal thyroid scan (TIRADS 1) and histopathologically documented cases of thyroid malignancies (TIRADS 6) were excluded. The study was approved by the Institutional ethical committee-vide approval no IEC/ SKIMS Protocol # RP 159/2022. A total of 201 patients were included in the final study who underwent USG based TIRADS categorization followed by FNAC at our department. Loco regional lymphadenopathy was also evaluated and recorded. All USG's were done using 12-14 Hz Ultrasound probe of Logic P5 GE Machine by a radiologist with over 10 years of experience. All patients in our study group underwent FNAC as we wanted a complete evaluation of the TIRADS classification including benign appearing nodules.

Protocol of study

A final TIRADS grade was given to the nodule after consideration of the nodule's nature, its morphology, the presence or absence of calcifications, and any additional thyroidal expansion. All patients with TIRADS 2-5 then underwent FNAC in our department. The patient's coagulation profile and serology were assessed before any intervention. Informed consent was taken from all patients and all patients were cannulated before the procedure. After cleaning the neck with an antiseptic, sterile drapes were placed over the patient. FNAC was done by using 22G or 25G needles based on the nodular characteristic and operator preference. The procedure was done using real time guidance via USG and the aspirate was then flushed onto multiple slides using a 5mL syringe. Slide preparation, fixation and staining were done by an experienced pathologist with over 10 years of experience.

The slides were then evaluated for classification into BETHESDA system based on various characteristics. The pathologist evaluating the slides was kept blinded to the TIRADS grading of the nodule. The histopathological grade of the thyroid nodule was one of the six grades based on BETHSEDA system with the percentages in brackets indicating the likelihood of malignancy: grade I non diagnostic (1-4%), grade II benign (0-3%), grade III atypia of undetermined significance (5-15%), grade IV follicular neoplasm (15-30%), grade V suspicious for malignancy (60-75%) and grade VI malignant (97-99%).

Statistically analysis

The data was collected and evaluated using SPSS 21.0. Descriptive data was analyzed by frequencies and categorical data by percentages and continuous variables by means and standard deviations. Finally the TIRADS grading of the nodule was correlated with the BETHESDA grading and statistically significant concordances were sought with a p value of <0.05 considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 201 patients were included in this study with proportion of females versus male equal to 4:1. The mean age of the patients included in our study was 45 years. TIRADS3 and TIRADS4 made up the majority of the nodules on ultrasonography in 77.61% (156/201) of the cases. Using HRUS, thyroid nodules were stratified and TIRADS scoring was labeled for each patient. Out of the 201 nodules, 14(6.9%) nodules were categorized under TIRADS2, 85(42%) nodules were classified under TIRADS3, 71(35%) nodules were labeled as TIRADS 4, and 31(15%) were documented as TIRADS 5 (FIGURE 1). The nodules labeled as Bethesda I, II and III pathologically were considered benign while as those with Bethesda IV, V, and VI categorization were labeled as malignant. 120/201 (approximately 59%) were labeled as Bethesda I and II and III with US guided FNAC results. Further 40% (81/201) nodules proved to be malignant (TABLE 1). Out of the 14 TIRADS 2 nodules, all were benign on FNAC results. Among the 85 TIRADS 3 nodules, 62 nodules (72%) were Bethesda II (FIGURE 2) proving efficacy of HRUS for benignity, 7 nodules (8.2%) were Bethesda 1, 8 nodules (9%) were Bethesda III, 2 nodules (2.3%) were Bethesda IV, 3 nodules (2.3%) were Bethesda V, and 3 nodules (2.3%) were Bethesda VI. A total of 102 nodules were classified as TIRADS4 (FIGURE 3) and TIRADS5 (FIGURE 4) on USG and among them 11 turned out to be Bethesda II and 10 turned as Bethesda III. HRUS had approximately drop rate of 1.8% as in classifying the nodules as malignant (TABLE 1).

Bethesda grading	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Bethesda 1	14	6.97
Bethesda 2	85	42.29
Bethesda 3	21	10.45
Bethesda 4	24	11.94
Bethesda 5	17	8.46
Bethesda 6	40	19.90
Total	201	100.00

TABLE 1. Distribution of Bethesda grading of study subjects.



■ TIRADS 2 ■ TIRADS 3 ■ TIRADS 4 ■ TIRADS 5

FIGURE 1. Pie chart showing the percentage distribution of thyroid nodules based on the TIRADS categorization on HRUS.



FIGURE 2. Transverse USG scan (A) of left thyroid lobe showing a well defined isohyperechoic, solid lesion with no calcifications labeled as TIRADS 3 which on FNAC. (B) came out to be colloid nodule (Bethesda II).



FIGURE 3. Transverse USG images (A) of right thyroid lobe in a 40-year-old female shows well defined, solid, hypoechoic nodule with no calcifications, wider than taller labeled as TIRADS -4 which on FNAC. (B) came out to be medullary carcinoma Thyroid [Bethesda VI].



FIGURE 4. (A). Transverse USG images of right thyroid lobe in a 27-year-old female showing well defined, solid, hypoechoic, wider that taller lesion with peripheral calcification labeled as TIRADS 5. (B) came out to be papillary thyroid Carcinoma (Bethesda 6) on FNAC.

Sensitivity, specificity, negative predictive value (NPV), positive predictive value (PPV), and accuracy were also calculated based on FNAC results. TIRADS4 and 5 were considered positive for malignancy, while TIRADS scores of 1–3 were considered negative for malignancy. Our study showed 86% sensitivity, 84.16% specificity, 84.3% PPV, and 85.9% NPV in labeling thyroid nodules as benign/malignant based on US findings. Significant correlation was seen between ACR-TIRADS and Bethesda system classification with p<0.001 (TABLE 2).

		H	Bethesda grad	ling (n or %)				
TIRADS	1	2	3	4	5	6	Total	р
	(n=14)	(n=85)	(n=21)	(n=24)	(n=17)	(n=40)		
TIRADS2	2 (14.29)	12 (14.12)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	14 (6.97)	
TIRADS3	7 (50)	62 (72.94)	8 (38.10)	2 (8.33)	3 (17.65)	3 (7.50)	85 (42.29)	-0.001
TIRADS4	5 (35.71)	11 (12.94)	10 (47.62)	22 (91.67)	12 (70.59)	11 (27.50)	71 (35.32)	<0.001
TIRADS5	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (14.29)	0 (0)	2 (11.76)	26 (65)	31 (15.42)	
Total	14 (100)	85 (100)	21 (100)	24 (100)	17 (100)	40 (100)	201 (100)	

TABLE 2. Association of TIRADS classification of thyroid nodules with Bethesda grading

The efficacy of ultrasound in labeling benign nodule as for TIRADS2, TIRADS3 was 100 and 90.6%. Labeling TIRADS4 and TIRADS5 as malignant were 63.5 and 90% respectively. The risk of malignancy for patients classified as ACR-TIRADS5, ACR-TIRADS4 and ACR-TIRADS3 were in ratio of 10:7:1.

DISCUSSION

Ultrasound should be utilized while assessing the thyroid gland and nodule for the first time. Although guidelines have been put forth for the management and need of FNAC in thyroid nodules, an institutional guideline may differ from the international guidelines based on the availability of resources and the nature of the patients being treated. It is a minimally invasive procedure, but FNAC is an effective and affordable approach for finding thyroid cancer. It is crucial to choose the cases based on their risk of malignancy because it is not costeffective, nor advisable to do such a test on all thyroid nodules. In an effort to aid in this selection, several classifications based on monographic traits have recently been put forth.¹⁰ The TIRADS system of categorization seeks to correlate cytological classification to sonographic properties. Recent investigations found that 7.3% of malignant nodules lacked ultrasonography evidence of malignancy. The USG characteristics of the thyroid nodule that we considered in classification of nodules as suspicious for malignancy were hypoechogenicity, solid-composition, micro calcifications, than wide morphology taller and irregular margins. It is important to note that the malignancy of the nodule was not correlated with the presence or absence of any one specific ultrasonography characteristic. It is important to always keep in mind that combining at least two ultrasonographic markers will help distinguish between benign nodules and high-risk nodule.

At the end of our study, we have derived the following results after using several ultrasonographic factors to decide the TIRADS scoring of the nodules. The efficacy of ultrasound in labeling benign nodules for TIRADS2, TIRADS3 was 100 and 90.6% and labeling TIRADS4, and TIRADS5 as malignant were 63.5 and 90% respectively. Horvath *et al.*,⁹ proposed ten ultrasound features to be seen during the ultrasound examination and nodule classification from TIRADS2–6.¹¹ They estimated a risk of malignancy of 0% for TIRADS2, 3.4% for TIRADS3, 10-80% for TIRADS4, and 87% for TIRADS5. Kwak et al.,12 gave TIRADS classification used five ultrasound criteria's for thyroid evaluation.¹³ The malignant risk of 0% for TIRADS2, 1.7% for TIRADS3, 72.4% for TIRADS4, and 87.5% for TIRADS 5.14 Similar studies by Indian writers like Srinivas *et al.*,¹⁵ came to the conclusion that the probability of malignancy for TIRADS categories 1, 2, 3, 4A, 4B, 4C, and 5 was 0, 0, 64, 4.76, 66.67, 83.33, and 100%, respectively. Our study is well correlating with these studies.

CONCLUSION

The need for FNAC in nodules labeled as TIRADS1, 2 and 3 can be obviated considering the high accuracy of HRUS in detecting nodules that are benign especially in a resource constrained system and in patients who are apprehensive of an invasive procedure. With regard to TIRADS4 and 5, the correlation between TIRADS and pathological BETHESDA system is not that strong, so we suggest that FNAC should be performed in all such patients.

ACKNOWLADGEMENTS

We would like to extend our sincere gratitude to everyone who participated in the research process over a two-year period, from data collecting through the completion of the publishing manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Singer PA, Cooper DS, Daniels GH, Ladenson PW, Greenspan FS, Levy EG, *et al.* Treatment guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules and well-differentiated thyroid cancer. American Thyroid Association. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156(19):2165-72.
- Mazzaferri EL. Management of a solitary thyroid nodule. N Engl J Med 1993; 328(8):553-9.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 5 6 / NEJM199302253280807

 Ezzat S, Sarti DA, Cain DR, Braunstein GD. Thyroid incidentalomas. Prevalence by palpation and ultrasonography. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154(16):1838-40.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 0 1 / archinte.154.16.1838 Pazaitou Panayiotou K, Capezzone M, Pacini F. Clinical features and therapeutic implication of papillary thyroid micro carcinoma. Thyroid 2007; 17(11):1085-92.

https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2007.0005

- Sugitani I, Toda K, Yamada K, Yamamoto N, Ikenaga M, Fujimoto Y. Three distinctly different kinds of papillary thyroid micro carcinoma should be recognized: Our treatment strategies and outcomes. World J Surg 2010; 34(6):1222-31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-009-0359-x
- 6. Kang KW, Kim SK, Kang HS, Lee ES, Sim JS, Lee IG, et al. Prevalence and risk of cancer of focal thyroid incidentaloma identified by 18Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography for metastasis evaluation and cancer screening in healthy subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88(9):4100-4.

https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-030465

7. Cooper DS, Doherty GM, Haugen BR, KloosRT, Lee SL, Mandel SJ, et al. Revised American Thyroid Association management guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. The American Thyroid Association (ATA) guidelines taskforce on thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. Thyroid 2009; 19(11):1167-214.

https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2009.0110

- Kung AW, Chau MT, Lao TT, Tam SCF, Law SCK. The effect of pregnancy on thyroid nodule formation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87(3):1010-4. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.87.3.8285
- Horvath E, Majlis S, Rossi R, Franco C, Niedmann JP, Castro A, et al. An ultrasonogram reporting system for thyroid nodules stratifying cancer risk for clinical management. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009; 94(5):1748-51. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-1724

10. Cibas ES, Ali SZ.The 2017 Bethesda

System for Reporting ThyroidCytopathology.Thyroid 2017;27(11):1341-46.

https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2017.0500

 Paschke R, Hegedüs L, Alexander E, Valcavi R, Papini E, Gharib H. Thyroid nodule guidelines: agreement, disagreement and need for future research. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2011; 7(6):354-61.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2011.1

12. Kwak JY, Han KH, Yoon JH, Moon HJ, Son EJ, Park SH, et al. Thyroid imaging reporting and data system for ultrasound features of nodules: a step in establishing better stratification of cancer risk. Radiology 2011; 260(3):892-9. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.11110206

https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.11110206

 Moifo B, TakoetaEO, Tambe J, Blanc
 F. Reliability of thyroid imaging reporting and data system (TIRADS) classification in differentiating benign from malignant thyroid nodules. Open J Radiol 2013; 3(3):103. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojrad.2013.33016

- 14. ChandramohanA, Khurana A, Pushpa BT, ManipadamMT, Naik D, Thomas N, et al. Is TIRADS a practical and accurate system for use in daily clinical practice? Indian J Radiol Imaging 2016; 26(1):145-52. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-3026.178367
- 15. Srinivas MN, Amogh VN, Gautam MS, Prathyusha IS, Vikram NR, Retnam MK, Balakrishna BV, Kudva N. A Prospective study to evaluate the reliability of thyroid imaging reporting and data system in differentiation between benign and malignant thyroid lesions. J Clin Imaging Sci 2016; 6:5.

https://doi.org/10.4103/2156-7514.177551



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 116-126 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202303

The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on decreasing hospitalization rates and management of acute coronary syndrome: a study from single centre hospital in Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Hendry Purnasidha Bagaswoto¹, Ferdinandus Bayu Satria², Hani Khairina³, Nahar Taufik¹, Budi Yuli Setianto¹

¹Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, ²Resident of Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, ³Research Assistant of Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/ Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

The Corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has an impact on the Submitted: 2021-04-13 medical field, one of which is service for patients with acute coronary syndrome Accepted : 2022-10-03 (ACS). Studies in other countries showed a sudden decrease in admission rates, and percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), one of ACS treatments, has an impact due to this pandemic. This study aimed to ascertain the effect of COVID-19 on the admissions and management of patients with ACS in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. It was an observational single center study conducted by collecting data for ACS patients at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. Admission data for March 2019 to February 2020 were pre pandemic data, while those gathered from March to December 2020 were pandemic data. Data from 864 (pre pandemic period) and 338 patients (during the pandemic period) were further analyzed. The results showed a decrease in ACS patients' admission during the pandemic. The most remarkable reduction occurred in those with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI), followed by non-STEMI (NSTEMI) and unstable angina pectoris (UAP) (63.4, 61.4, and 40.9%, respectively). Furthermore, the PCI procedure decreased compared to the period before the pandemic. No significant differences in patients' characteristics was observed (p>0.05), except for the incidence of pneumonia (p <0.001). Finally, the mortality rate was higher during the pandemic than before (14.8 vs 13.2%), although it was not significant (p>0.05). This study showed that COVID-19 caused a sensible reduction in the admission rates for ACS patients and the number of PCI procedures have been performed. On the other hand, their mortality rate did not increase significantly. However, it is essential to improve healthcare services for ACS patients considering the uncertainty of ending the COVID-19 outbreak.

ABSTRAK

Pandemi penyakit virus Corona-2019 (COVID-19) berdampak pada bidang medis, salah satunya adalah pelayanan kepada pasien dengan sindrom koroner akut (SKA). Studi di negara lain menunjukkan penurunan mendadak dalam tingkat penerimaan, dan intervensi koroner perkutan (PCI), salah satu perawatan ACS, berdampak akibat pandemi ini. Oleh karena itu, penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengetahui pengaruh COVID-19 terhadap penerimaan dan pengelolaan pasien SKA di Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Penelitian ini merupakan pata pasien ACS di Rumah Sakit Umum Pusat Dr. Sardjito, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Data penerimaan untuk Maret 2019 hingga Februari 2020 adalah data pandemi, sedangkan yang dikumpulkan dari Maret hingga Desember 2020 adalah data pandemi. Data dari 864 (masa pra-pandemi) dan 338

Keywords:

COVID-19 pandemic; admission rates; management; acute coronary syndrome pasien (selama masa pandemi) dianalisis lebih lanjut. Hasilnya menunjukkan penurunan penerimaan pasien ACS selama pandemi. Pengurangan yang paling luar biasa terjadi pada mereka dengan infark miokard dengan elevasi segmen ST (STEMI), diikuti oleh non-STEMI (NSTEMI) dan angina pektoris tidak stabil (UAP) (masing-masing 63,4%, 61,4% dan 40,9%). Selanjutnya, prosedur PCI menurun dibandingkan periode sebelum pandemi. Tidak terdapat perbedaan yang bermakna pada karakteristik pasien, kecuali pada kejadian pneumonia (p<0,001). Akhirnya, tingkat kematian lebih tinggi selama pandemi daripada sebelumnya (14,8% vs 13,2%), meskipun perbedaannya tidak signifikan secara statistik. Studi ini menunjukkan bahwa COVID-19 menyebabkan penurunan yang masuk akal dalam tingkat penerimaan pasien ACS dan jumlah prosedur PCI yang telah dilakukan. Di sisi lain, angka kematian mereka tidak meningkat secara signifikan. Namun, peningkatan layanan kesehatan bagi pasien ACS sangat penting mengingat ketidakpastian berakhirnya wabah COVID-19.

INTRODUCTION

Acute coronary syndromes (ACS) have become one of the leading causes of death globally, especially in the acute myocardial infarction group with ST-segment elevation (STEMI). The treatment strategy can be carried out through primary percutaneous coronary intervention (primary PCI) or fibrinolysis, which aim to restore blood flow to save the myocardium, reduce infarct area, and extend life expectancy.¹ Corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has disrupted the world and impacted health issues. The exponential rise of this virus affects medical personnel in hospitals, with a continuously increasing number of victims. Therefore, the management of

several diseases needs to be modified.^{2,3} Management strategy for ACS patients needs to be determined by (a) risk stratification and (b) whether the patient has a confirmed case, suspected, or low risk.^{2,3} However, it is necessary to understand that this change in management is not based on evidence, but it can be considered to be applied in this COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, future evaluations need to be conducted to recognize the potential impact on the outcome of ACS patients.⁴

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, ACS management at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta followed 117 the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) or Indonesian Heart Association (Perkumpulan Kardiologi Indonesia/ PERKI) guidelines. Furthermore, the reperfusion strategy for STEMI was prioritized for primary PCI when the limit of wire crossing time did not exceed 120 min. Some cases with a crossing time of >120 min have been treated with fibrinolysis. Likewise, the NSTE-ACS case follows ESC guidelines, wherein an invasive strategy was applied, especially in patients with very high or high-risk stratification. Meanwhile, NSTE-ACS patients with low stratification will be first subjected to a non-invasive test. This study aimed to investigate whether the patient needs an invasive strategy or not. During the COVID-19 pandemic, ACS management experienced a few changes due to several considerations.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and subjects

This was an observational analytic study by obtaining data from the SCIENCE (Sardjito Cardiovascular IntENsive CarE) registry at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. This registry collected data on patients treated in the cardiovascular intensive care unit (ICCU). All ACS patients treated between March 2019 to February 2020 were recorded as data before the COVID-19 pandemic, while those obtained from March to December 2020 were recorded as data during the pandemic. Meanwhile, management and outcomes were recorded during treatment until the patient was discharged. In this study, the primary reported outcome was mortality incidence from any cause.

Data collection

The subjects were sequentially sampled (consecutive sampling). Also, anamnesis, physical examination, 12lead ECG assessment, and standard laboratory examinations were conducted for patients with ACS as the sample. Furthermore, sampling and data collection were carried out after obtaining ethical clearance from the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta.

Statistical analysis

Categorical data were presented in absolute values or percentages. The data were compared with the Chi-square or Fisher Exact test. Furthermore, continuous data were displayed with the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) when the distribution was normal and then compared with Student's t-test. A p value <0.05 was considered to be significant. The IBM SPSS Statistics 24 was used for data analysis.

RESULT

The first positive COVID-19 case in Indonesia was detected on March 2nd, 2020, and it marked the beginning of a pandemic. Over time, the number of cases increased rapidly. At the end of 2020, about 740,000 cases were recorded with a mortality rate of about 22 thousand people. The pandemic impacted the health field against cardiovascular disease, namely ACS. The incidence of ACS (especially STEMI type) in hospitals has markedly decreased in several countries during this pandemic and as well as in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta.

Before the pandemic (March 2019 to February 2020), there were 864 ACS cases, consisting of STEMI (70.3%), NSTEMI (20.1%), and unstable angina pectoris (9.6%). During the pandemic (March 2020 to December 2020), the ACS incidence decreased to only 338 cases. Furthermore, over 50% decrease was found in the STEMI and NSTEMI cases, while UAP cases decreased by 40.9%. The largest drop was seen in STEMI cases, namely 63.4% (FIGURE 1).



FIGURE 1. ACS incidence in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital before (March 2019 - February 2020) and during the pandemic (March 2020 - December 2020)

The standard of care of STEMI management is through reperfusion, either by fibrinolysis or primary PCI. This procedure has to be performed in a hospital with adequate facilities for both types of reperfusion. Dr. Sardjito General Hospital is one of the hospitals with PCI capable centers in Yogyakarta; hence the primary PCI is among the reperfusion options in the STEMI case.

During pandemic, the the standardized protocols have provoked delays in the treatment of ACS. All patients presenting with ACS should be considered COVID-19 possible, and patients were screened for COVID-19 before admission with an internally developed scoring system. Furthermore, ACS patients with a high COVID-19 probability score were initially hospitalized in the isolation room until the PCR swab results were out. Therefore, when the PCR swab showed negative, the patients were moved to cardiovascular intensive care (ICCU) or inpatient room. Conversely, when the PCR-swab result was positive, the care was maintained in the isolation room for COVID-19 patients.

Among 338 hospitalized ACS cases, 15 had a high probability score of COVID-19, and therefore they had to undergo treatment in the isolation room. However, out of these 15 cases, only one patient showed a positive result from the PCR swab examination (FIGURE 2).

The characteristics of ACS patients before and during the pandemic are presented in TABLE 1. There were no significantly differences in their features, such as age or gender (p>0.05). Meanwhile, the comorbidities found in patients, such as pneumonia and urinary tract infections (UTIs), showed a significantly difference (p<0.05).



STEMI Non-STEMI UAP

FIGURE 2. Distribution of ACS incidences with high COVID probability scores during the COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020 - December 2020).

Parameter	Before COVID-19 During COVID-19 (n (n = 864) = 338)		р
Age, years [median (range) years]	60 (22 – 95)	61 (24 – 98)	0.926
Sex [n (%)]			
• Male,	694 (80.3)	262 (77.5)	0.278
• Female,	170 (19.7)	76 (22.5)	
ACS type [n (%)]			
• STEMI	606 (70.1)	222 (65.7)	0.049
• Non-STEMI	174 (20.1)	67 (19.8)	
• UAP	84 (9.7)	49 (14.5)	
Killip classification [n (%)]			
• Killip I	690 (79.9)	269 (79.6)	
• Killip II	77 (8.9)	38 (11.2)	
• Killip III	33 (3.8)	11 (3.3)	
• Killip IV	64 (7.4)	20 (5.9)	
Cardiogenic shock [n (%)]	124 (14.3)	57 (16.8)	0.385
Acute heart failure [n (%)]	202 (23.4)	84 (24.9)	0.59
Risk stratification of NSTE-ACS [n (%)]			
• Very high	81 (31.5)	34 (29.3)	0.01
• High	111 (43.2)	50 (43.1)	
• Intermediate	56 (21.8)	18 (15.5)	
• Low	9 (3.5)	14 (12.1)	
Comorbid [n (%)]			
• Pneumonia	60 (6.9)	64 (18.9)	< 0.001
 Urinary tract infection 	27 (3.1)	36 (10.7)	< 0.001
• Diabetes mellitus	275 (31.8)	109 (32.2)	0.888
• Hypertension	501 (58)	210 (62.1)	0.189

TARIF 1	Rasic	nationt	chara	rtorictice
IADLE I.	Dasic	patient	Cildid	

TABLE 1. Basic patient characteristics The management of ACS between March 2020 and December 2020 at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital has changed slightly. In the early period between March and May 2020, reperfusion strategy in STEMI patients was prioritized using fibrinolysis compared to primary PCI, especially when the patient had a high probability score. The primary PCI were prioritized when the patient experienced a cardiogenic shock after cardiac arrest or had contra-indications for fibrinolysis. However, between June and December 2020, the strategy in the form of primary PCI began to be carried out by considering the probability

score. Likewise, selecting an invasive approach in the management of patients with NSTE-ACS was based on several considerations.

Most STEMI patient management still lies in the primary PCI (61.3%), followed by fibrinolysis and PCI of 21.6% (either rescue PCI or post-fibrinolytic PCI evaluation). Nevertheless, it can be seen that the PCI has decreased significantly by 70.4% compared to the period before the pandemic. This is possibly due to the declining number of STEMI patients presented at the hospital (FIGURE 3).

Meanwhile, NSTE-ACS management before and during the pandemic is presented in FIGURE 4. The invasive therapy became the management choice for NSTE-ACS patients in the period before the pandemic. Furthermore, the NSTE-ACS patients treated with invasive strategies were 57.9% (for UAP) and 72.4% (for non-STEMI). During the pandemic, invasive strategies were still carried out in NSTE-ACS patients, namely 61.2% (for UAP) and 61.1% (for NSTEMI). It can be observed that management with an invasive strategy remains an option, compared to conservative management.

The comparison of mortality

outcomes from ACS management between the period before and during the pandemic is presented in FIGURE 5. The mortality was slightly higher during the pandemic (14.8% of 338 patients) compared before the pandemic (13.2% of 864 patients). However, it was not significantly difference (p=0.468). Therefore, it can be concluded that there is no significant relationship between the mortality rate before and during the COVID-19 pandemic.



FIGURE 3. Management of STEMI patients at Dr. Sardjito Hospital before and during the COVID-19 pandemic.



Groups

FIGURE 4. Management of NSTE-ACS patients at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital before and during COVID-19



FIGURE 5. The outcomes of ACS patients in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital before and during COVID-19 pandemic

DISCUSSION

The COVID-19 pandemic began with the discovery of the first reported case from the city of Wuhan in China in December 2019. The disease has developed into a pandemic that has infected more than 87 million people and caused more than 1.8 million deaths in early January 2021.^{6,7} The COVID-19 outbreak has affected the world of health, one of which is the incidence of ACS.^{2,8-12}

This study showed that the treated ACS cases have decreased by 60.8%, i.e. from 864 (March 2019 to February 2020) to 338 cases (March 2020 to December 2020) during the pandemic. Furthermore, the lowest number was observed in the early pandemic period and the end of 2020.

Several factors could be the underlying reasons for the decrease in admissions. First, some suggest that the patients might be afraid of contracting the virus while staying in the hospital due to this hospital's status as the primary referral for COVID-19 patients. Second, referrals from health facilities outside Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta has decreased during this pandemic. Many of these referral cases are accompanied by a suspicion of being infected by COVID-19 (based on the screening score system developed internally). Meanwhile, the treatment room for COVID-19 patients at the hospital is often full; subsequently, many ACS patients cannot be referred. On the other hand, when they are not suspected of COVID-19, then the referral process can run smoothly because non-COVID treatment rooms are still available.

interesting hypothesis Another proposed by de Rosa *et al.*,¹³ is whether the decrease in admissions is related to low physical stress or the condition of people that get a lot of rest during guarantine. Furthermore, lockdown in several countries is a possible trigger for a decrease in acute decompensated episodes of cardiovascular diseases, such as low levels of air pollution, low job stress, or a reduction of work activities. However, this condition is likely to be in contrast to other impacts due to lockdown, such as psychosocial stress caused by social distancing policies, daily routines that are stopped, fear of losing a job, and an uncertain future.¹⁴

Studies conducted around the world found the same results concerning the admission rate. One of these was a study by Mafham *et al.*,¹⁵ which reported a decrease in admissions in the UK by 40% (95% CI 37-43), from an average of 3017 cases per week in 2019, to 1813 cases in mid-February to late March 2020. In April and May 2020, ACS admissions increased by 2522 cases, or decreased by 16% (95% CI 13-20) when compared to the average admission rate in 2019.

This study showed a decrease in admission rate, especially in the STEMI patients, namely 63.4%, followed by a decrease in the incidence of NSTEMI (61.4%) and UAP (40.9%). Meanwhile, a study by ESC on 141 countries in 6 continents showed that since the COVID-19 pandemic, STEMI admission rates have decreased by> 40%. These STEMI patients appeared to be taking longer to present to the hospital after the onset of chest pain. In addition, as many as >40% visited the hospital beyond the optimal time for reperfusion management, either by primary PCI or thrombolysis, with subsequent impact on mortality. One of the independent predictors of high delay rate from STEMI patients is a change in the structure of cardiac services in the country due to the imposing lockdown policy.14

Another study conducted at a multicenter in Italy by obtaining data on acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients showed a decrease in AMI admissions by 48.4% compared to the same week period in 2019 (p <0.001). Furthermore, a significant decrease was found for both STEMI (26.5%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 21.7 - 32.3; p = 0.009) and NSTEMI (65.1%, 95% CI 60, 3 - 70.3; p < 0.001) cases. The decrease in STEMI admission rate was found to be more in females (41.2%; p = 0011) than males (17.8%; p = 0.191).¹³ This is slightly different from the current study, where the proportion of ACS incidence in females was more dominant than males.

The health service policy during the pandemic in Dr. Sardjito General Yogyakarta, especially Hospital, in the emergency room, has changed. Every patient is first screened using an internally developed scoring system. Among 338 admitted patients, 15 (4.43%) had a high probability score of COVID-19. Therefore, the treatment was initially carried out in a particular COVID-19 room until the results of the PCR swab were out. Out of these 15 patients, 11 (70.3%) were with STEMI. Also, reperfusion was performed in 6 patients, either in the form of fibrinolysis (1 patient), primary PCI (2 patients), and fibrinolysis followed by PCI action (3 patients). The remaining 5 underwent conservative management. It turned out that from the PCR- swab examination results, only one patient was confirmed positive for COVID-19.

The characteristics of admitted patients before and during the pandemic were not significantly different. Only other comorbid diseases in the form of infections (pneumonia and urinary tract infections) were observed (p <0.001). The pneumonia incidence during the pandemic has indeed increased. Nevertheless, out of the 338 patients, it was found that only 1 had pneumonia caused by the SARS-Cov2 virus. This study also showed that the presentation of ACS patients with complications like cardiogenic shock or acute heart failure was not significantly different between the time before and during the pandemic.

Matsushita *et al.*,¹⁶ conducted an analysis to determine the characteristics differences between ACS patients before (2019) and during the pandemic. This study obtained data from a hospital in Strasbourg, France. Characteristic data from 174 ACS patients between March 1st to April 20th, 2019 were compared with 106 patients on the same date and month during the pandemic. The results showed no characteristics difference between the population, such as age, gender, and risk factors.

The management of ACS patients is a concern, especially on reperfusion in the STEMI case. Although the primary PCI is an effective reperfusion strategy for STEMI cases, this action is relatively not the main choice. The increased exposure risk to the SARS-Cov2 virus is related to the unavailability of "negative pressure" cardiac catheterization rooms, availability of personal protective equipment (PPE), and the difficulty of manipulating catheters and guidewires. This influences the decision to perform primary PCI in STEMI patients during this pandemic. Consequently, fibrinolysis is the alternative to PCI when there are no contraindications.⁵ In the early pandemic (around March-May 2020), fibrinolysis was used as the main choice of reperfusion strategy in STEMI patients that were especially suspected of having COVID-19 comorbid in our hospital. Over time and the formation of a more structured screening system, the primary PCI was carried out with a low probability score. So, the primary PCI procedure was still the main treatment (61.3% of STEMI cases) during the pandemic. This study found that the primary PCI procedure had decreased by 70.4% compared to those before the pandemic. This is probably due to the decreasing number of STEMI admissions.

A study in USA regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on STEMI services also showed a decrease in the volume of primary PCI actions related to a decrease in the admission rate. Furthermore, the pandemic has affected STEMI services, especially in terms of lengthening the activation time of the catheterization room for primary PCI action.^{17,18} This is known as 'wire crossing time' that was also found in this study (average 'wire crossing time' during the pandemic at the hospital was 203.03 min). This is mainly due to the screening process that takes a long time in the emergency room to determine whether a patient has the virus or not. Some of the screening examinations carried out include a chest X-ray or even a lung MSCT. These examinations aim to detect the presence of ground-glass opacity (GGO) image, which is a characteristic sign in COVID-19 patients.

This study showed that an invasive strategy is still an option in NSTE-ACS management. Over 60% of NSTE-ACS patients (both NSTEMI and UAP) underwent an invasive strategy. The number of PCI procedures is indeed less than those before the pandemic. This is because the number of NSTE-ACS patient admissions has decreased. The same result was also found in a UK study, where the PCI procedure for NSTEMI patients decreased by 37%.¹⁵ Likewise, a study in Italy found that the proportion of NSTEMI patients undergoing PCI procedure decreased by 13.3% (p = 0.023).13

This study showed the mortality rate during the COVID-19 pandemic was greater than that before (14.8% vs 13.2%). However, it was not statistically significant. Furthermore, an increase in the ACS case fatality rate was reported in Italy, namely 13.7% compared to 4.1% before the pandemic (RR = 3.3, 95% CI – 6.6; p < 0.001). The STEMI cases increased by 3.3% compared to 1.7% in 2019 (RR = 1.9, 95% CI 0.5 - 6.7, p = 0.309) for NSTEMI cases.¹³ The increased mortality rates need to be evaluated, whether it lies in the patient's delay in seeking treatment or the provided medical services.

This study has several limitations. First, it was conducted in only one hospital, and therefore, the actual data regarding the ACS incidence and management in the population cannot be generalized. Second, related to the retrospective design of this study, the data affecting the management and outcome of ACS patients are less explored due to limitations in data collection. Third, the PCR swab examination as the gold standard for establishing diagnosis was not carried out in all ACS patients in the early days of the pandemic. Hence the asymptomatic ones were not detected.

CONCLUSION

The current study reported considerably lower rates of hospitalization for ACS at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. This decrease is caused by multiple factors, both from patients and the change of the healthcare system. The early period of the pandemic is altered the clinical approach of ACS patients. However, as it progresses, improvements have been made in the hospital service system. The mortality rate during the COVID-19 pandemic is not difference compared to before the COVID-19 pandemic. However, it is essential to improve healthcare services for ACS patients considering the uncertainty of ending the COVID-19 outbreak. Hence, further studies need to be conducted by involving hospital networks to determine the actual condition of ACS incidence and management.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

acknowledged The authors Dyah Wulan Anggrahini and Arditya Damarkusuma from Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta for the support and insightful suggestions. The authors appreciated the kind help of Sarah Haidar and Yohanes Setiawan Bramantyo as research assistants of SCIENCE (Sardjito Cardiovascular IntENsive CarE) registry.

REFERENCES

1. Keeley EC, Boura JA, Grines CL. Primary angioplasty versus intravenous thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a quantitative review of 23 randomised trials. Lancet 2003; 361(9351):13-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736/03/12113-7

2. Araiza-Garaygordobil D, Montalto C, Martinez-Amezcua P, Cabello-Lopez A, Gopar-Nieto R, Alabrese R, *et al.* Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on hospitalizations for acute coronary syndromes: a multinational study. QJM 2021;114(9):642-7.

https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcab013

3. Guha S, Mukhopadhay S, Karak A, Choudhury B, Kapoor A, Yadav R. Managing ACS during COVID-19 infection: Do not follow the traditional route. Indian Heart J 2020; 72(2):128-30.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ihj.2020.04.003

4. Jing ZC, Zhu HD, Yan XW, Chai WZ, Zhang S. Recommendations from the Peking Union Medical College Hospital for the management of acute myocardial infarction during the COVID-19 outbreak. Eur Heart J 2020; 41(19):1791-4.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa258

- 5. Zhang L, Fan Y, Lu Z. Experiences and lesson strategies for cardiology from the COVID- 19 outbreak in Wuhan, China, by "on the scene" cardiologist. Eur Heart J 2020; 41(19):1788–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheart/ehaa266
- Center for System Science and Engineering at John Hopkins University. Coronavirus Resource Center. [cited 2020, January 2nd] https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/
- World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. WHO Announces COVID-19 Outbreak Pandemic. [cited 2020, January 2nd]. http://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/health-emergencies/corona virus-covid-19/news/news/2020/3/ who-announces-covid-19- outbreaka-pandemic
- 8. Bhatt AS, Moscone A, McElrath EE, Varshney AS, Claggett BL, *et al.* Fewer hospitalizations for acute

cardiovascular conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 76(3):280-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.05.038

9. Calvão J, Amador AF, Costa CMD, Araújo PM, Pinho T, Freitas J, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic acute on coronary syndrome admissions to a tertiary care hospital in Portugal. Rev Port Cardiol 2022; 41(2):147-52.

http:s//doi.org/10.1016/j.repc.2021.01.007

10. de Filippo O, D'Ascenzo F, Angelini F, Bocchino PP, Conrotto F, Saglietto A, et al. Reduced rate of hospital admissions for ACS during Covid-19 outbreak in Northern Italy. N Engl J Med 2020; 383(1):88-9.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2009166

11. Metzler B, Siostrzonek P, Binder RK, Bauer A, Reinstadler SJ. Decline of acute coronary syndrome admissions in Austria since the outbreak of COVID-19: the pandemic response causes cardiac collateral damage. Eur Heart J 2020; 41(19):1852-3.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa314

- 12. Solomon MD, McNulty EJ, Rana JS, Leong TK, Lee C, Sung SH, et al. The Covid-19 pandemic and the incidence of acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2020; 383(7):691-3. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2015630
- 13. de Rosa S, Spaccarotella C, Basso C, Calabro MP, Curcio A, Filardi PP, et al. Reduction of hospitalizations for myocardial infarction in Italy in the COVID-19 era. Eur Heart J 2020; 41(22):2083-8.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa409

- 14. Pessoa-Amorim G. Camm CF. Gajendragadkar P, De Maria GL, Arsac C, Laroce C, et al. Admission of patients with STEMI since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic: a survey by the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 2020; 6(3):210-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa046
- 15. Mafham MM, Spata E, Goldacre R, Gair D, Curnow P, Bray M, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and admission rates for and management of acute coronary syndromes in England. Lancet 2020; 396(10248):381-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736/20/31356-8
- 16. Matsushita K, Hess S, Marchandot B, Sato C, Truong DP, Kim NT, et al. Clinical features of patients with acute coronary syndrome during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2021; 52(1):95-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11239-020-02340-z
- 17. Garcia S, Stanberry L, Schmidt C, Sharkey S, Megaly M, Albaghdadi MS, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on STEMI care: an expanded analysis from the United States. Cathether Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 98(2):217-22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccd.29154
- 18. Lin Z, Yongzhen F, Zhibing L. Experiences and lesson strategies for cardiology from the COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China, by 'on the scene' cardiologists. Eur Heart J 2020; 41(19):1788-90.

https://doi.org10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa266



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 127-134 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202304

Correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and hyperlipidemia in post-ischemic stroke patients

Dian Angraeni, Lina Choridah*, Evi Artsini

Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, and Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2022-12-07 Accepted : 2023-05-03 Leukoaraiosis is a neurological imaging in the periventricular area and the centrum semiovale. This condition occurs due to abnormalities in the small blood vessels in the brain that lead to hypoxia. It is often observed in patients with ischemic stroke and accompanied by risk factors for hyperlipidemia. This study aimed to evaluate the correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and hyperlipidemia in post-ischemic stroke patients. A cross-sectional study retrospectively was conducted on post-ischemic stroke patients who underwent brain MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) on T2 and FLAIR (fluid-attenuated inversion recovery) sequence at the Department of Radiology, Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, from January 2021 to March 2022. A total of 36 patients were involved in this study. The leukoaraiosis of patient was examined by brain MRI. Degree of the leukoaraiosis was determined based on Fazekas classification. Serum cholesterol, HDL (high-density lipoprotein), LDL (lowdensity lipoprotein), and triglyceride levels of patients were then examined. The data obtained were then analyzed using Spearman correlation test. A positive correlation was observed between the degree of leukoaraiosis and triglyceride level (p = 0.042; r = 0.292) and age (p = 0.004; r = 0.464). However, no correlation was observed between the degree of leukoaraiosis and cholesterol, HDL, and LDL (p>0.05). In conclusion, the leukoaraiosis degree is correlated with serum triglyceride levels and age in post-ischemic stroke patients.

ABSTRAK

Leukoaraiosis merupakan gambaran neurologis pada daerah periventrikuler dan sentrum semiovale. Leukoaraiosis terjadi akibat adanya kelainan pembuluh darah kecil di otak akibat hipoksia. Leukoaraiosis banyak dijumpai pada pasien stroke iskemik dan yang disertai faktor risiko hyperlipidemia. Penelitian ini bertujuan mengkaji hubungan antara derajat leukoaraiosis dengan hiperlipidemia pada pasien paska stroke iskemik. Penelitian potong lintang secara retrospektif ini menggunakan data sekunder gambaran MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) kepala sekuen T2 dan FLAIR (fluid-attenuated inversion recovery) pasien paska stroke iskemik di Departemen Radiologi, RSUP Dr Sardjito Yogyakarta periode Januari 2021 sampai Maret 2022. Total sebanyak 36 pasien terlibat dalam penelitian. Leukoaraiosis pasien diperiksa dengan MRI kepala dan derajat leukoaraiosis ditetapkan berdasarkan klasifikasi Fazekas. Data yang diperoleh selanjutnya dianalisis dengan uji korelasi Spearman. Didapatkan hubungan positif antara derajat leukoaraiosis dengan kadar trigliserida serum (p=0,042; r=0,292) dan dengan umur (p=0,004; r=0,464). Namun demikian tidak hubungan antara derajat leukoaraiosis dengan kadar kolesterol, HDL dan LDL serum (p>0,05). Simpulan, derajat leuokoaraiosis berhubungan dengan kadar trigliserida serum dan umur pada pasien paska stroke iskemik.

Key words: leukoaraiosis; hyperlipidemia; post-ischemic stroke; correlationp

INTRODUCTION

Leukoaraiosis is a neurological abnormality in the white matter area that appears as an area of increased intensity on magnetic resonance imaging, especially in the periventricular and centrum semiovale. This disorder is often found among older people. The term was coined by Hachinski in 1987 and derived from the words leuko (white) and araiosis (smooth). Leukoaraiosis may present as subcortical, multifocal. or diffuse periventricular lesions of varying sizes.1 Leukoaraiosis may be caused by hypoxic ischemia due to small vessel diseases such as thalamostriate and perforated arteries.²⁻⁴

Decreased blood flow is one of the causes of nerve cell damage.⁵ Several investigated studies have bloodbrain barrier damage and endothelial dysfunction.⁶ Chutinet *et al.*,⁷ reported that age and acute ischemic stroke are the strongest determinants of the severity of leukoaraiosis in hypertension patients. Conde et al.,8 revealed that ischemic stroke patients with a history of hyperlipidemia have an increased intensity in the white matter area, which is milder at stroke time. Ke et al.,⁹ reported that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with the severity of leukoaraiosis and may play a role in small vessel cerebral disease.

Dyslipidemia can manifest as an increase or decrease in lipid fractions, including increased serum cholesterol, LDL (low density lipoprotein), and triglyceride levels and decreased serum HDL (high density lipoprotein) levels. Pathological changes were observed in the white matter area due to lipid accumulation.¹⁰ Elevated of serum cholesterol, LDL, and HDL levels can lead to the development of atherosclerosis, damage to the vascular endothelium, and changes in vascular endothelial permeability.¹¹ This study aimed to investigate the association between the degree of leukoaraiosis and hyperlipidemia in post-ischemic stroke patients.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

Design and sample

This study used a cross-sectional design with retrospective sampling using secondary data of brain MRI examination results of post-ischemic stroke patients at the Department of Radiology, and lipid profile of the patients at the Clinical Pathology Installation of Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta from January 2021 to March 2022. The selected sample was part of the population planned to be directly studied.¹² The target population stroke was post-ischemic patients diagnosed with leukoaraiosis through brain MRI examination and found to have hyperlipidemia. Protocol of this study was approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta.

Procedure

Patients who meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria were involved in this study. The inclusion criteria were brain MRI results on T2 and FLAIR sequences with a post-ischemic diagnosis, the presence of leukoaraiosis images stored on the Picture Archiving and Communication System (PACS) server, and an increase in the levels of cholesterol, LDL, and triglycerides. Patients were excluded when other lesions were found, such as brain infection, hydrocephalus tumor, or bleeding.

The data of brain MRI examination results were displayed on the research computer monitor, and subsequent assessment of leukoaraiosis severity in post-ischemic stroke patients was conducted by a specialist radiologist. During the MRI observation, the examiner was not provided with any information regarding the subjects' identity or clinical data. Degree of the leukoaraiosis was determined based on Fazekas classification. The Fazekas scale classified the white matter area into the periventricular. Each region is graded according to the size and confluency of the lesion. In periventricular white matter (PVWM), 0 is given if no lesion is found; 1 if a "cap" or thin-film image is found; 2 if a "halo" image is found; 3 if irregular periventricular signal extending into the deep white matter is found. In deep white matter (DWM), 0 is given if there is no lesion; 1 if there is a punctate foci; 2 if there is early confluence; 3 if there are large confluent areas.¹³

The lipid profile of the post-ischemic stroke patients was then classified as optimal (LDL <100 mg/dL), above optimal (100-129 mg/dL), borderline high (130-159 mg/dL), high (160-189 mg/dL), and very high (>190 mg/dL), and total cholesterol as desirable (<200 mg/dL), borderline high (200-239 mg/dL), and high (>240 mg/dL). Furthermore, HDL is classified as low (<40 mg/dL) and high (> 60 mg/dL), while triglycerides as normal (< 150 mg/dL), borderline high (150-199 mg/dL), high (200-499 mg/dL), and very high (>500 mg/dL).¹⁴

Statistical analysis

Data were presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD) or frequency or percentage. Bivariate analysis was applied to evaluate the correlation between leukoaraiosis and hyperlipidemia. A p value < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

RESULTS

The characteristics of the patients are presented in TABLE 1. A total of 36 post-ischemic stroke patients were involved in this study consisting of 17 (47.2%) male and 19 (52.8%) female with the mean age of 61±11 yo. The mean total cholesterol of all subjects was 199±34 mg/dL, most (58.3%) having cholesterol levels higher than 240 mg/dL (n=21). In terms of HDL levels, the overall mean was 44±14 mg/dL, with most subjects (58.3%) having HDL levels between 40 and 60 mg/dL (n=21), while the mean triglyceride level was 140±67 mg/dL, with almost all subjects (91.7%) having triglyceride levels between 200 and 499 mg/dL. In addition, the mean LDL was 134±31 mg/dL, one-third of which (30.6%) had LDL levels between 100 and 129 mg/dL (n=11). The mean blood pressure was 148±15 mmHg systolic and 85±10 mmHg diastolic, with 58.3% of the subjects classified as hypertension grade 1.

The leukoaraiosis examinations was conducted using 0.4T open MRI. The illustrations of leukoaraiosis lesions obtained from the post-ischemic stroke patients are presented in FIGURE 1.

Variables	Mean ± SD	n (%)
Age (year)	61 ± 11	
Sex		
• Male		17 (47.2)
• Female		19 (52.8)
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)		
• <200	199 ± 34	15 (41.7)
• 200-239		0 (0.0)
• >240		21 (58.3)
HDL (mg/dL)		
• <40		21 (36.1)
• 40-60	44 ± 14	13 (58.3)
• >60		2 (5.6)
Triglyceride (mg/dL)		
• <150	140 ± 67	3 (8.3)
• 150-199		0(0.0)
• 200-499 • >500		33 (91.7)
LDL (mg/dL)		0 (0.0)
• <100		5 (13 9)
• 100-129		11 (30.6)
• 100-125	134 + 31	11(30.0) 10(27.8)
• 160-189	104 ± 51	10 (27.8)
• >190		0 (0.0)
Fazekas scale		
• No lesion		0 (0.0)
 Punctata lesion 		18 (50.0)
 Early confluence 		15 (41.7)
Large confluence		3 (8.3)
Hypertension		0 (0.0)
Pre-hypertension		7 (19 4)
• Hypertension grade 1		21 (58 3)
• Hypertension grade ?		21(30.3) 8(22.2)
• Trypertension grade 2		0 (22.2)

TABLE 1. Characteristics of patients





FIGURE 1. MRI Images A. Leukoaraiosis Fazekas grade 1, illustrated by the presence of punctata lesions in bilateral centrum semiovale B. Leukoaraiosis Fazekas grade 2, illustrated by the presence of hyperintense periventricular confluent lesions on both sides C. Leukoaraiosis Fazekas grade 3, illustrated by the presence of large confluence lesions in periventricular and centrum semiovale on both sides.

С

TABLE 2 shows the correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and cholesterol, HDL, triglycerides, and LDL of the post-ischemic stroke. A significant and positive correlation was observed only between the serum triglyceride levels and the degree of leukoaraiosis (p=0.042; r=0.292), indicating the patients with the higher degree of leukoaraiosis had the higher serum triglyceride levels. No correlation was observed between the degree of leukoaraiosis and cholesterol, HDL, and LDL levels (p>0.05).

A significant and positive correlation between degree of leukoaraiosis and age of post-ischemic stroke patients was observed (p= 0.004; r= 0.464) indicating that the older age patients had the higher degree of leukoaraiosis (TABEL 3).

	Degree of leukoaraiosis				
Variables	Punctata lesion Early confluence Large confluence			r	р
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
Cholesterol					
• <200 • 200-239 • >240	6 (33.3) 0 (0.0) 12 (66.7)	8 (53.3) 0 (0.0) 7 (46.7)	1 (33.3) 0 (0.0) 2 (66.7)	-0.136	0.214
HDL	7 (38 0)	5 (33 3)	1 (22 2)		
• 40-60 • >60	10 (55.6)	10 (66.7)	1(33.3) 1(33.3) 1(33.3)	0.079	0.323
Triglyceride	1 (010)	0 (0.0)	1 (0010)		
<150150-199	3 (16.7) 0 (0 0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)		
• 200-499	15 (83.3)	15 (100.0)	3 (100.0)	0.292	0.042*
LDL	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)		
• <100 • 100-129	3 (16.7) 4 (22.2)	2 (13.3) 5 (33.3)	0 (0.0) 2 (66.7)		
• 130-159	7 (38.9)	2 (13.3)	1 (33.3)	-0.015	0.465
• 160-189	4 (22.2)	6 (40.0)	0 (0.0)		
• >190	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)		

TABLE 2. Correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and cholesterol, HDL, triglycerides and LDL

TABLE 3. Correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and age

Degree of leukoaraiosis					
Variables	Punctata lesion	Early confluence Large confluence		r	р
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
Age (year)					
• 36-45	3 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)		
• 46-55	7 (87.5)	1 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	0.464	0.004^{*}
• 56-65	5 (33.3)	8 (53.3)	2 (13.3)		
• > 65	3 (30.0)	6 (60.0)	1 (10.0)		

DISCUSSION

The mean age of post-ischemic stroke patients in this study was 61 ± 11 yo. This results in accordance with the study conducted by Ke *et al.*,⁹ which reported that the mean of patients is 60 yo. Furthermore, Ben-Assayag *et*

al.,² reported that the mean age of the models was 66.4±13.4 yo. Age is the most substantial non-modifiable risk factor for stroke incidence. About three-quarters of all strokes occur in people aged 65 yo or older.¹⁵ Age is reported as a risk factor for ischemic stroke.¹⁶ It can be linked to an increase in leukoaraiosis
in older people due to the thickening and narrowing of blood vessels. This reduced blood flow to the brain is demonstrated by the development of areas of hyperintensity in the periventricular and centrum semiovale. In addition, increasing age can reduce the elasticity of blood vessels.¹⁷

Leukoaraiosis is expected in the elderly and is associated with recurrent stroke, cognitive decline, disturbances. hemorrhagic gait transformation. and functional abnormalities after ischemic stroke.18,19 Most studies have investigated the correlation between active stroke and leukoaraiosis severity using computed tomography visual scales or volumetric measurements. Although faster. computed tomography is not as sensitive as T2 and FLAIR. The Fazekas scale allows rapid assessment of severity on T2 and FLAIR sequences.¹⁰

This study involved 36 ischemic stroke patients consisting of 17 (47.2%) men and 19 (52.8%) women. This number is lower than the sample size in several previous studies, such as Ben-Assayag *et al.*,² which involved 170 acute stroke patients, consisting of 104 males and 66 females.² A study in China by Ke *et al.*,⁹ reported that among 1,270 involving in the study, 66% are men and 34% are women. Another study reported that the incidence of stroke differs between the sexes.²⁰

Hypertension is the most common risk factor for stroke. Hypertension was reported in approximately 64% of patients with stroke. Hypertension, blood pressure variability, and leukoaraiosis are risk factors for early adverse events and poor functional outcomes after ischemic stroke. Previous studies have shown different correlation between leukoaraiosis and blood pressure variability, including in ischemic stroke.⁸ In this study, over half of the sample (58.3%) had hypertension grade 1.

Hyperlipidemia is known to have a role in the pathogenesis of ischemic stroke. Hyperlipidemia is independently associated with a reduction in the severity of leukoaraiosis in elderly or ischemic stroke patients.9 In this study, a strong and positive association between the degree of leukoaraiosis and triglyceride levels (p= 0.042; r= 0.292), indicating that patients with the higher the degree of leukoaraiosis have the higher the triglyceride levels. This result is comparable to that of a study conducted by Park et al.,²¹ that discovered hypertriglyceridemia is associated with a higher incidence of leukoaraiosis.

The radiological examination is conducted using 0.4T open MRI. It is sensitive and specific for leukoaraiosis assessment lower than 1.5T or 3.0T MRI. Thus, the MRI can not compare the result reflecting the effect of triglycerides on the hyperintensity of white matter area lesions in this study. However, the results of this study are in line with study by Ke et al.,⁹ which discovered a connection hypertriglyceridemia between (1.7 mmol/L) and the severity of leukoaraiosis (p=0.05). The mechanism of the correlation between triglyceride levels and leukoaraiosis remains largely unknown. However, it is thought to have involved myelin in the brain in white matter areas. Myelin contains 70% lipid which could explain the increased levels of triglycerides and cholesterol in ischemic stroke.^{9,22}

this study, no significant In correlation was observed between the degree of leukoaraiosis and serum cholesterol level. Previous study by Wiszniewska *et al.*,⁶ in Switzerland also reported no significantly difference in the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia in the leukoaraiosis and non-leukoaraiosis groups. However, this study did not use the Fazekas classification and only divided the research subjects into leukoaraiosis and control.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, there is a correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and the serum triglyceride levels on postischemic stroke patients. However, there is no a correlation between the degree of leukoaraiosis and the serum cholesterol, LDL, and HDL levels. In addition, age is one of the risk factors for ischemic stroke.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors would like to thank our colleagues who have supported this study.

REFERENCES

- Marek M, Horyniecki M, Frączek M, Kluczewska E. Leukoaraiosis new concepts and modern imaging. Pol J Radiol 2018; 83:e76–81. https://doi.org/10.5114/ pjr.2018.74344
- 2. Ben Assayag E, Mijajlovic M, Shenhar S. Leukoaraiosis is a chronic atherosclerotic disease. ScientificWorldJournal 2012; 532141. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/53214
- Duan W, Pu Y, Liu H, Jing J, Pan Y, Zou X, Wang Y, *et al.* Association between leukoaraiosis and symptomatic intracraniallarge artery stenoses and occlusions: the Chinese Intracranial Atherosclerosis (CICAS) Study. Aging Dis 2018; 9(6): 1074-83.

https://doi.org/10.14336/AD.2018.0118

- 4. Huo L, Chen P, Wang Z, Li X, Zhou J, Wang C, et al. Impact of leukoaraiosis severity on the association outcomes of of mechanical: thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke: a systematic review and a meta-analysis. J Neurol 2020; 268:4108-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-10167-0
- 5. O'Sullivan M. Leukoaraiosis. Pract

Neurol 2008; 8:26–38.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ jnnp.2007.139428

- 6. Wiszniewska M, Devuyst G, Bogousslavsky J, Ghika J, Melle G. What is significance of leukoaraiosis in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Arch Neurol 2000; 57: 967-73. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.57.7.967
- Chutinet A, Biffi A, Kanakis A, Fitzpatrick K, Furie K, Rost N. Severity of leukoaraiosis in large vessel atherosclerotic disease. Am J Neuroradiol 2012; 33(8):1591–5. https://doi.org/10.3174/ainr.A3015
- Conde J, Biffi A, Rahman R, Butler C, Massasa E, Sonni S. Hyperlipidemia and reduced white matter hyperintensity volume in patients with ischemic stroke. Stroke 2010;41(3):437-42.

h t t p s : //d o i . o r g/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.563502

- 9. Ke D, Zhou F, Liang H, Xu Y, Lou H. Hypertriglyceridemia is associated with reduced leukoaraiosis severity in patients with a small vessel stroke. Behav Neurol 2018;1361780. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1361780
- Shi J, Hao K, Qi P, Xie X, Yang X, Dong M et al. Confirmation of the abnormal lipid metabolism as risk factor for the disease of leukoaraiosis. Saudi J Biol Sci 2017; 24(3):508-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2017.01.020
- 11. Goldstein JL, Brown M S. A century of cholesterol and coronaries: from plaques to genes to statins. Cell 2015; 161(1):161-72.

```
https://doi.org/10/1016/j.cell.2015.01.036
```

- Sastroasmoro S, Ismael S. Dasardasar metodologi penelitian klinis. 4th ed. Jakarta: Sagung Seto, 2011.
- 13. Kim W, MacFall J, Payne M. Classification of white matter lesions on magnetic resonance imaging in elderly persons. Biol Psychiatry 2008; 64(4):273-80.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2008.03.024

- 14. Nelson RH. Hiperlipidemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Prim Care 2013; 40(1):195-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2012.11.003
- 15. Reeves MJ, Bushnell CD, Howard G, et al. Sex differences in stroke: epidemiology, clinical presentation, medical care, and outcomes. Lancet Neurol 2008; 7(10): 915–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-

4422(08)70193-5

16. Kelly-Hayes M. Influence of age and health behaviors on stroke risk: lessons from longitudinal studies. J Am Geriatr Soc 2010;58 (Suppl 2):S325-8.
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02915.x

17. Boehme AK, Esenwa C, Elkin MS. Stroke risk factors, genetics, and prevention. Circ Res 2017; 120(3):472–95. https://doi.org/10.1161/

CIRCRESAHA.116.308398 18. Christidi F, Tsiptsios D, Sousanidou A, Karamanidis S, Kitmeridou S, *et al.*

The clinical utility of leukoaraiosis as a prognostic indicator in ischemic stroke patients. Neurol Int 2022; 14(4):952-80.

https://doi.org/10.3390/neurolint14040076

 Xue J, Wu Z, Gong S, Qin S, Gu A. Highdose atorvastatin improves vascular endothelial function in patients with leukoaraiosis. J Clin Lab Anal 2020; 34(3):e23081. https://doi.org/10/1002/jcla.23081

20. Vedala K, Nagabandi AK, Looney S, Bruno A. Factors associated with leukoaraiosis severity in acute stroke patients. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2019; 28(7):1897-1901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

jstrokecerebrovasdis.2019.04.003

- 21. ParkK, Yasuda N, Toyonaga S, Yamada SM, Nakabayashi N, Nakasato M, et al. Significant association between leukoaraiosis and metabolic syndrome in healthy subjects. Neurology 2007; 69(10):974–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000266562.54684.bf
- 22. Chen Y, Bian Y. Overview-research progress of leukoaraiosis. J Behav Brain Sci 2022; 12:599-26. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbbs.2022.1211036



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 135-141 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202305

Relationship of bizygomatic and bigonial breadth with the suitability of surgical masks

Tjam Diana Samara^{1,2*}, Magdalena Wartono^{1,2}, Nany Hairunisa², Lie T. Merijanti², Alvin M. Ridwan², Ridwan Harrianto^{1,2}

¹Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, ²Department of Occupational Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, West Jakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-01-10 Use of masks is mandatory to prevent the transmission of COVID-19. Appropriate masks that match the face size is very important to avoid leakage. This study Accepted : 2023-02-16 aimed to evaluate the relationship between bizygomatic and bigonial breadth with the suitability of surgical masks. It was an analytic observational study with a cross-sectional design conducted at the Occupational Medicine Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta during March to April 2021. A total 132 employees of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti aged from 20 to 64 y.o. who meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria participated in this study. No significantly difference in age (p=0.248) and body mass index (BMI) (p=0.226) was observed. However, there was a significantly difference in bizygomatic width (p=0.000) and bigonial width (p=0.001) between men and women. The use of appropriate surgical masks was observed in 89 respondents, but not suitable for 43 respondents. There was no significantly difference between BMI, bizygomatic width and bigonial width with the suitability of surgical masks. However, old age was significantly more appropriate for using surgical masks than young people. In conclusion, BMI, bizygomatic width, and bigonial width are not substantially different with the suitability of surgical masks. However, older age is more suitable for employing surgical masks than younger age.

ABSTRAK

Penggunaan masker diwajibkan untuk mencegah penularan COVID-19. Penggunaan masker yang sesuai dengan ukuran wajah sangat penting agar tidak terjadi kebocoran. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengetahui hubungan antara lebar bizygomatic dan bigonial dengan kesesuaian masker bedah. Ini adalah penelitian observasional analitik dengan dengan rancangan potong lintang dilakukan di Laboratorium Kedokteran Kerja, Fakultas Kedokteran, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta selama Maret sampai April 2021. Total sebanyak 132 pekerja di Fakultas Kedokteran Trisakti berumur 20 sampai 64 tahun yang memenuhi kriteria inklusi dan eksklusi berpartisipasi dalam penelitian. Tidak dijumpai perbedaan nyata pada umur (p=0.248) dan indeks masa tubuh (IMT) (p=0.226). Namun demikian, terdapat perbedaan nyata pada lebar bizigomatik (p=0.000) dan bigonial (p=0.001) antara pria dan wanita. Pemakaian masker bedah yang sesuai dijumpai pada 89 pekerja dan yang tidak sesuai pada 43 pekerja. Tidak ada perbedaan bermakna antara IMT, lebar bizigomatik, dan bigonial dengan kesesuaian masker bedah. Namun, usia tua secara bermakna lebih sesuai dalam penggunaan masker bedah dibandingkan usia muda. Dapat disimpulkan IMT, lebar bizigomatik, dan lebar bigonial tidak berbeda secara substansial dengan kesesuaian masker bedah. Namun, usia yang lebih tua secara lebih cocok menggunakan masker bedah dibandingkan usia yang lebih muda.

Keywords: bizygomatic breadth; bigonial breadth; surgical mask; suitability; age

INTRODUCTION

Sars-CoV-2isanewcoronavirusstrain that is responsible for the respiratory illness named corona virus disease 2019 (COVID-19).¹ This disease is very contagious and caused mortality in more than 2.9 million people worldwide.² The transmission of COVID-19 is primarily respiratory droplet. through the Therefore, wearing face masks during the COVID-19 pandemic is mandatory in some coutries.¹ The widespread use of face masks in the community has successfully prevented the spread of Sars-CoV-2 and reduced the incidence of COVID-19.3 However, wearing face masks could become useless if they are not worn properly and the materials are not suitable to prevent droplets.⁴

One of the recommended face masks for daily use in this situation is surgical masks. According to the American Industrial Hygiene Association (AIHA), a surgical mask is an infection control device designed to prevent the spread of infection from the wearer's exhaled breath potentially susceptible to individuals. It provides a barrier to reduce environmental contamination from materials exhaled by the wearer.⁵ Milton *et al.*,⁶ proved that surgical masks could reduce the amount of virus on fine particles (< 5mm): OR 2.8 (95% CI 1.5 -5.2) and on coarse particles (> 5mm): OR 25 (95% CI 3.5 to 180). Overall, the masks can provide 3.4 fold reduction in viral aerosol release (95% CI 1.8 to 6.3).6

Two factors that play an essential role in determining the function of a mask. The first one is the efficiency of the filter material, which depends on the particle size, and the second one is the suitability of the mask. Therefore the ineffectiveness of face masks can be influenced by a person's face or facial anthropometry.⁷ In this study, two measurements of face anthropometry were carried out i.e. bizygomatic breadth and bigonial breadth. The bizygomatic breadth was obtained by measuring the distance between the most prominent structure of left and right zygomatic bones. The bigonial breadth is the straight distance between the most lateral points of the two mandibular angles.^{8,9} There are other face dimensions, but we choose these two dimensions because the two face dimensions show the length of the face and it should be covered when one is wearing a mask. Facial anthropometry not only being influenced by race, but also by age and gender. Omotoso *et al.*,¹⁰ study proved a significant difference in all facial anthropometric measurements except facial width between men and women in the age group of 16-20 yr. The results in the higher age group also got similar results. For age, there was an average increase in all facial sizes and an increase in the age group.

A study examining the connection between the bizygomatic and bigonial breadth and the appropriateness of the surgical mask has not yet been conducted. The aim of this study was to compare the bizygomatic and bigonial breadth and the suitability of the surgical mask. The surgical mask was chosen because they are commonly used. The results of this study are expected to determine the size of surgical masks suitable for Indonesian facial anthropometry so that they can effectively minimize the spread of COVID-19 or other droplet transmission diseases.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

It was an analytic observational study with a cross-sectional design conducted at the Occupational Medicine Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta during March to April 2021. A total 132 employees of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti aged from 20 to 64 y.o. who meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria participated in this study. Subjects with a history of facial trauma, facial aesthetic surgery, facial reconstruction and orthognathic surgery as well as orthodontic treatment were excluded in this study.

Measurements

Demographic data, including age and gender, were obtained through interviews. The age of the subjects was life span as measured by the year listed on the identity card. Gender was male or female written on the identity card. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing a person's weight in kg by their height in square m. Body height was measured using a height measuring device (microtoise).

Bizygomatic and bigonial breadth measurement

Bizygomatic and bigonial breadth measurements were carried out using the Martin GPM Anthropometer Kit. The measurement was conducted under strict health protocols where researchers wore complete personal protective equipment (PPE). Measurements were made using a small spreading caliper (FIGURE 1A) and following the method developed by Farkas (1994).⁹ Subjects were in a sitting position, relaxed, with the head in the correct anatomic position (neutral head position). Bizygomaticum breadth measurement was carried out first by determining the most lateral point of the left and right zygomaticum bones and then measuring the distance between those two points. Bigonial breadth measurements were performed by determining the mandibles's left and right most lateral angles and then measuring the distance between those two points (FIGURE 1B). The measurements were made twice by two different researchers and the mean value was taken for further analysis.9



FIGURE 1. A) Small spreading caliper (personal property). B) A is bizygomaticum breadth, B is bigonial breadth.⁹

Surgical mask suitability test

The surgical mask suitability test was performed using 3M Qualitative Fit Test Apparatus FT -30 (FIGURE 2A). A head loop surgical mask was provided, and the individual was instructed to wear it. (FIGURE 2B), and then they had to wear a unique head covering. The fit test was carried out by spraying a special liquid with the tip of the spray located approximately 5 cm in front of the mask at a position of 40° downward. After the first spraying, if the subject could feel a sensation on the tongue and/or throat, the results were non-fit/not passed. If the subject doubted the sensation, the spraying could be repeated up to three times. If it was confirmed that there was no sensation at all, then the examination results was fit/passed and it's called suitability. The masks used were Sensi[®] three layers surgical masks sized 90 x 175 cm.





A B FIGURE 2. A) Subject was tested with 3M Qualitative Fit Test Apparatus FT-30 (personal property), B) Surgical mask (personal property)

Statistical analysis

Data analysis in this study was carried out using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) program version 20.0. Normal distribution was determined by the Kolmogorov Smirnov test. Some variables such as body mass index (BMI), bizygomatic and bigonial breadth had normal distributions, while the age variable was not. For the comparison test, variables with normal distribution were analyzed with t test and the age variable was analyzed with Mann-Whitney as not-normal distribution data.

Ethical clearance

This study has been approved by the Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti (Number 168/KER/FK/XII/2020).

RESULTS

Characteristics of subjects

This study was carried out at the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta from March to April 2021 involving 132 subjects. Fifty eight of them were male, and 74 were female. No significant difference in age and BMI between male and female (p>0.05). However, the bizygomatic and bigonial breadth of males were significantly wider than females (p<0.005). The male bizygomaticum was about 0.6 cm wider than that of the female (p=0.000). Likewise, the bigonial breadth was wider in males than females, about 0.5 cm (p=0.001) (TABLE 1).

Variables	Men (n =58)	Women (n =74)	р
Age (year)	41.50 (18-64)#	40 (20-56)#	0.2481
Body mass index	25.43 (15.97-42.96)#	26.07 (17.97-37.70)#	0.2261
Bizygomaticum breadth (cm)	13.12 ±0.85 (11.3-15.6)	12.51 ± 0.72 (11.0 – 14.2)	0.000^{2*}
Bigonial breadth (cm)	11.73 ± 0.94 (9.35-14.95)	11.23 ± 0.73 (9.15-13.90)	0.0012*

TABLE 1. Characteristics of subjects [(mean ± SD or median (range)]

Note: #median (range); 1Mann Whitney test; 2t test; p significant if < 0.05

Comparison age, BMI, bizygomatic breadth, bigonial breadth, and suitability of surgical masks

The surgical mask compatibility test was passed by 89 participants, while 43 were deemed to have failed it. A significant difference between suitability and inappropriateness of surgical masks based on age was observed (p=0.026). However, there were no significant difference based on BMI, bizygomaticum breadth, and bigonial breadth (p> 0.05) (TABLE 2).

TABLE 2. Comparison between age, body mass index, bizygomatic breadth, bigonial breadth [mean ± SD or media (range)] and suitability of surgical masks.

Variables	Men (n =58)	Women (n =74)	р
Age (year)	43.00 (18-64)#	34 (20-54)#	0.0261*
Body Mass Index	25.40 (15.97-37.70)#	26.12 (18.74-42.96)#	0.2631
Bizygomaticum breadth (cm)	12.74 ±0.82 (11.1-14.8)	12.88 ± 0.85 (11.0-15.6)	0.381 ²
Bigonial breadth (cm)	11.30 (9.15-13.90)#	11.60 (10.3-14.95)#	0.412 ²

Note: #median (range); ¹Mann Whitney test; ²t test; p significant if < 0.05

DISCUSSION

Characteristics of subjects

The results showed a significant difference between males and females in bizygomaticum and bigonial breadth. In this study, both dimensions were wider in males than in females. Lin & Chen also reported the same result where the average of bizygomatic breadth in males (128.2 \pm 6.6 cm) was wider than in females (122.7 \pm 7.0 cm) as well as bigonial breadth (males 114.0 \pm 8.8 cm vs females 105.5 \pm 7.9 cm).¹¹ The same results were also proved by Vinay *et al.*,⁸ their study showed that the average of bigonial breadth in males was 9.45 \pm 0.53 cm, which was wider than in females (8.74 \pm 0.53 cm). Abitha *et al.*¹²

found that the average of bizygomatic measurement in men was significantly wider (10.63 ± 0.78 cm) compared to women (10.37 ± 0.73 cm).

Comparison age, BMI, bizygomatic breadth, bigonial breadth, and suitability of surgical masks

The results of this study showed no relationship between the size of the bizygomaticum and bigonial breadth and the compatibility of the surgical mask, indicating that staff of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti could generally use surgical masks without being affected by the width of the bizygomatic and bigonial. Likewise, the BMI did not affect the suitability of the surgical mask. This could be because the surgical mask is large enough to encompass the face and prevent exhalation leaks.

In comparison to younger subjects, older subjects demonstrated greater surgical mask suitability, suggesting that older individuals are more likely to wear masks correctly and consistently due to their greater awareness of the fact that they face a greater risk of morbidity and mortality from COVID-19 diseases. Education and information about the importance and proper way to wear masks during the COVID-19 pandemic are highly needed these days. Public health education plays a role in effective-hygiene behavioral changes.¹³ A surgical mask can effectively reduce droplet transmission up to 80%.14 Droplets are respiratory particles with a diameter greater than 5 μ m and can disperse around 1 m (close contact) to a maximum of 6 feet (1.83 m) in the air before falling.^{15,16} However, in order to minimize the transmission of COVID-19, apart from wearing surgical masks, it is necessary to maintain distance and wear effective eye protectors to protect against respiratory tract diseases that are transmitted by droplets.^{16,17}

There has never been any research relationship between about the bizygomatic and bigonial breadth and surgical mask suitability. However, a study about respiratory masks found that more subjects with significantly larger facial width, bigonial breadth, and facial length passed the respirator fit test than those who failed the fit test when using cup-shaped respirators.¹⁸ This study with a surgical mask showed no difference between subjects with wider faces and subject with narrower faces. This is because the size of the surgical mask is wider, so it can adequately cover the nose and mouth, both in narrow and wide faces. These results are important for the user of surgical mask, so they don't have to worry about the leakage when the wear the surgical mask. The limitation of this study is that the bizygomatic and bigonial breadth measurements were not carried out by three-dimensional measurements so that accurate measurement may not be obtained.

CONCLUSION

This study proves that there is no relationship between bizygomatic and bigonial size and the suitability of the mask, but there is a relationship between age and the suitability of the mask. Thus, it can be said that currently the surgical masks available on the market still match the face sizes of employees of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author would like to thank all the staff of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta who were involved in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. UNICEF. Frequently Asked Questions about coronavirus disease (COVID-19). UNICEF Indonesia. 2020:1-12.
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Aleem A, Dulebohn S, Di Napoli R. Features, evaluation, and treatment of coronavirus (COVID-19). In: StatPearls [internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 3. Brienen NCJ, Timen A, Wallinga J, Van Steenbergen JE, Teunis PFM. The effect of mask use on the spread of influenza during a pandemic. Risk Anal 2010; 30(8):1210-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2010.01428.x
- 4. Aiello AE, Murray GF, Perez V, Coulborn RM, Davis BM, Uddin M, *et al.* Mask use, hand hygiene, and seasonal influenza-like illness

among young adults: a randomized intervention trial. J Infect Dis 2010; 201(4):491-8.

https://doi.org/10.1086/650396

- Colton CE, Townsend MC. Respirators and surgical masks-exploring the differences. Workplace Health Saf 2013; 61(3):99-101. https://doi.org/10.1177/216507-991306100302
- Milton DK, Fabian MP, Cowling BJ, Grantham ML, McDevitt JJ. Influenza virus aerosols in human exhaled breath: particle size, culturability, and effect of surgical masks. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(3):e1003205. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1003205

- Cappa CD, Asadi S, Barreda S, Wexler AS, Bouvier NM, Ristenpart WD. Expiratory aerosol particle escape from surgical masks due to imperfect sealing. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1):12110. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-91487-7
- Vinay G, Mangala Gowri SR, Anbalagan J. Sex determination of human mandible using metrical parameters. J ClinDiagn Res 2013; 7(12):2671-3.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 7 8 6 0 / JCDR/2013/7621.3728

- Gabarre J, Pastor JBN, Gabarre-Armengol C, Estaún-Ferrer S. Bizygomatic width and its association with social and personality traits in males. Int J Morphol 2017; 35(3):1037-42. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0717-95022017000300036
- Omotoso D, Oludiran O, Sakpa CL. Nasofacial anthropometry of adult Bini tribe in Nigeria. Afr J Biomed Res 2011; 14(3):219-21.
- 11. Lin YC, Chen CP. Characterization of small-to-medium head-and-face dimensions for developing respirator fit test panels and evaluating fit of filtering facepiece respirators with

different faceseal design. PLoS One 2017; 12(11):e0188638.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0188638

12. Abitha T, Santhanam A. Correlation between bizygomatic and maxillary central incisor width for gender identification. Braz Dent Sci 2019; 22(4):458-66.

https://doi.org/10.14295/bds.2019. v22i4.1775

13. Tso RV, Cowling BJ. Importance of Face Masks for COVID-19: A call for effective public education. Clin Infect Dis 2020; 71(16):2195-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa593

14. MacIntyre CR, Chughtai AA. Facemasks for the prevention of infection in healthcare and community settings. BMJ 2015; 350:h694.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h694

15. Zhou J, Wei J, Choy KT, Sia SF, Rowlands DK, Yu D, *et al.* Defining the sizes of airborne particles that mediate influenza transmission in ferrets. Proc Natl Acad Scie 2018; 115(10):E2386-E92. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 7 3 /

pnas.1716771115

- 16. WHO. Advice on the use of masks in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 5 June 2020. World Health Organization; 2020.
- 17. Azap A, Erdinç FŞ. Medical mask or N95 respirator: When and how to use? Turk JMed Scie 2020; 50(SI-1):633-7.

https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-2004-199

 Cheng WJ, Yu YY, Yu D, Ping J, Chen WH. The relationship between fit characteristics of two kinds of self-inhalation air-purifying dust respirators and head-face dimensions of subjects. Zhonghua Lao Dong Wei Sheng ZhiYe Bing Za Zhi 2012; 30(5):352-5.



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023;142-150 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202306

The facial measurements in health workers at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta

Nadiya Husna Aliya¹, Neni Trilusiana Rahmawati^{2,3*}, Janatin Hastuti^{2,3}, Sri Awalia Febriana⁴

¹Undergraduate Program in School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, ²Department of Health Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, ³Laboratory of Bio-& Paleoanthropology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, ⁴Department of Dermatology and Venereology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2022-01-11 Accepted : 2022-05-23

The appropriate mask is based on facial anthropometric measurements that may be affected by sex, race, age, and body mass index (BMI). This study aimed to determine the difference and relationship between the bizygomatic width (BW) and nasion-menton height (NMH) with sex and BMI in health workers. This descriptive-analytical study used a cross-sectional method. The subjects were 39 health workers (nurses and doctors) at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta consisting of 15 male subjects and 24 female subjects, aged between 25-55 years old. Anthropometric measurements were performed on the subjects, including body weight, height, NW, and NMH. The data were analyzed using the Shapiro-Wilk test, independent t-test, and Pearson's test. There was a significant difference in the BW between male and female subjects (p<0.05), with the males' BW (13.1 \pm 0.76 cm) being larger than that of the female subjects (12.35 \pm 0.62 cm). There were no differences in the BMI and nasion-menton height between the male and female subjects (p>0.05). The Pearson's test results showed no significant relationship between the BW with BMI in both the male subjects (r=0.351; p=0.199) and the female subjects (r=0.349; p=0.094), and between the nasion-menton height with BMI in both the male subjects (r=0.101; p=0.721) and the female subjects (r=0.390, p=0.060). In conclusion, the males' BW was larger than the female health workers. It is necessary to consider facial anthropometric measurements in face mask manufacturing to provide comfort and good protection.

ABSTRACT

Kesesuaian penggunaan masker didasari oleh adanya variasi ukuran antropometri wajah yang dapat dipengaruhi oleh jenis kelamin, ras, usia, dan indeks massa tubuh (IMT). Tujuan penelitian ini untuk mengetahui perbedaan dan hubungan antara ukuran lebar bizigomatik dan panjang mentonnasion dengan jenis kelamin dan IMT pada tenaga kesehatan. Penelitian ini merupakan penelitian deskriptif analitik dengan metode potong lintang. Subjek adalah 39 orang tenaga kesehatan (perawat dan dokter) di RSUP Dr. Sardjito, Yogyakarta yang terdiri dari 15 laki-laki dan 24 perempuan, berusia antara 25-55 tahun. Pada subjek dilakukan pengukuran antropometri meliputi berat tubuh, tinggi tubuh, lebar bizigomatik, dan panjang nasion-menton. Data dianalisis menggunakan uji Shapiro Wilk, uji t independen, dan uji Pearson. Terdapat perbedaan nyata pada lebar bizigomatik laki-laki dan perempuan (p<0,05), dengan lebar bizigomatik laki-laki (13,1 ± 0,76 cm) lebih besar dibanding perempuan (12,35 ± 0,62 cm). Tidak terdapat perbedaan antara IMT dan panjang menton-nasion pada laki-laki dan perempuan (p>0,05). Hasil uji Pearson menunjukkan tidak ada hubungan yang signifikan antara ukuran lebar bizigomatik dengan IMT pada laki-laki (r=0,351; p=0,199) dan perempuan (r=0,349; p=0,094), serta antara panjang menton-nasion dengan IMT pada laki-laki (r=0,101; p=0,721) dan perempuan (r=0,390, p=0,060). Dapat disimpulkan bahwa lebar bizygomatic tenaga kesehatan laki-laki lebih besar dibanding lebar bizygomatic tenaga kesehatan perempuan. Ukuran-ukuran antropometri wajah perlu diperhatikan dalam pembuatan masker supaya nyaman digunakan dan dapat memberikan perlindungan yang baik.

Keywords:

anthropometry; bizygomatic width; body mass index; health workers; nasion-menton height

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease that is caused by a new variant of coronavirus, i.e., Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). Health workers as the frontline of COVID-19 are at a higher risk from SARS-CoV-2.1 One of the efforts to protect and minimize the risks for health workers from COVID-19 is to wear personal protective equipment such as an N95 mask. Nevertheless, prolonged use of the N95 mask may cause discomfort due to mask pressure in the face, difficult movement of facial muscles, and itching.² Besides, a mask size problem may also lead to a mask leak.³ On the other hand, a mask size that fits facial characteristics can provide good protection.⁴ Differences in the mask fit are based on different facial anthropometric measurements that may be affected by sex, race, age, and body mass index (BMI).^{5,6}

Anthropometry is the measurements of the body dimensions or other physical characteristics of the body that are useful in designing objects that a person wears.⁷ Facial anthropometric measurements can be useful in mask manufacturing. There are 12 facial dimensions that are related to the performance of a including respirator, bi-ectoorbital width, bizygomatic width, bigonial width, nasion-menton height, mentonsubnasal height, subnasal-nasion height, biocular width, nasal root width, nasal width, lip width, bitragion-menton arc, and bitragion-subnasal arc.8 Research results showed that bi-ectoorbital width, bizygomatic width, bigonial width, nasion-menton height, lip width, and bitragion-menton arc are good predictors for a respirator mask fit because, based on a mask fit testing, these facial anthropometric measurements affect a respirator leak in the nose, cheeks, and chin.^{3,8}

A face shape depends on the structure

of hard tissues (bone) and soft tissues. Facial soft tissue thickness is affected by gender, age, race, and nutritional status.⁹ The BMI is an important factor that contributes to accurately determining the differences in facial soft tissue thickness among individuals.¹⁰

Bizygomatic width and nasionmenton height were selected as the dependent variables because some previous studies showed that bizygomatic width and nasion-menton height were good predictors for a respirator fit and there was a significant difference in the bizygomatic width and nasion-menton height of males and females.^{8,11}

Based on the above-mentioned description, this study was conducted determine the to differences and relationship between facial anthropometric measurements, i.e., the bizygomatic width and nasionmenton height with sex and BMI. Health workers at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta were chosen as the research subject because it is one of the referral hospitals for handling patients with COVID-19 in the Special Region of Yogyakarta. Therefore, the facial anthropometric measurements obtained in this study expectedly can be useful for developing an N95 mask that can provide both comfort and good protection for health workers.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

This descriptive-analytical study used a cross-sectional method. The data were the facial anthropometric measurements of the health workers at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta in October-November 2021. A total of 39 subjects (15 males and 24 females) included nurses and doctors at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta who were between 25-55 years old.

Protocols of study

The inclusion criteria for this study were: having no facial trauma, having no facial surgery, and having willingness to participate in the study. The exclusion criteria for this study were: having a head and facial fracture, having congenital bone diseases, and having a history of vertebral, pelvic, or lower limb fractures. The instruments used were a sliding caliper to measure facial anthropometry, an anthropometer to measure body height, and a body weight scale. Before the measurements were conducted, all the subjects had signed an informed consent form. BMI was determined by the formula of body weight divided by height squared (kg/ m²), with the categories according to WHO.¹² This research was approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia with the approval number KE-FK-1388-EC-2021.

Statistical analysis

The normality of the data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk method. The hypothesis was tested using the independent t-test to see any differences between the male and female subjects. The Pearson correlation test was used to determine the relationship between gender and with bizygomatic width (BW) and nasion-menton height (NMH).

RESULTS

The frequency distribution of the research subject characteristics based on sex, age, and profession are presented in TABLE 1, whereas the frequency distribution of the research subject characteristics based on BMI categories are presented in TABLE 2. Most of the subjects (16 people or 41%) were categorized as slightly overweight.

ΓABLE	1.	Charao	s of	
	ge	ender,	age,	and
	pr	ofessio	n in suk	ojects

Characteristics	n (%)
Gender	
• Male	15 (38.5)
• Female	24 (61.5)
Age (years)	
• 25-29	6 (15.4)
• 30-39	20 (51.3)
• 40-49	8 (20.5)
• 50-55	5 (12.8)
Profession	
• Doctor	13 (33.3)
• Nurse	26 (66.7)

Gender	Normal n (%)	Overweight n (%)	Obesity I n (%)	Obesity II n (%)
Male	2 (5.1)	3 (7.7)	9 (23.1)	1 (2.6)
Female	6 (15.4)	4 (10.3)	7 (17.9)	7 (17.9)
Total	8 (20.5)	7 (17.9)	16 (41.0)	8 (20.5)

TABLE 2. Frequency distribution of BMI category in subjects

Based on the normality test using the Shapiro-Wilk method, the data were normally distributed. The results of the independent t-test (TABLE 3) show that there was a significant difference in the BW between the male and female subjects (p<0.05), with the BW of the male subjects being greater than that of the female subjects. There was no significant difference in the NMHt and BMI between the male and female groups. The results of the Pearson's correlation test (TABLE 4) show that there was no significant relationship between the BW and the NMH with BMI in both the male and female subjects.

Variables	Male	Female	Total	Independent t-test	
variables	(n=15)	(n=24)	(n=39)	t	р
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.98 ± 2.90	26.51 ± 4.40	26.31 ± 3.86	-0.455	0.652
BW (cm)	13.1 ± 0.76	12.35 ± 0.62	12.64 ± 0.76	3.348	0.002*
NMH (cm)	11.45 ± 0.54	11.11 ± 0.53	11.24 ± 0.55	1.925	0.062

TABLE 3. Mean ± SD of BMI), BW and NMH in subjects

BMI: body mass index; BW: bizygomatic width; NMH: nasion - menton height; *p <0.05; the data are partly taken from Aliya.¹³

TABLE 4. The correlation coefficient of BW and NMH with BMI in subjects (Pearson's correlation test)

	BMI					
Variable	Male		Female		Total	
	r	р	r	р	r	р
BW	0.351	0.199	0.349	0.094	0.261	0.109
NMH	0.101	0.721	0.390	0.060	0.265	0.103

BMI: body mass index; BW: bizygomatic width; NMH: nasion - menton height; *p <0.05; the data are partly taken from Aliya.¹³

DISCUSSION

The prevalence of overweight (BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) in this study was 61.5%, with the prevalence of overweight in the female subjects (35.8%) being higher than in the male subjects (25.7%). Based on the Basic Health Research in 2018, the prevalence of overweight (BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) in the population aged >18 years old in Indonesia was 26.6% for men and 44.4% for women.¹⁴ Compared to a study by Kunyahamu *et al.*¹⁵ few reports are available on Malaysian health-care workers' obesity and whether different

health-care job categories are related to workers' obesity. This study aimed to determine the prevalence of obesity among HCWs and the association between various HCW job categories and obesity. A cross-sectional study was conducted by analyzing secondary data from the 2019 annual cardiovascular health screening program, which included information regarding all government health-care workers in the east coast region of Peninsular Malaysia. The subject's body mass index (BMIconducted on health workers in Malaysia, 33.1% of the study subjects had a BMI of 25-29.9 kg/m² and at a high risk of being overweight. This difference might be due to various factors related to the shift-working conditions that nurses have to undergo that disrupt sleep patterns, dietary patterns, and physical activity.¹⁵

A study by Adaja and Idemudia¹⁶ conducted on the health workers in Nigeria revealed that based on the classification as set by the World Health Organization,¹⁷ 31.7% of the health workers were overweight (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m²) and 25.5% were obese (BMI \ge 30 kg/ m²), in which the overweight and obese categories were more common in female health workers.¹⁶ Other studies also mentioned that the higher prevalence of overweight and obesity in female health workers is because female health workers perform fewer physical activities than male health workers.^{18,19} A high energy intake with minimum physical activity could increase the risk of being obese among health workers.²⁰ A study by Kit in 2019 revealed that 45.6% of health workers were categorized as physically inactive and had a sedentary lifestyle with a mean daily duration of 5 hours. In addition, vitamin E and zinc deficiency, less than 7-hour sleep duration, and nonsmokers are significantly associated with a high body fat percentage.²¹

Based on the result of this study, there was no significant difference in the mean BMI of the male subjects (25.98 \pm 2.90 kg/m²) and the female subjects $(26.51 \pm 4.40 \text{ kg/m}^2)$. This result is in line with a study by Asil *et al.*,²² showing that there was no difference in the mean BMI based on gender, but there was a significant difference in the mean BMI based on age, education level, marital status, parity, smoking status, and sleep duration. However, these results are different from a study by Xiao et al.,²³ showing a significant difference in the mean BMI of the male subjects (21.74 \pm 1.74 kg/m²) and the female subjects $(24.39 \pm 3.54 \text{ kg/m}^2)$.

In fact, muscular people or athletes may have a high BMI due to the volume of muscle mass; women have a higher fat percentage than men: older adults have a higher body fat than young adults.²⁴ Decreased physical activity, slowing metabolism due to old age, menopause and physiological changes in women can increase body weight.²⁵ A pregnancy or weight gain due to pregnancy can trigger obesity; even in women with a poor dietary pattern, the BMI can also increase after childbirth.^{26,27} The basal metabolic rate of women is 10% smaller than men. Thus, women are likely to turn food into fat, while men are more likely to turn food into muscle and energy reserves. In addition, women have fewer muscles than men. Meanwhile, muscle cells are able to burn more fat than other cells.²⁸

In addition, the education level of an individual affects the dietary pattern, where the higher the education level, the lower the BMI. Marriage, divorce, or a loss of a spouse also affects body weight. Unmarried individuals are likely to have a lower BMI than those who are married or have lost a spouse.²² Smokers have a lower BMI than nonsmokers.²² Smoking can help weight loss by increasing the metabolism rate and suppressing appetite.²⁹ However, it is necessary to analyze the effect of genetic and environmental factors on obesity to reveal more details about the factors that affect BMI in individuals.²² But, these factors were not examined in this study.

Sex influences the facial profile because the soft tissues that cover the hard tissues in men are thicker than those in women. In addition, the chin growth in men forms a greater jaw angle than in women, causing women in general to have a more convex facial profile than men.³⁰ Regarding the facial anthropometric measurements, the results of the study showed that the bizygomatic width of the male group (13.1 \pm 0.76 cm) was larger and significantly different than the female subjects (12.35

 \pm 0.62 cm). This result is consistent with some previous studies,^{8,11,31} showing that the average BW of males is greater than in females, but the zygomatic bone of females is more prominent than that of males. In addition, there was no significant difference in the NMH of the male subjects $(11.45 \pm 0.54 \text{ cm})$ and female subjects (11.11 ± 0.53 cm). This is different from some studies,^{8,32,33} showing that the average NMH in male subjects is significantly higher than that in female subjects. Various factors cause differences in facial dimensions, including genetics and race. In addition, the hormone testosterone in men can increase the size and mass of muscles and bones, leading to differences in the facial shape between men and women.³³ A higher testosterone to estradiol ratio (T/E ratio) in men is related to the size of the cheekbones, mandible, chin, and face height. Testosterone can affect on facial development through an increased level of growth hormone (GH) which plays an important role in regulating growth, body development, and body composition.³⁴ A study conducted in Korea showed that there was a significant difference between 11 facial dimensions of men and women, two of which were the BW and NMH.8 Women have smaller facial dimensions than men, particularly in terms of the bigonial width, BW, and facial height.11

The results of the Pearson's test showed no significant relationship between the BM with BMI in both the male (r=0.351; p=0.199) and the female subjects (r=0.349; p=0.094), and no significant relationship between the NMH with BMI in the male subjects (r=0.101; p=0.721)and female group (r=0.390, p=0.060). The insignificant result obtained in this study might be due to the uneven distribution of the BMI categories. In this study, there were 31 subjects (79.4%)who were in the overweight and obese categories, and only 8 subjects (20.5%) in the normal category. The results of this study are different from some previous studies, such as a study by Nádaždyová et al.¹⁰ showing that the group with BMI >25.0 kg/m² had a larger nasal width, BW, total facial height, mouth width, and morphological facial height compared to the group with BMI of $18.6-24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$. Facial soft tissues fluctuate according to the nutritional status of a person. The BMI is a key factor in accurately determining the difference in the facial soft tissue thickness among individuals.³⁵ Additionally, nutritional status also affects cheek width and the relative width of the lower face.³⁶

According to a study by Windhager et al.,³⁷ body fat percentage leads to 8.7% variation in facial shape and it has a significant correlation with BMI. Facial width and height are significantly related to BMI, in which an increased BMI has more effect on facial width than on facial height. An increase in BMI leads to a relative widening of the midface and lower face. Someone with a lower body fat percentage tend to have angular face with relatively small cheeks, pointy chin, relatively big eyes, and a pointy nose.^{36,37} According to a study by Dong et al.,³⁵ that was conducted using a 3D skull model in North China, the soft tissue thickness is increased along with an increasing BMI, in which the thickest soft tissues were found at landmarks in the cheeks for all the BMI categories in both men and women. Sex affects facial profiles because the soft tissues that cover the hard tissues in most areas of male face are thicker than in female faces.^{30,38}

Based on the results of this study, the BW of the male group was greater the female subjects, therefore, it is necessary to consider different N95 mask sizes based on sex. Based on a study conducted by Solano *et al.*,³⁹ the standard N95 mask size recommended by the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) is too big for women, causing a mask leak, especially in the chin. Therefore, women need smaller N95 mask size than men.

CONCLUSION

There is no correlation between the BW and NMH with sex and BMI. However, there are differences in BW between male and female health workers at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. It is crucial to consider facial anthropometric measurements in mask manufacturing to manufacture masks that are both comfortable to wear and provide good protection.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thank the health workers at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta who collaborated on this study. This study was supported by the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta.

REFERENCES

1. Qaseem A, Etxeandia-Ikobaltzeta I, Yost J, Miller MC, Abraham GM, Obley AJ, *et al.* Use of N95, surgical, and cloth masks to prevent COVID-19 in health care and community settings: living practice points From the American College of Physicians (Version 1). Ann Intern Med 2020; 173(8):642-9.

https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-3234

- Wear Compliance and Donning/ Doffing of Respiratory Protection for Bioaerosols or Infectious Agents: A Review of the Effectiveness, Safety, and Guidelines [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2014 Aug 19. PMID: 25411670.
- 3. Oestenstad RK, Bartolucci AA. Factors affecting the location and shape of face seal leak sites on halfmask respirators. J Occup Environ Hyg 2010; 7(6):332-41.

h t t p s : / / d o i . org/10.1080/15459621003729909

- 4. Regli A, Sommerfield A, von Ungern-Sternberg BS. The role of fit testing N95/FFP2/FFP3 masks: a narrative review. Anaesthesia 2021; 76(1):91-100. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15261
- Lin YC, Chen CP. Characterization of small-to-medium head-and-face dimensions for developing respirator fit test panels and evaluating fit of filtering facepiece respirators with different faceseal design. PLoS ONE 2017; 12(11):e0188638. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0188638
- 6. Zhang X, Jia N, Wang Z. The relationship between the filtering facepiece respirator fit and the facial anthropometric dimensions among Chinese people. Ind Health 2020; 58(4):318-24. https://doi.org/10.2486/

h t t p s : / / d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 2 4 8 6 / indhealth.2019-0158

- Sanders MS, McCormick EJ. Human Factors in Engineering and Design. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1993.
- 8. Kim H, Han DH, Roh YM, Kim K, Park YG. Facial anthropometric dimensions of Koreans and their associations with fit of quarter-mask respirators. Ind Health 2003; 41(1):8-18. https://doi.org/10.2486/indhealth.41.8
- 9. Simpson E, Henneberg M. Variation in soft-tissue thicknesses on the human face and their relation to craniometric dimensions. Am J Phys Anthropol 2002; 118(2):121-33. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.10073
- 10. Nádaždyová A, Štefánková E, Samohýl M. The impact of body mass index on craniofacial parameters. Kontakt 2016; 18(4): e253-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. kontakt.2016.10.003
- 11. Zhuang Z, Landsittel D, Benson S, Roberge R, Shaffer R. Facial anthropometric differences among gender, ethnicity, and age groups. Ann Occup Hyg 2010; 54(4):391-402. https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/meq007
- 12. World Health Organization, 2007.

Growth reference data for 5-91 years.

http://www.who.int/tools/growthreference-data-for-5to19-years

- Aliya NH. Hubungan antara ukuran antropometri wajah dengan jenis kelamin dan indeks massa tubuh pada tenaga kesehatan di RSUP Dr. Sardjito. (Skripsi). Yogyakarta: Universitas Gadjah Mada, 2021.
- Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan. Laporan Nasional Riskesdas 2018. Jakarta: Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan; 2018.
- 15. Kunyahamu MS, Daud A, Jusoh N. Obesity among health-care workers: which occupations are at higher risk of being obese? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021; 18(8):4381. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18084381
- Adaja TM, Idemudia OJ. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among health-care workers in University of Benin Teaching Hospital, Benin City, Nigeria. Ann Trop Pathol 2018; 9(2):150-4.

https://doi.org/10.4103/atp.atp_30_18

- 17. World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 p. i–253. (WHO technical report series). Report No: 894.
- Kasu ES, Ayim A, Tampouri J. Prevalence of obesity among health workers in Kadjebi District of Ghana. J Biol 2015; 13.
- 19. Skaal L, Pengpid S. Obesity and health problems among South African healthcare workers: do healthcare workers take care of themselves? South African Fam Pract 2014; 53(6):563-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/20786204.201 1.10874153
- 20. Ramadhaniah R, Julia M, Huriyati E. Durasi tidur, asupan energi, dan aktivitas fisik dengan kejadian obesitas pada tenaga kesehatan

puskesmas. Jurnal Gizi Klinik Indonesia 2014; 11(2):85-96. https://doi.org/10.22146/ijcn.19011

- 21. Kit LP. Determinants of Obesity Indices Among Primary Healthcare Workers in Perak, Malaysia. [Malaysia]: Universiti Putra Malaysia; 2019.
- 22. Asil E, Surucuoglu MS, Cakiroglu FP, Ucar A, Ozcelik AO, Yilmaz MV, *et al.* Factors that affect body mass index of adults. Pakistan J Nutr 2014; 13(5):255-60.

https://doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2014.255.260

- 23. Xiao X, Wang W, Sa R, Qiu L, Liu F. The investigation of sex differences in the effect of body mass index. Int J Hypertens 2019; 2019:1360328. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1360328
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Body Mass Index: Considerations for Practitioners [Internet]. CDC; 2011.

https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/25368

- 25. Fouad MF, Rastam S, Ward KD, Maziak W. Prevalence of obesity and its associated factors in Aleppo, Syria. Prev Control 2006; 2(2):85-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. precon.2006.09.001
- 26. Jaakkola J, Hakala P, Isolauri E, Poussa T, Laitinen K. Eating behavior influences diet, weight, and central obesity in women after pregnancy. Nutrition 2013; 29(10):1209-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2013.03.008
- 27. Rooney BL, Schauberger CW. Excess pregnancy weight gain and longterm obesity: one decade later. Obstet Gynecol 2002; 100(2):245-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0029-7844(02)02125-7
- 28. Nadimin, Ayumar, Fajarwati. Obesitas pada orang dewasa anggota keluarga miskin di kecamatan lembang Kabupaten Pinrang. Media Kesehatan Masyarakat Indonesia 2015; 11(3):9-15.

https://doi.org/10.30597/mkmi.v11i3.521

29. Chiolero A, Faeh D, Paccaud F, Cornuz

J. Consequences of smoking for body weight, body fat distribution, and insulin resistance. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87(4):801-9.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/87.4.801

- 30. Komalawati, Indriaty E, Supartinah A. Profil jaringan lunak dan keras wajah lelaki dan perempuan dewasa etnis Aceh berdasarkan keturunan campuran Arab, Cina, Eropa Dan Hindia. Cakradonya Dent J 2013; 5(2):542-618.
- 31. Lakhiani C, Somenek MT. Genderrelated facial analysis. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am 2019; 27(2):171-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsc.2019.01.006
- 32. Oh J, Han JJ, Ryu SY, Oh HK, Kook MS, Jung S, *et al.* Clinical and cephalometric analysis of facial soft tissue. J Craniofac Surg 2017; 28(5): e431-8.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 9 7 / SCS.00000000003614

- 33. Osunwoke EA, Amah-Tariah FS, Obia O, Ekere IM, Ede O. Sexual dimorphism in facial dimensions of the Bini's of South-Southern Nigeria. Asian J Med Sci 2011; 3(2):71-3.
- 34. Marečková K, Weinbrand Z, Chakravarty MM, Lawrence C, Aleong R, Leonard G, *et al.* Testosteronemediated sex differences in the face shape during adolescence: subjective impressions and objective features. Horm Behav 2011; 60(5):681-90.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

yhbeh.2011.09.004

35. Dong Y, Huang L, Feng Z, Bai S, Wu G, Zhao Y. Influence of sex and body mass index on facial soft tissue thickness measurements of the northern Chinese adult population. Forensic Sci Int 2012; 222(1-3):396. e1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. forsciint.2012.06.004

36. Mayer C, Windhager S, Schaefer K, Mitteroecker P. BMI and WHR are reflected in female facial shape and texture: a geometric morphometric image analysis. PLoS ONE 2017; 12(1):e0169336.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0169336

- 37. Windhager S, Patocka K, Schaefer K. Body fat and facial shape are correlated in female adolescents. Am J Hum Biol 2013; 25(6): 847-50. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22444
- 38. Kotrashetti VS, Mallapur MD. Radiographic assessment of facial soft tissue thickness in South Indian population: an anthropologic study. J For Legal Med 2016; 39:161-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jflm.2016.01.032
- 39. Solano T, Mittal R, Shoele K. One size fit all? modeling face-mask fit on population-based faces. PLos ONE 2021; 16(6):e0252143. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0252143



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 151-159 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202307

Reconsidering the limited role of right heart catheterization on severe pulmonary hypertension-due to progressive interstitial lung disease in young male patient: a case report

Megawati Abubakar¹, Anggoro Budi Hartopo^{1*}, Ika Trisnawati², Eko Budiono², Dyah Wulan Anggrahini¹, Lucia Kris Dinarti¹

¹Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito Hospital, Yogyakarta, ²Division of Pulmonology, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-08-17 Pulmonary hypertension (PH)-associated with interstitial lung disease Accepted : 2021-11-08 (ILD) develops as a consequence of progressive underlying lung disease or disproportionately to the underlying disease. The PH investigation by right heart catheterization (RHC) for defining PH severity is recommended in patients with ILD who show more severe symptoms than expected from lung disease, appearance of right heart failure, and clinical deterioration not matched by the declining lung function. In patient with progressive ILD, RHC is only considered if it affects the future treatment such as lung transplantation or enrollment in clinical trial/registry. The decision to undertake the RHC in progressive ILD was still fraught with doubts. Here we reported a young adult male patient with ILD whom developed progressive signs and symptoms. By RHC, he had severe precapillary PH with hemodynamic parameters indicated the presence of pulmonary vascular disease. A PH-specific treatment, sildenafil citrate, was administered, and patient responded well and was clinically stable during the addition of sildenafil citrate. This case highlights the clinical implication of performing RHC in progressive ILD, which can change the treatment decision by PH-specific drugs. Therefore, the RHC decision making in patient with progressive ILD need reconsideration.

ABSTRAK

Hipertensi pulmonal (PH)-terkait dengan penyakit paru interstitial (ILD) terjadi sebagai konsekuensi dari penyakit paru-paru progresif yang mendasari atau tidak proporsional dengan penyakit paru-paru yang mendasarinya. Penentuan diagnosis PH dengan kateterisasi jantung kanan (RHC) sebagai standar emas untuk menentukan tingkat keparahan PH direkomendasikan pada ILD dengan gejala yang lebih parah dari yang diharapkan berdasarkan fungsi paru, munculnya tanda gagal jantung kanan, dan perburukan klinis yang tidak diimbangi dengan penurunan fungsi paru. Pada pasien dengan ILD progresif, RHC hanya dipertimbangkan jika mempengaruhi pengobatan seperti transplantasi paru atau pendaftaran dalam uji klinis. Keputusan untuk melakukan RHC pada ILD progresif masih kontroversi. Kasus ini melaporkan seorang pasien pria dewasa muda dengan ILD yang mengalami tanda dan gejala progresif. Dengan RHC, didiagnsosi dengan PH prekapiler yang parah dengan parameter hemodinamik yang menunjukkan adanya penyakit pembuluh darah paru. Pengobatan spesifik PH yaitu sildenafil sitrat diberikan dan pasien merespons dengan baik dan stabil secara klinis selama penambahan sildenafil sitrat. Kasus ini menekankan implikasi klinik melakukan RHC pada penyakit ILD progresif, yang dapat mengubah pengobatan dengan obat spesifik PH. Dengan demikian, pengambilan keputusan untuk melakukan RHC perlu dipertimbangkan kembali pada kasus ILD progresif.

Keywords:

interstitial lung disease; pulmonary hypertension; heart catheterization; pulmonary arterial remodeling; sildenafil citrate

INTRODUCTION

Pulmonary hypertension (PH) is defined by mean pulmonary arterial pressure (mPAP) >20 mmHg at rest as measured by the right heart catheterization(RHC).¹ThePHisclassified into five clinical groups, one of them is PH due to lung disease and/or hypoxia.² In addition to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), interstitial lung disease (ILD) is one of the most common lung diseases associated with PH.² There is an increasing prevalence of PH among patients with progressive and advanced ILD.³ Pulmonary hypertensionassociated with ILD usually mild to the moderate degree with mean pulmonary artery pressure (mPAP) 20-30 mmHg and does not need PH-specific treatment.³

Pulmonary hypertension-associated with ILD may develop as a consequence of progressive lung disease and hypoxia (PH group 3 or PH-due to lung disease/ hypoxia) or disproportionately to the underlying disease.⁴ Several patients experience an out-of-proportion PH, with mPAP \geq 35 mmHg but with mildto-moderate ILD, a term to indicate a disproportionate increase in mPAP that is not suitable with the severity of fibrotic lung disease due to ILD.^{3,4} In these populations, the pulmonary vascular remodeling coexists and may predominate the pathogenesis of PH mimicking those of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) in whom the PHspecific treatment will have a beneficial impact.⁵ The RHC is the gold standard examination for determining the severity of PH in ILD. However, the current guideline limits the recommended use of RHC for PH-associated with ILD only for patients with more severe signs and symptoms than expected from lung function, the appearance of right heart failure, clinical deterioration not matched by the declining lung function, and candidate of lung transplantation or candidate for enrollment in clinical trial/registry.^{2,3} The RHC is considered in patients with chronic lung disease

when severe PH is suspected and the result of RHC will likely affect patient treatment.⁶ The patient with progressive or advanced ILD is not recommended to get an RHC examination, since RHC may not give effect to severe PH.⁶ Here we report a young male progressive ILD patient with severe PH, determined by RHC, and indicated as severe PH due to lung disease/hypoxia or PH group 3. The patient was successfully treated with the addition of PH-specific treatment. This case report aimed to discuss about reconsidering the decision-making to perform RHC in the progressive ILD case, which may alter the management of patients.

CASE

A male patient aged 39 y.o. came to be hospitalized with complaints of increasing shortness of breath, productive cough, and fatigue. The patient was an active smoker with two packs a day of cigarettes on average. No history of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease was reported. From the physical examination patient was tachypneic, with a blood pressure of 108/69 mmHg, pulse 102 times per min, respiratory rate 32 times per min, and temperature of 36.6°C. Peripheral oxygen saturation was 89% on nasal cannula 3 L per min. The increased jugular venous pressure (JVP) at 5+3 cmH₂O was observed. Chest examination showed right heart border was enlarged with increased vesicular lung sound and hoarse rhonchi in both lung fields. No parasternal lifts or prominent heart murmurs were detected. No hepatomegaly and ascites in abdominal examination. The extremities were non oedema. There were clubbing fingers.

The electrocardiogram examination showed sinus rhythm and poor R wave progression (FIGURE 1). There was an elevated N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) 2.045 pg/mL. The chest X-rays showed in both lung field the presence of inhomogeneous opacity in the suprahiller and perihiller region, bilateral paracardial amorphous boundary forms of air-bronchogram, widening of visible intercostal space, and slippery and horizontal contour of right diaphragm; in the heart there was enlargement of right atrium (FIGURE 2). The thorax CT scan indicated an interstitial lung disease with signs of interstitial pneumonia (FIGURE 3).

Patients had previously undergone work-up for tuberculosis, HIV, chronic hepatitis and all shown negative result. The work-up for autoimmune diseases yielded negative results. Lung function test showed FVC was 31% predicted and FEV1 was 33% predicted, indicated severe reduced lung function both obstructive and restrictive.



FIGURE 1. An ECG on admission showed sinus rhythm, normoaxis, symmetrical inversion T in the precordial leads, V1 to V3.



FIGURE 2. A Chest X-ray showed AP projections, supine position, asymmetric, inspirational, and sufficient conditions, the results of the two apex pulmo were calm, visible inhomogeneous opacity in the suprahiller, perihiller, and bilateral paracardial amorphous boundary forms of airbronchogram, cephalization (-), no visible widening of the two pleural spaces, visible SIC was widened and the dextra diaphragm was slippery and horizontal, the heart's waist disappeared and enlarged right atrium with CTR = 0.56



FIGURE 3. A Thorax CT scan showed interstitial pneumonia results in a differential diagnosis of interstitial lung disease with heart size within normal limits.

During the hospitalization, the patient was diagnosed with interstitial pneumonia and progressive hypoxia due to ILD. The internist-pulmonologists took care of the patient in the intensive care unit and internal medicine ward. The patient has undergone antibiotics treatment, antiinflammations (steroids), continuous oxygen and therapy, however during the treatment course little improvement was achieved. The internist-pulmonologists suspected PH as an accompanying disease in the patient and consulted cardiologists for further work-up. The initial work-up of suspicion of PH was performed by transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) and indicated the dilatation of the right atrium and ventricle (diameter of 42 mm and 34 mm, respectively), normal left ventricular (LV) systolic function (with LV ejection fraction of 76%), normal right ventricular systolic function (with tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) of 23 mm) and tricuspid valve regurgitation (pressure gradient of 48 mmHg and velocity 3.46 cm/s). From the TTE result, the patient was assessed with a high probability of PH (FIGURE 4). Since our center had a long experience with PAH patients,⁷ the invasive hemodynamic assessment by RHC was proposed to be completed to determine the severity of PH.



FIGURE 4. A transthoracal echocardiography appeared a jet of tricuspid regurgitation (TR) and right atrial (RA) and ventricular (RV) dilatation, a sign of a high probability of PH.

We proceeded to perform the RHC to measure the hemodynamic and determined severity of PH. The

hemodynamics showed the aortic pressure systolic/diastolic (mean): 133/97 (115) mmHg, left ventricle systolic/diastolic: 143/14 mmHg, right atrium systolic/diastolic: 14/12 mmHg, right ventricle systolic/diastolic: 61/11 mmHg, and pulmonary artery systolic/ diastolic (mean): 51/25 (38) mmHg. The oxygen saturation measured in the aorta was 88.4%, the inferior vena cava was 71.5%, the superior vena cava was 60.7%, the right atrium was 68%, the right ventricle was 66%, the pulmonary arteries were 68.1%, and the left ventricle 90.2%. The pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) index was 8.5 Wood Unit/m² and the cardiac index was 1.45 L/min/m² (FIGURE 5 and 6). During RHC, pulmonary angiography was also performed to exclude the possibility of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension or pulmonary artery obstructions. The result indicated there was no stenosis, obstruction, or thrombus in pulmonary artery branches.



FIGURE 5. A right heart catheterization (RHC) and pulmonary angiography with no visible features of stenosis or thrombus.



FIGURE 6. A haemodynamic diagram from the RHC indicated the low oxygen saturation and increased mean pulmonary artery pressure.

The patient's mean pulmonary artery pressure (mPAP) was >35 mmHg, which indicated a severe form of PH.⁵ This was most likely due to the consequence of severe ILD progression or PH group 3 (severe PH-due to lung disease). The patient was decided to be given oral sildenafil citrate starting from 20 mg every 8 hr. We closely monitored him during the first dose of 20 mg oral sildenafil until 4 hr to detect the intolerance or side effects (Emoto, personal communication). The result showed no reduced peripheral oxygen saturation, no increasing dyspnea or tachypnea, and no headache or flushing sensation. We, therefore, continued to give the patients oral sildenafil citrate 20 mg t.i.d. until discharge. During six mo of follow-up, the patients doing well, with no need for continuous oxygen supplementation at home, and still using sildenafil citrate in their daily routine. He recited that daily activity can be performed without significant complaint. Unfortunately, he did not show up for objective evaluation performed routinely in our PH clinic every 6 mo, such as 6 min walking test, TTE evaluation, and NT-proBNP examination.

However, sildenafil citrate was discontinued since March 2020 because the patient did not visit our PH clinic ever since. The patient could not come to our hospital due to the COVID-19 pandemic, therefore he relied on medication from a district hospital that could not provide sildenafil citrate. Since then, the patient had relapsed and was hospitalized for about 3 times in a district hospital due to increased shortness of breath. From the district hospital, he was discharged without sildenafil citrate medication, and at home, the patient still often used supplementary oxygen when the shortness of breath attacked. In August 2020, the patient had a sudden recurrence of shortness of breath while working in the field and was taken to the nearest hospital but experienced respiratory failure and was declared dead.

DISCUSSION

Here we reported a young adult patient with severe PH due to ILD, diagnosed by RHC. The recommendation to perform RHC in chronic lung disease was limited. In general, RHC should be performed when significant PH is suspected and the management will likely be influenced by its results, such as lung transplantation, clinical trials or registry enrollments, or compassionate use of PH-specific therapy.^{5,6}

The role of RHC to confirm the diagnosis and determine the severity of PH is recommended especially in ILD patients with (1) more severe symptoms than those expected based on pulmonary function data, (2) appearance of right heart failure signs, and (3) clinical deterioration that is not matched by the decline in lung function test.³ We decided to perform RHC in this patient because the TTE showed a high probability of PH and the suggestion that we would try to give PH-specific treatment if the patient had severe PH by RHC. The haemodynamic data from RHC of this patient indicated severe PH,^{5,6} i.e increased mPAP \geq 35 mmHg and PVR index >3 Wood Unit. m². Therefore, the use of pulmonary vasodilator such as sildenafil citrate may have a beneficial impact. In this patient, we suspected that the extent of ILD progression was in-line with the increase of mPAP and PVR index, which lead to worsened symptoms. The addition of sildenafil citrate along with optimum therapy for ILD was conducted to keep the patient clinically stable. Therefore, our case indicates that RHC performed in progressive ILD gives a beneficial impact on altering patient management by guiding and administering PH-specific drugs. We suggest that the decisionmaking on performing RHC needs reconsidering in patients with ILD who show worsened symptoms even if they are associated with the progressiveness of ILD. The referral to PH-center to perform PH investigation, including RHC, is an important step for specialists or general practitioners while treating progressive ILD patients.

Several studies in patients with chronic lung disease show that up to 90% of patients have mPAP >20 mmHg, with most ranging between 20 and 35 mmHg.⁶ Only about 1-5% of patients have higher mPAP >35 mmHg rest, which indicates a loss of flexibility in pulmonary arteries and vascular distensibility.^{5,6} This extent of PH impact circulatory impairment that considerably deteriorates exercise capacity already reduced caused by obstructive/restrictive ventilatory impairment.⁵ The mPAP cut-off point of 35 mmHg was used to determine the PH severity in ILD, because ILD with mPAP \geq 35 mm Hg resulted in significantly reduced lung capacity to diffuse carbon monoxide, lower arterial oxygenation at rest, lower exercise capacity, and decline of arterial oxygenation upon exercise, regardless lung function tests.^{5,6} In this case, the mPAP 38 mmHg is parallel with a worsened clinical condition.

The mechanism of the occurrence of PHinpatientswithILDismostlyassociated with pulmonary fibrosis which involves several types of cells and interactions between various cellular components and mediators that determine the pattern and severity of fibrosis.8 This mediator induces fibroblast activation by extracellular matrix deposition leading to fibrosis.⁹ **Pro-apoptotic** endothelial cells reduce vasodilators, such as nitric oxide and prostacyclin, and increase vasoconstrictor agents, such as endothelin-1, which lead to an increase in vasoconstriction of smooth muscle cells.^{8,9} Apoptotic endothelial cells decrease vascular density, increase the production of vascular growth factors and give rise to the proliferation of resistant endothelial cells so that the

lesions become angioproliferative.⁹ Therefore, in ILD, the presence of pulmonary vascular remodeling is indicated by the profound increased of mPAP and PVR. In this case, the measured mPAP was 38 mmHg, and calculated PVR index was 8.5 Wood Unit/m² which supported the presence of pulmonary vascular disease.

Patients with more severe lung disease (ILD with FVC <70% of predicted or COPD with FEV1 <60% of predicted) and accompanying by less severe PH (mPAP 20–24 mmHg with PVR \geq 3 WU or mPAP 25-34 mmHg) represent the majority of patients presenting with PHassociated ILD.6,10 Current data do not support therapy with PH-specific drugs in these patients.^{2,6,11} However, patients with more severe lung disease and severe PH as defined earlier (mPAP >35 mmHg and $PVR \ge 3$ WU) have a poor prognosis and should be referred to a centre with expertise in both PH and chronic lung disease for individualized patient care.^{5,6} The PH-specific drugs in these patients may be beneficial to stabilize and retard the disease progression.^{12,13} The decision to use PH-specific treatment shoud be based on hemodynamic parameters by RHC, regardless ILD severity.^{14,15} Based on an open-label study, sildenafil citrate improved 6 min walking distance and in a controlled trial among advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, sildenafil citrate improved arterial oxygenation, lung diffusion capacity of CO, dyspnea score, and quality of life.^{5,6} Our patient showed improvement and stabilization of clinical condition during adding sildenafil citrate into his treatment. However, since the advanced ILD is progressive disease, the underlying parenchymal lung disease, along with the unexpected termination of sildenafil citrate, deteriorated patient condition.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we reported a young

adult male patient with severe PH-due to ILD (severe PH due to lung disease or PH group 3) diagnosed by RHC. The clinical presentation was consistent with the progressivity of ILD and complicated by severe PH. Based on high-probability PH on TTE examination and clinical decision to guide the PHspecific treatment, we performed RHC in this progressive ILD patient. The adding of PH-specific drug was responded well and clinically stabilized the patient. The reconsideration of performing RHC in advanced or progresive ILD should be suggested since the patient may get a beneficial impact of adding PH-specific treatment. The referral to PH-center to perform PH investigation, including RHC, is an important step to improve the management of ILD-associated PH patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We acknowledged the assistance of Internal Medicine Residents in Dr. Sardjito Department Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, who provided patients data during hospitalisation.

REFERENCES

- Simonneau G, Montani D, Celermajer DS, Denton CP, Michael A Gatzoulis MA, Krowka M, *et al.* Haemodynamic definitions and updated clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 2019; 53(1):1801913. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01913-2018
- 2. Galiè N, Humbert M, Vachiery JL, Gibbs S, Lang I, Torbicki A, *et al.* 2015 ESC/ERS Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension: The Joint Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory

Society (ERS): Endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC), International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). Eur Respir J 2015; 46(4):903-75.

https://doi.org/10.1183/13993-003.01032-2015

- Caminati A, Cassandro R, Harari S. Pulmonary hypertension in chronic interstitial lung diseases. Eur Respir Rev 2013; 22(129):292-301. https://doi.org/10.1183/09059-180.00002713
- 4. Corte TJ, Wort SJ, Wells AU. Pulmonary hypertension in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a review. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 2009; 26(1):7-19.
- 5. Seeger W, Adir Y, Barberà JA, Champion H, Coghlan JG, Cottin V, et al. Pulmonary hypertension in chronic lung diseases. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 62(25 Suppl):D109-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2013.10.036
- 6. Nathan SD, Barbera JA, Gaine SP, Harari S, Martinez FJ, Olschewski H, *et al.* Pulmonary hypertension in chronic lung disease and hypoxia. Eur Respir J 2019; 53(1):1801914. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01914-2018
- 7. Dinarti LK, Hartopo AB, Kusuma AD, Satwiko MG, Hadwiono MR, Pradana AD, et al. The COngenital Disease in adult HeARt and Pulmonary Hypertension (COHARD-PH) registry: a descriptive study from single-center hospital registry of adult congenital heart disease and pulmonary hypertension in Indonesia. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2020; 20(1):163.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-020-01434-z

8. Hartopo AB, Arfian N, Nakayama K, Suzuki Y, Yagi K, Emoto N. Endothelial-derived endothelin-1 promotes pulmonary vascular remodeling in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Physiol Res 2018; 67(Suppl 1):S185-97. https://doi.org/10.33549/physiolres.933812

E, 9. Spiekerkoetter Goncharova EA, Guignabert C, Stenmark K, Kwapiszewska G, Rabinovitch M, et al. Hot topics in the mechanisms of pulmonary arterial hypertension disease: cancer-like pathobiology, the role of the adventitia, systemic involvement, and right ventricular failure. Pulm Circ 2019; 9(4):2045894019889775.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2045894019889775

10. Copeland CR, Lancaster LH. Management Progressive of Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases (PF-ILD). Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8:743977.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.743977

11. Farmakis Vazakidis IT, P, Doundoulakis I, Arvanitaki Α, Zafeiropoulos S, Boutou A, et al. Haemodynamic effects of PAHtargeted therapies in pulmonary hypertension due to lung disease: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 2021; 68:102036.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pupt.2021.102036

- 12. Barnes H, Brown Z, Burns A, Williams T. Phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors hypertension. for pulmonary Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 1(1):CD012621. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD012621.pub2
- 13. Hurdman J, Condliffe R, Elliot CA, Swift A, Rajaram S, Davies C, et al. Pulmonary hypertension in COPD: results from the ASPIRE registry. Eur Respir J 2013; 41(6):1292-301. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936-00079512
- 14. Fossati L, Müller-Mottet S, Hasler E, Speich R, Bloch KE, Huber LC, et al. Long-term effect of vasodilator therapy in pulmonary hypertension due to COPD: a retrospective analysis. Lung 2014; 192(6):987-95.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-014-9650-1

15. Tea I, Hussain I. Under pressure: right heart catheterization and provocative testing for diagnosing pulmonary hypertension. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 2021; 17(2):92-100.

https://doi.org/10.14797/AFUI4711



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 160-167 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202308

Acute compartment syndrome of the forearm after transradial approach to percutaneous coronary intervention: a case report

Istan Irmansyah Irsan^{*}, Satria Pandu Persada Isma, Alifian, Muhammad Alwy Sugiarto

Department of Orthopaedic and Traumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Brawijaya/Dr. Saiful Anwar Distric Hospital, Malang, East Java, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2022-06-16 Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) through transradial pathway Accepted : 2022-08-15 is associated with lower risk of severe vascular problems comparing to transfemoral. It is reported that the acute compartment syndrome (ACS) in forearm is significant lower comparing to leg. A 47 y.o. male with ACS following a transradial approach of PCI due to inferior myocardial infarction was reported. The patient experienced pain and swelling in his right forearm for 7 hr after the procedure and was later brought to hospital and treated with emergency of fasciotomy. The patient showed good post-fasciotomy recovery on the first 2 wk and showed good DASH score after 4 wk. Quick diagnosis with prompt treatment makes a better outcome for the patient. Consequently, a high level of awareness to make the diagnosis as quickly and accurately management as possible could prevent morbidity caused by late and unrecognized management compartment syndrome eventually could make a better clinical outcome.

ABSTRACT

Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) melalui pendekatan transradial dikaitkan dengan risiko komplikasi vaskular yang lebih rendah di lokasi akses dibandingkan dengan pendekatan transfemoral. Insiden sindrom kompartemen akut di lengan bawah dilaporkan secara signifikan lebih rendah dibandingkan di kaki bawah. Seorang pria 47 tahun dengan sindrom kompartemen akut setelah dilakukan PCI transradial karena infark miokard inferior dipresentasikan dalam laporan kasus ini. Pasien mengalami nyeri dan bengkak pada lengan kanannya 7 jam setelah prosedur dan kemudian pasien dibawa ke rumah sakit kami dan segera dilakukan fasiotomi pada lengan kanan. Pasien menunjukkan pemulihan pasca fasciotomi yang baik pada 2 minggu pertama. Setelah 4 minggu paska operasi, diperoleh skor *disabilities of arm, shoulder and hand* (DASH) yang memuaskan. Diagnosis cepat dengan pengobatan yang tepat dapat mencegah morbiditas yang lebih baik bagi pasien.

Keywords:

percutaneous coronary intervention; acute compartment syndrome; transradial approach; clinical outcome

INTRODUCTION

Acute compartment syndrome (ACS) represents a limb-threatening condition that occurs due to increased pressure within a fibroosseous space and ends up in a decreased tissue perfusion condition. Time to diagnosis is a factor in outcome for ACS, which is still a diagnostic problem despite technology advancements.^{1,2} Compartment syndrome is defined as the elevation of fascial compartment pressure, which surpasses perfusion pressure leading to irreversible tissue ischemia and necrosis.other less common etiologies such as burns, emboli, and iatrogenic injuries can be equally troublesome and challenging to diagnose. The sequelae of a delayed diagnosis of compartment syndrome may be devastating. All care providers must understand the etiologies, high-risk situation, and the urgency of intervention. Questions/ Purposes: This study was conducted to perform a comprehensive review of compartment syndrome discussing etiologies, risk stratification, clinical progression, noninvasive and invasive monitoring, documentation, medicallegal implication, and our step-by-step approach to compartment syndrome prevention, detection, and early intervention. Methods: A literature search was performed using the PubMed Database and the following search terms: \"Compartment syndrome AND Extremity,\" \"Compartment syndrome and Compartment AND Gluteal.\" syndrome AND Paraspinal.\" A total of 2,068 articles were identified. Filters allowed for the exclusion of studies not printed in English (359

In situations of ACS, fractures account for 75% of cases.^{3,4} It occurs primarily because of trauma, especially in the lower leg. However, it can also be triggered by static patient positioning during long surgical procedures such as recreational drugs injection, post-operative bleeding, tourniquet use, injury to blood vessels, rhabdomyolysis, and sports injuries.⁵ Compartment syndrome rarely happens as a sequela of trans-radial percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).

In this case report and literature review, an uncommon case of ACS after PCI was reported. The CARE guidelines and checklist were followed in this study.⁶ Furthermore, our patients signed an informed consent form to the publication of their data and clinical photographs.

CASE

A 47 y.o. male arrived at the emergency room (ER) on April 28th, 2019 with the chief complaint of pain and swelling in his right forearm. The patient was referred to the orthopaedic division from another hospital after a transradial approach of primary PCI using the coronary stent because of diagnoses of inferior acute myocardial infarct on April 26th, 2019. Seven hours after the procedure, a swelling and a pale were noted in his right wrist, extending to the fingers and elbow. The patient also complains of paresthesia in the tip of his fingers, and there were no pulses on the radial artery. Blisters started to appear on his right wrist a day after PCI. There was no medical history of hypertension or diabetes. Upon arrival at the ER, he had a 160/80 mmHg systolic blood pressure with oxygen saturation at each right finger ranging from 93-95%. There was swelling and bullae on the right forearm (FIGURE 1). From the examination it was tender to palpation, and there was positive passive stretch pain with a limited range of motion (ROM). The patient had a relatively normal pre-PCI laboratory result aside from the elevation of white blood cells of 14.870/mL and SGOT/SGPT of 98/37 U/L.



FIGURE 1. The clinical picture of compartment syndrome in right hands. There was swelling and bullae at the right forearm. The circle indicates the presence of a bulla, and black arrows show swelling that occurs in the patient's right hand

From the anamnesis and physical examination, the patient was diagnosed with ACS of the right forearm based on 4 out of 5 cardinal signs and symptoms of ACS that consists of pain, pallor, paresthesia, and pulselessness. Emergency fasciotomy was performed to release the compartment of the forearm with four lines of incisions; one at the volar side of the forearm (FIGURE 2A), one at the volar side of the thenar, and two at the dorsal of the hand (FIGURE 2B). Upon surgical examination, the muscle looks bulging and dark colored (FIGURE 2A). Antibiotic and antitetanic were given, and the patient was also consulted to the cardiology division for post PCI evaluation, especially regarding the reuse of anticoagulants after fasciotomy. Three days after the emergency of fasciotomy, the patient underwent a second-look procedure for redebridement. The patient's outcome is good, with an excellent post-operative follow-up 2 wk and 4 mo after initial admission with a Disability of Arm-Shoulder-Hand (DASH) score of 65 or satisfactory (FIGURE 3).



FIGURE 2. Emergency fasciotomy was performed to release compartment of the forearm. One at the volar side of the forearm and two at the dorsal of the hand.



FIGURE 3. Clinical picture outcome after emergency of fasciotomy and the follow up after four months.

DISCUSSION

Acute compartment syndrome arises when there is an elevation of intercompartmental pressure within a nonexpandable space. The forearm contains three compartments: volar, dorsal, and mobile wad. Pressure elevation in the forearm could result in increased interstitial pressure and oedema, tissue which progressive leads to irreversible muscle and nerve damage.7

Acute compartment syndrome is diagnosed clinically based on the prompt recognition of those symptoms, and in cases where the diagnosis is ambiguous, the measurement of compartment pressures may be used to confirm the diagnosis.⁸

The cardinal sign and symptoms of AS involving "5P": pain, paresthesia, pallor, pulselessness, and paralysis. The most frequent and identifying symptom is severe pain. This pain frequently outweighs the obvious damage and is resistant to analgesics. The absence of the other symptoms and signs does not rule out ACS because they are not always present. Paresthesia and paralysis are later symptoms, whereas edema is an early symptom (caused by nerve ischemia).⁹

The incidence of compartment syndrome of the forearm after transradial approach is very low with an incidence <0.01%.¹⁰ Another study reported that incidence of ACS on forearm 2 of the 51,296 incidences after trans-radial procedures (0.004%).⁷¹ In the PubMed review, only five cases have been reported. The unrecognized perforation at a distance from the puncture site, unsuccessful compression at the puncture site, or radial artery laceration become possible etiologies.⁷

Our study presents a rare case of ACS in the forearm after the transradial approach PCI. Tizon-Marcos and Barbeau reported two similar cases of acute compartment syndrome in the forearm after the trans-radial approach in 2008.7 The first case reported differs from our case in the onset of symptoms and treatment, but the outcome of both cases is good. The second case also differs from our case in the onset of symptoms which is three days vs seven hours for our case, and the outcome is better in our case. It was probably because of the active bleeding in the second case, which triggered a rapid increase in intercompartmental pressure and thus made a worse prognosis.⁷ Another case reported by Jue *et al.*,¹¹ presented an ACS of the hand after the transradial approach PCI. In this case, there is a slight difference in the decision of treatment. The case by Jue *et al.*,¹¹ was initially treated with a conservative measure using inflation of a blood pressure cuff to 15 mmHg below systolic blood pressure over the right brachial artery, the elevation of the arm and placement of a cold pack to relieve symptoms. In contrast, in our case, an emergency fasciotomy was performed promptly upon the patient arrival.¹¹

Omori *et al.*,¹² reported 4 cases of compartment syndrome after PCI, but only 1 case used a transradial approach. This case had the quickest onset of all other cases reviewed in this study (30 min), and the compartment syndrome of the arm was induced by hematoma formation because of active bleeding from a branch of the radial artery. An urgent open decompression fasciotomy was also performed in this case, the same as ours, and it results in similarly good patient recovery and full movement of the upper extremity.¹²

The formation of an anticoagulantrelated hematoma has also been cited as the cause of compartment syndrome. In addition, patients on anticoagulation are at higher risk of developing compartment syndrome given the propensity to develop hematomas.¹ Moreover, anticoagulation has been reported to be a risk factor for the development of ACS. Although

aspirin and clopidogrel are frequently given for the secondary prevention of atherosclerotic vascular events, a few studies have reported that antiplatelet treatment is associated with an increased incidence of compartment syndrome.13 There is some literature explaining the effect of using anticoagulant post fasciotomy. They suggested discontinuing warfarin or heparin and switching to heparin with a low molecular weight (LMWH). Consequently, it is crucial that a cardiologist evaluate the patient during the initial 36 hr.^{13,14} Furthermore, the cardiologist gives full consideration the maintenance of post PCI to management and the administration of anticoagulants after the emergency in the musculoskeletal area has been resolved.

Lower rates of bleeding and vascular sequelae make transradial approach PCI more popular than the transfemoral approach. Although transradial was superior to the transfemoral approach, it still has complications such as radial artery spasm, occlusion, hematoma, perforation, and pseudoaneurysm.12 Acute compartment syndrome of the forearm is a rare complication of trans radial approach PCI. Because of its rarity, the diagnosis could be missed in the clinical setting. A high level of awareness must always be done for the sign and symptoms of ACS. A rapid and accurate diagnosis with prompt surgical treatment could decrease the morbidity caused by this limb-threatening condition. In this case, transradial approach of PCI could predispose a patient to a risk of acute compartment syndrome, but whether this risk correlated significantly or not still needs further research.

Almost all four other studies apart from our study reported a good outcome with an emergency fasciotomy. One case was initially treated conservatively but later proceed with fasciotomy and end in an excellent outcome. However, another case showed poor functional outcome because of active bleeding, which rapidly increased the intercompartmental pressure. In line with this study, the patient was diagnosed with ACS according to the AAOS guideline,¹⁵ and as soon as the diagnosis was confirmed, a fasciotomy was performed as soon as possible. In result, the patient had a good outcome.

Despite the quick surgical intervention done to the patient in our case, the DASH score is still only satisfactory. Therefore, this complication must be quickly recognized to preserve the hand function as much as possible. Based on the case in this study and all other reports presenting similar cases, it shows that transradial approach PCI could predispose the patient to a risk of upper extremity ACS. However, it is still cannot be concluded whether it is significantly correlated or not. The study only presents one case and compares it with the other four cases. Our limitation in this study is the rarity of acute compartment syndrome after the upper extremity approach of PCI. A future study with more cases presented is needed.

CONCLUSION

A high level of awareness to make the diagnosis as quickly, accurately, with the best management as possible could prevent morbidity caused by late and unrecognized management compartment syndrome that could make a better clinical outcome.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This case report is prepared possible by the support of all colleagues from Orthopaedic and Traumatology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Trisakti, Jakarta. In addition, without the consent from patient and their family, this manuscript would not have materialized.

REFERENCES

 Maeckelbergh L, Colen S, Anné L. Upper arm compartment syndrome: a case report and review of the literature. Orthop Surg 2013; 5(3):229-32.

https://doi.org/10.1111/os.12054

- 2. Gumbs S. Acute compartment syndrome: a literature review and updates. Clini J Surg 2019; 2(2):1–5. https://asclepiusopen.com/clinicaljournal-of-surgery/volume-2issue-2/1.pdf
- Garner MR, Taylor SA, Gausden E, Lyden JP. Compartment syndrome: diagnosis, management, and unique concerns in the twenty-first century. HSS J 2014; 10(2):143-52.
 - https://doi.org/10.1007/s11420-014-9386-8
- Torlincasi AM, Lopez RA, Waseem M. Acute Compartment Syndrome. [Updated 2022 Aug 7]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK448124/
- McMillan TE, Gardner WT, Schmidt AH, Johnstone AJ. Diagnosing acute compartment syndrome-where have we got to? Int Orthop 2019; 43(11):2429-35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-019-

04386-y

- 6. Riley DS, Barber MS, Kienle GS, Aronson JK, von Schoen-Angerer T, Tugwell P, *et al.* CARE guidelines for case reports: explanation and elaboration document. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017 Sep;89:218–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclinepi.2017.04.026
- 7. Tizón-Marcos H, Barbeau GR. Incidence of compartment syndrome of the arm in a large series of transradial approach for coronary

procedures. J Interv Cardiol 2008; 21(5):380-4.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8183.2008.00361.x

- Gergoudis M, Raizman N. Acute compartment syndrome as a complication of radial artery catheterization. J Hand Surg Glob Online 2022; 4(4):230-2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhsg.2022.03.002
- Goirigolzarri-Artaza J, Casado-Álvarez R, Benítez-Peyrat J, León-Aliz E, Goicolea J, García-Touchard A. Acute compartment syndrome of the hand after transradial catheterization. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2017; 70(8):672-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rec.2016.11.026
- 10. Hung MJ, Mao CT, Kao YC, Hung MY. Delayed onset of forearm compartment syndrome after transradial percutaneous coronary intervention. Int J Cardiol 2015; 178:77-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.10.173
- 11. Jue J, Karam JA, Mejia A, Shroff A. Compartment syndrome of the hand: a rare sequela of transradial cardiac catheterization. Texas Hear Inst J 2017; 44(1):73-6.

https://doi.org/10.14503/THIJ-16-5795

12. Omori S, Miyake J, Hamada K, Naka N, Araki N, Yoshikawa H. Compartment syndrome of the arm caused by transcatheter angiography or angioplasty. Orthopedics 2013; 36(1):121-5. https://doi.org/10.3928/01477447-

20121217-31

13. Byrne AM, Kearns SR, Kelly EP. Posterior compartment syndrome associated with clopidogrel therapy following trivial trauma. Emerg Med J 2006; 23(9):697-8.

- 14. Titolo P, Milani P, Panero B, Ciclamini D, Colzani G, Artiaco S. Acute compartment syndrome of the arm after minor trauma in a patient with optimal range of oral anticoagulant therapy: a case report. Case Rep Orthop 2014; 2014:980940. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/980940
- 15. Parvizi J, Della Valle CJ. AAOS Clinical Practice Guideline: diagnosis and treatment of periprosthetic joint infections of the hip and knee. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2010; 18(12):771-2. https://doi.org/10.5435/00124635-201012000-00007


Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 168-178 https://doi.org/ 10.19106/JMedSci005502202309

Protective role of *Nigella sativa* oil against cisplatininduced ototoxicity: a literature review

Donny Hendriyanto¹, Helmi^{1,2}

¹Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Andalas, Padang, Indonesia, ²Faculty of Agriculture, Universitas Andalas, Padang, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-11-21 Accepted : 2022-03-09 Cisplatin is widely used for the chemotherapy of head and neck cancer. However, it has a significant ototoxicity. *Nigella sativa* has been scientifically proven to have numerous benefits included to prevent adverse effect of a drug. This literature review aimed to evaluate the protective role of *N. sativa* oil against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Relevant publications were searched from PubMed and Google Scholar databases within the last 10 years. Ototoxicity due to cisplatin can occur through the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways. Cisplatin causes endoplasmic reticulum stress, DNA damage, increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammatory processes, resulting in increased apoptosis of cochlear outer hair cells. The active constituents of *N. sativa* including flavonoids, phenolics and thymoquinone can prevent the cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Examination of endogenous antioxidants, antiapoptotic, and proinflammatory could be used as primary approach to evaluate the protective role of *N. sativa* against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity.

ABSTRAK

Cisplatin digunakan secara luas dalam kemoterapi kanker kepala dan leher. Namun demikian, cisplatin mempunyai efek samping ototoksiknya nyata. *Nigella sativa* terbukti secara ilmiah mempunyai berbagai manfaat termasuk mencegah terjadinya efek samping obat. Kajian pustaka ini bertujuan mengkaji peran efek pencegahan minyak *N. sativa* mencegah ototoksik akibat cisplatin. Publikasi yang relevan dicarik dari database PubMed dan Google Cendekia selama 10 tahun terakhir. Ototoksisitas akibat cisplatin dapat terjadi melalui jalur intrinsik dan ekstrinsik. Cisplatin menyebabkan stres retikulum endoplasma, kerusakan DNA, peningkatan *reactive oxygen species* (ROS) dan proses inflamasi, yang mengakibatkan peningkatan apoptosis sel rambut luar koklea. Senyawa aktif dalam *N. sativa* seperti flavonoid, senyawa fenol dan timoquinon dapat mencegah ototoksisitas akibat cisplatin. Pemeriksaan antioksidan endogen, antiapoptosis dan proinflamasi kemungkinan dapat digunakan menjadi pilihan utama untuk melihat peran protektif *N. sativa* terhadap ototoksisitas akibat cisplatin.

Keywords: cisplatin; *Nigella sativa*; ototoxicity; protective role; side effect

INTRODUCTION

Cisplatin (cis-diamminedichloroplatinum) is a chemotherapy agent that is widely used and effective in the treatment of epithelial malignancies, especially head and neck cancer.^{1,2} Despite promising result against cancer, clinical use is

hampered by serious side effects such as gastrointestinal, peripheral neuropathic, nephropathic, bone marrow toxicity, and ototoxicity.^{3,4} The effect of cisplatin ototoxicity is sensorineural hearing in the two ears, irreversible, starting at a frequency of 6000-8000 Hz, which will ultimately influence lower frequencies if the treatment continues, joined by tinnitus.^{5,6}

Ototoxicity due to cisplatin is still very high, particularly in children and the elderly. Where the level of ototoxicity due to cisplatin occurs in 75-100% of elderly and 22-70% of children.^{7,8} The ototoxic effect of cisplatin are greatest in kids because of the potential for delays in education and psychosocial development.^{9,10} To date, the mechanism of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity has not been completely clarified. This mechanism may involve many factors and many substances, so the management of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity remains unsolved.¹¹ The ototoxicity of cisplatin may occur through an apoptotic cycle driven by increased ROS in the inner ear.^{12,13} The body produces endogenous antioxidants to inhibit the increase of oxidative stress induced by cisplatin. However, the production is not enough against very high oxidative stress due to cisplatin.^{14,15} Therefore, exogenous antioxidants are needed to prevent cisplatin-induced ototoxicity.

Nigella sativa possesses several biological activities including antiinflammatory, antibacterial, and antioxidant properties.¹⁶It contains active ingredients such as flavonoids, phenolics, and thymoquinone.¹⁷ Thymoquinone is an active compound isolated from N. sativa which is an antioxidant. It is useful to prevent the drug-induced ototoxicity. Thymoquinones are polar polyphenol compounds that will inhibit the formation of ROS by suppressing xanthine oxidase compounds, then catalyzing the oxidation of hypoxanthine and xanthine into uric acid, while reducing O₂ and H₂O₂.¹⁸ In this literature review, the protective role of N. sativa oil against cisplatin ototoxicity was reviewed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature was searched from PubMed and Google Scholar databases. The keywords used were "hearing loss" OR "ototoxicity" AND "cisplatin" AND "Nigella sativa". A manual search was also conducted to identify additional key references. Literature searching was limited to publications in English or Bahasa Indonesia with a time limit of the last 10 years.

RESULTS

Cisplatin is an anticancer used to treat various malignancies, such as testicular cancer, ovarian cancer, head and neck cancer, and some pediatric malignancies.^{19,20} Compared to other platinum compounds, cisplatin has the highest ototoxicity. Approximately 50% of head and neck cancer patients experience ototoxicity after treated with cisplatin.^{21,22}

Ototoxicity is hearing loss because the side effects of certain medication. This condition can result in sensorineural hearing loss, irreversible, bilateral, and typically starts at high frequency, as well as tinnitus.⁵ There are several criteria used to determine if ototoxicity has occurred, including the guidelines set by the American Speech-Language Hearing Association/ASHA (TABLE 1).

Since there is no cure for hearing loss caused by ototoxic medications, prevention becomes even more crucial. Preventive measured may include considering the utilization of neurotropic, antiapoptotic, and antioxidant drugs. Given the ototoxicity of cisplatin, antioxidants are the appropriate group of substances to help prevent ototoxicity due to cisplatin (TABLE 2).^{21,27}

Criteria	Description								
	Significant ototoxic change when one of three criteria is obtained:								
ASHA	 Decrease ≥ 10 dB at least two adjacent frequencies. 								
	3. Loss of response on three successive frequencies that are on previous checks are still responding.								

TABLE 1. ASHA criteria for ototoxicity

TABLE 2. Overview of relevant literature on ototoxicity of cisplatin

Author (year)	Country	Methods	n	Age (yo)	Cumulative cisplatin dose (mg/m²)	Findings
Hodge <i>et al.</i> ²³	USA	Case report	1	29 уо	132 mg/m ²	Cisplatin causes ototoxicity and damage to the cochlea, it is necessary to continue monitoring for hearing damage when cisplatin is given.
Camet <i>et al.</i> ²⁴	United States	Retrospective review	153	3-13 уо	300-480 mg/m²	Alternative dosing with lower amounts per dose may reduce CDDP accumulation in the cochlea and may potentially lead to less ototoxicity while retaining its anti-neoplastic properties.
Patatt <i>et al.</i> ²⁵	Brazil	Systematic review	634	0-19 yo	45-950 mg/m²	Auditory changes after the use of platinum-based antineoplastic drugs were found, however, there was an important heterogeneity regarding the frequency of ototoxicity and the cumulative dose of the drugs used.
Clemens <i>et al.</i> ²⁶	Netherlands	Cross-sec- tional	168	0-17 yo	180–900 mg/m²	Ototoxicity after platinum treatment may be irreversible and that longitudinal clinical audiological monitoring and care is required in long-term survivors of childhood cancer on a large scale.

DISCUSSION

Molecular mechanism of actions of cisplatin

Cisplatin acts as an anticancer during the S phase (DNA replication). It belongs to the genotoxic chemotherapy category, which causes irregularities in DNA, affecting DNA replication and cancer cell division.²⁸ Cisplatin is a DNA alkylating agent that works by modifying DNA bases, influencing DNA replication and transcription processes, and causing alterations in DNA.²⁹ Cisplatin attaches alkyl groups to DNA bases, this alteration of DNA construction can result in DNA fragmentation, caused by the activity of enzymes that cleave or remove the alkylated DNA bases. The activity of these DNA repair enzyme is a natural occurrence in response to DNA damage.³⁰

Alkylating agents can increase the occurrence of mispairing of DNA bases, causing DNA alterations. Cisplatin binds to double-stranded DNA bases by forming cross-links between G (guanine) bases, resulting in nucleotides changes. Covalent bonds between guanine bases, mediated by cisplatin, can hinder the DNA replication process, ultimately leading to cell death.^{15,31}

Immunological reaction to cisplatin chemotherapy

The activity of chemotherapy relies notjustuponitscytotoxicimpactoncancer cells, but also on its ability to influence immune cells. Some chemotherapeutic medications can induce damage, leading to protein expression on the cell surface, cytokine release, or plasma membrane disruption and release of the intracellular substance.³²

The innate immune system

The effects chemotherapy of on macrophages have also been documented. **Macrophages** can differentiate blood monocytes into two distinct subtypes, namely classically activated (M1) and alternatively activated (M2) which possess effector or suppressive capacities, respectively. Solid tumor infiltrating macrophages (tumor-associated macrophages/ TAMs) share numerous characteristics with M2 macrophages and exert pro-tumorigenic functions based on their direct or indirect immune-suppressive effects (via cytokine production) on NK cells and T cells. In cancer patients, the presence of TAMs promotes cancer progression. Several studies have investigated the impact of chemotherapy in subverting the protumorigenic activity of macrophages.33

Chemotherapy affects bone marrow hematopoiesis, unexpectedly influencing myeloid cell activation. Platinum-based compounds, such as cisplatin, have also been reported to modulate the percentage of myeloid cells by increasing dendritic cells and eliminating myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), thus promoting immune effector responses. A direct immunostimulatory effect of cytotoxic drugs on dendritic cell activity has also been reported. Cisplatin chemotherapy can influence dendritic cell movement likewise through indirect mechanisms.³⁴

The adaptive immune system

Intensive chemotherapy treatment in cancer patients leads to profound depletion of all lymphocyte populations, particularly B cells. Cisplatin and lowdose paclitaxel synergize to produce specific CD8 T cells that exhibit strong responses through the release of IL-2 and IFN- γ , resulting in high therapeutic efficacy. Cancer often results in a Th1/ Th2 immune imbalance, which some antineoplastic drugs can help to address. Paclitaxel enhances Th1 cell immunity by increasing the levels of IFN- γ -releasing CD8 T cells and IL-2-releasing CD4 T cells (FIGURE 1).^{34,35}



FIGURE 1. Mechanism of immunogenic cell death due to chemotherapy.³⁵

Pathobiological mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity

Cisplatin enters the outer hair cell (OHC) with the help of organic cation transporter-2 (OCT-2) as the vehicle medium. In OHC, cisplatin undergoes 2 pathways: the intrinsic pathway and the extrinsic pathway.^{36,37} The intrinsic pathway consists of the mitochondrial pathway and the endoplasmic reticulum pathway. the mitochondrial In pathway, cisplatin causes an increase in oxidative NADPH and DNA damage, which leads to an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS). DNA damage also results in an increase in p53, further raising ROS levels.²¹ Increased ROS in mitochondria causes an increase in oxidative stress in the body, endogenous antioxidants (superoksida dismutase, glutation peroksidase, catalase, glutation reductase) that will protect/repress the increase in oxidative stress. However, due to the extremely high oxidative stress caused by cisplatin, the endogenous antioxidant activity is decreased. an increase in p53 also inhibits the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 from blocking Bax, a proapoptotic protein.³⁸ Increased oxidative stress and Bax lead to the release of cytochrome-c which activates caspase-9 and caspase-3. In the endoplasmic reticulum pathway, cisplatin causes endoplasmic reticulum stress, resulting in calpain activation and an increase in caspase-12. Initiation of caspase-12 leads to the production of caspase-9 and caspase-3.³⁹ Caspase-3 induces apoptosis, ultimately causing ototoxicity.^{31,40}

The extrinsic pathway, specifically through the death receptor pathway,

is another process by which cisplatin induces ototoxicity. Cisplatin binds to death and inflammation receptors on the cell surface. Tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF- α) is an inflammatory mediator and cytokine that triggers apoptosis through death receptors. It associates with Fas protein (CD95). When Fas binds to its ligand, the membrane moves towards the ligand (FasL). At least three FasL molecules join to form the FADD (Fasassociated death domain), which binds to the inactive form of caspase-8, activating it and leading to the production of caspase-3. Caspase-3 induces apoptosis, which resulting in ototoxicity.^{37,41} The pathological mechanism of ototoxicity of cisplatin is presented in FIGURE 2.7,42

Protective role of *N. sativa* against cisplatin ototoxicity

Nigella sativa is a natural plant that has been scientifically demonstrated to provide numerous benefits when consumed, either as oil or extract. Nigella *sativa* has several biological properties including an antioxidant, analgesic, antiinflammatory and antihistamine and its protective role against cisplatin ototoxicity may be associated with the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulator activities (FIGURE 3).^{43,44} The active compounds, minerals and nutrients contained in N. sativa include flavonoids, phenolics, thymohydroguinone, thymoguinone, dithymoquinone, p-cymene, 4-terpienol, carvacrol, t-anethol, sesquiterpene longifolene, α -piene, thymol, alkaloids, proteins, fat, sugars, Cu, P, Zn and Fe.^{17,45}



FIGURE 2. Pathobiological mechanism of ototoxicity cisplatin.^{7,42}



FIGURE 3. The role of *N. sativa* on molecular targets.⁴³

Antioxidant

Nigella sativa extract belongs to the group of strong antioxidants, with IC₅₀= 80,433 μ g/mL.⁴⁶ Flavonoids, and thymoguinone phenolics, are antioxidants that help forestall ototoxic effects. Thymoguinone compounds are polyphenolic compounds (hydroxyl gatherings) that are polar, allowing them to into polar solvents like ethanol, methanol, water, acetone, butanol, dimethyl formamide, and dimethyl sulfoxide. Polyphenols repress the formation of ROS by suppressing the enzyme xanthine oxidase, then catalyzes the oxidation of hypoxanthine and xanthine to uric corrosive while reducing O₂ and H₂O₂. Polyphenols act as antioxidants against oxidative stress, specifically as free radical scavengers, metal chelators in regulating cellular oxidation reactions, and by influencing enzymes involved in oxidative stress and increasing the production of endogenous antioxidants. of The antimicrobial activity of polyphenols damaging bacterial cell works by membranes, inhibiting fatty acid synthesis, and enzyme activity, thereby impeding bacterial growth and development.18

Superoxide (SOD) dismutase compounds metalloenzymes are containing copper, zinc or iron particles formed in the cytosol, and manganesecontaining compounds formed in the mitochondrial matrix. It works by catalyzing the dismutation of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and oxygen, with hydrogen peroxide being easy diffused across the plasma membrane. Superoxide dismutase is an endogenous antioxidant enzyme that has a very potent effect and functions as the body's first line of defense against free radicals. Superoxide dismutase activity can be utilized as a reference for measuring oxidative stress in the body.^{47,48}

Antiinflammatory

Nigella sativa has anti-inflammatory potential. These effects include the reduction of NO, production of IL-1, cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) and COX-2, histone deacetylase (HDAC), as well as other pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1β, IL-6, TNF- α , IFN- γ , and PGE₂.^{49,50} Thymoquinone, one of the active compounds from *N. sativa*, can attenuate the inflammatory reaction caused by mast cells by blocking the transcription and production of TNF- α through the modulation of the proinflammatory transcription factor NF-Kβ.^{51,52}

Tumor necrosis factor- α compound is a proinflammatory mediator that can not only play a role in the mechanism of apoptosis induction but also accelerate cancer progression. Some studies have concluded that TNF- α produces ROS and RNS, leading to DNA damage and promoting proliferation, invasion, and increased chemotherapy resistance by activating MCF-7 cells.³⁶

Immunomodulator

The components of *N. sativa* have also been proven to strengthen and stabilize the body's immune system by increasing the ratio between T-helper and T-suppressor cells by 55%, with an average natural killer cell activity achievement of 30%.⁴⁹ Thymoquinone, as an active compound of *N. sativa*, also plays a role in diminishing cytokines produced by Th2, in particular, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, as well as decreasing serum IgE. A reduction in serum IL-4 and IgE can help prevent the inflammatory response and mucosal edema.⁵²

CONCLUSION

Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity is still exceptionally high, particularly in children and the elderly. Cisplatin causes ototoxicity through two pathways namely the intrinsic and extrinsic pathway. Cisplatin leads to endoplasmic reticulum stress, DNA damage, increased ROS, and inflammatory processes, resulting in an increase in apoptosis of the outer hair cells of the cochlea. *Nigella sativa* oil has a protective effect against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity through its biological activities as an antioxidant, immunomodulator, and antiinflammatory agent.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

REFERENCES

- Chang KW. Ototoxicity. In: Johnson JT, Rosen CA eds. Bailey's Head and Neck Surgery, Otolaryngology, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippicott Williams & Wilkins, 2014: 2542-8.
- Akdemir F, Gozeler M, Yildirim S, Askin S, Dortbudak M, Kiziltunc A. The effect of ferulic acid against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Med Science 2018; 7(3):528-31. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 5 4 5 5 / medscience.2018.07.8814
- Esen E, Özdoğan F, Gürgen SG, Ozel HE, Baser S, Genc S, *et al.* Ginkgo biloba and lycopene are effective on cisplatin induced ototoxicity? J Int Adv Otol 2018; 14(1):23-6.

https://doi.org/10.5152/iao.2017.3137

4. Yurtsever KN, Baklaci D, Guler I, Kuzucu I, Kum RO, Ozhamam EU, *et al.* The Protective effect of platelet rich plasma against cisplatininduced ototoxicity. J Craniofac Surg 2020; 31(5):506-9.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ SCS.0000000006645

5. Yu D, Gu J, Chen Y, Kang W, Wang X, Wu H. Current strategies to combat cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Front Pharmacol 2020; 11:999. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00999

- 6. Savitri E, Fitria D, Akil A, Daud D, Rasyid N, Kadir A. The effect of cisplatin chemotherapy on ototoxicity event in retinoblastoma patients. Int J Sci Healthc Res 2021; 6(1):89-94.
- Hendriyanto D, Setiamika M, Primadewi N. The effect of ginkgo biloba against ototoxic hearing loss on advanced stage undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. Int J Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma 2020; 2(02):44-6.

https://doi.org/10.32734/ijnpc.v2i02.3910

 Tang Q, Wang X, Jin H, Mi Y, Liu L, Dong M, *et al.* Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: Updates on molecular mechanisms and otoprotective strategies. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2021; 163:60-71.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2021.03.008

 Lopes NB, Silva LAF, Samelli AG, Matas CG. Effects of chemotherapy on the auditory system of children with cancer: a systematic literature review. Rev CEFAC 2020; 22(2):e13919. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-

https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0216/202022213919

 Skarzynska MB, Krol B, Czajka L. Ototoxicity as a side-effect of drugs: literature review. J Hear Sci 2021; 10(2):9-19.

https://doi.org/10.17430/jhs.2020.10.2.1

11. Kim KH, Lee B, Kim YR, Kim MA, Ryu N, Jung DJ, *et al.* Evaluating protective and therapeutic effects of alpha-lipoic acid on cisplatininduced ototoxicity. Cell Death Dis 2018; 9(8):827. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-

0888-z

12. Hazlitt RA, Min J, Zuo J. Progress in the development of preventative drugs for cisplatin-induced hearing loss. J Med Chem 2018; 61(13):5512-24. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. jmedchem.7b01653

- 13. Trendowski MR, El Charif O, Dinh Jr PC, Travis LB, Dolan ME. Genetic and modifiable risk factors contributing to cisplatin-induced toxicities. Clin Cancer Res 2019; 25(4):1147-55. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-18-2244
- Dhingra PL. Hearing loss. In: Dhingra PL & Dhingra S, eds. Disease of ear, nose and throat. 6th ed., Elsevier, New Delhi, 2014:33-4.
- 15. Tchounwou PB, Dasari S, Noubissi FK, Ray P, Kumar S. Advances in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of action of cisplatin in cancer therapy. J Exp Pharmacol 2021; 13:303-28.

https://doi.org/10.2147/JEP.S267383

16. Kökten N, Eğilmez OK, Erinç M, Ekici AID, Serifler S, Yesilada E, *et al.* The protective effect of *Nigella sativa* oil against experimentally induced cisplatin ototoxicity: an animal study. J Int Adv Otol 2020; 16(3):346-52. https://doi.org/10.5152/iao.2020.7761

https://doi.org/10.5152/iao.2020.7761

17. Ardiana M, Pikir BS, Santoso A, Hermawan HO, Al-Farabi MJ. Effect of *Nigella sativa* supplementation on oxidative stress and antioxidant parameters: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Sci World J 2020; 2020:2390706.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/2390706

- Habiburrohman D, Sukohar A. Aktivitas antioksidan dan antimikrobial pada polifenol teh hijau. Agromedicine Unila 2018; 5(2):587-91.
- Paken J, Govender CD, Pillay M, Sewram V. Cisplatin-associated ototoxicity: a review for the health professional. J Toxicol 2016; 2016:1809394.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1809394

20. Steyger PS. Mechanisms of aminoglycoside- and cisplatininduced ototoxicity. Am J Audiol 2021; 30(3S):887-900. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_AJA-21-00006 21. Sheth S, Mukherjea D, Rybak LP, Ramkumar V. Mechanisms of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity and otoprotection. Front Cell Neurosci 2017; 11:338.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00338

- Mukherjea D, Dhukhwa A, Sapra A, Bhandari P, Woolford K, Franke J, *et al.* Strategies to reduce the risk of platinum containing antineoplastic drug-induced ototoxicity. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2020; 16(10):965-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425255.202 0.1806235
- 23. Hodge SE, Lopez IA, Ishiyama G, Ishiyama A. Cisplatin ototoxicity histopathology. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol 2021; 6(4):852-6. https://doi.org/10.1002/lio2.608
- 24. Camet ML, Spence A, Hayashi SS, Wu N, Henry J, Sauerburger K, *et al.* Cisplatin ototoxicity: examination of the impact of dosing, infusion times, and schedules in pediatric cancer patients. Front Oncol 2021; 11:673080.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.673080

 Patatt FSA, Gonçalves LF, de Paiva KM, Haas P. Ototoxic effects of antineoplastic drugs: a systematic review. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol 2022; 88(1):130-40.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjorl.2021.02.008

- 26. Clemens E, de Vries ACH, Am Zehnhoff-Dinnesen A, Tissing WJ, Loonen JJ, Pluijm SF, *et al.* Hearing loss after platinum treatment is irreversible in noncranial irradiated childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2017; 34(2):120-9. https://doi.org/10.1080/08880018.201 7.1323985
- 27. Ralli M, Rolesi R, Anzivino R, Turchetta R, Fetoni AR. Acquired sensorineural hearing loss in children: current research and therapeutic perspectives. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital 2017; 37(6):500-8.

https://doi.org/10.14639/0392-100X-1574

- 28. Maksum R. Kemoterapi antikanker. In: Nirwanto MR & Afifah HN, eds. Mekanisme aksi molekuler antibiotik dan kemoterapi. Jakarta: Buku Kedokteran EGC, 2016; 177-200.
- 29. Dasari S, Bernard P. Cisplatin in cancer therapy: molecular mechanisms of action. Eur J Pharmacol 2014; 740:364-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejphar.2014.07.025
- 30. Nejdl L, Kudr J, Moulick A, Hegerova D, Nedecky BR, Gumulec J, *et al.* Platinum nanoparticles induce damage to DNA and inhibit DNA replication. PLoS One 2017; 12(7):e0180798.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0180798

 Qi L, Luo Q, Zhang Y, Jia F, Zhao Y, Wang F. Advances in toxicological research of the anticancer drug cisplatin. Chem Res Toxicol 2019; 32(8):1469-86.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. chemrestox.9b00204

 Rébé C, Demontoux L, Pilot T, Ghiringhelli F. Platinum derivatives effects on anticancer immune response. Biomolecules 2020; 10(1):13.

https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10010013

- 33. Reis-sobreiro M, da Mota AT, Jardim C, Serre K. Bringing macrophages to the frontline against cancer: current immunotherapies targeting macrophages. Cells 2021; 10(9):2364. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10092364
- 34. Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immunebased mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationale-based combined treatments against cancer. Cell Death Differ 2014; 21(1):15-25. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2013.67
- 35. Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell

death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2017; 17(2):97-111.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.107

- 36. Gentilin E, Simoni E, Candito M, Cazzador D, Astolfi L. Cisplatininduced ototoxicity: updates on molecular targets. Trends Mol Med 2019; 25(12):1123-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molmed.2019.08.002
- Romano A, Capozza MA, Mastrangelo S, Muarizi P, Triarico S, Rolesi R, *et al.* Assessment and management of platinum-related ototoxicity in children treated for cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12(5):1266.

https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12051266

- 38. Chandra L, Agus S, Sulaini P. Peran imunoekspresi Bcl-2 pada derajat histopatologik dan kedalaman invasi miometrium pada karsinoma endometrium tipe I. Maj Patol 2019; 28(1):10-16.
- 39. Zong S, Liu T, Wan F, Chen P, Luo P, Xiao H. Endoplasmic reticulum stress is involved in cochlear cell apoptosis in a cisplatin-induced ototoxicity rat model. Audiol Neurotol 2017; 22(3):160-8.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000480346

40. Nan B, Gu X, Huang X. The role of the reactive oxygen species scavenger agent, astaxanthin, in the protection of cisplatin-treated patients against hearing loss. Drug Des Devel Ther 2019; 13:4291-303.

https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S212313

41. Moon SK, Woo JI, Lim DJ. Involvement of TNF- α and IFN- γ in inflammationmediated cochlear injury. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2019; 128(6_ suppl):8S-15.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0003489419837689

42. Brock P, Rajput K, Edwards L, Meijer A, Simpkin P, Hoetink A, *et al.* Cisplatin Ototoxicity in Children. Intech 2021; 1-25.

https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.96744

43. Amin B, Hosseinzadeh H. Black

cumin (*Nigella sativa*) and its active constituent, thymoquinone: an overview on the analgesic and antiinflammatory effects. Planta Med 2016; 82(1-2):8-16.

https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1557838

44. Bordoni L, Fedeli D, Nasuti C, Maggi F, Papa F, Wabitsch M, *et al.* Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of nigella sativa oil in human pre-adipocytes. Antioxidants 2019; 8(2):51.

https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8020051

- 45. Mukhtar H, Qureshi AS, Anwar F, Mumtaz MW, Marcu M. Nigella sativa L. seed and seed oil: potential sources of high-value components for development of functional foods and nutraceuticals/pharmaceuticals. J Essent Oil Res 2019; 31(4):1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.201 8.1562388
- 46. Barutu YAP. Karakteristik enkapsulasi ekstrak biji jintan hitam (*Nigella sativa*) dan biji wijen (*Sesamum indicum*) sebagai sumber antioksidan potensial. Published online 2018.
- 47. Parwata MOA. Bahan ajar antioksidan. Kim Terap Progr Pascasarj Univ Udayana 2016;1-54.
- 48. Ighodaro OM, Akinloye OA. First line defence antioxidants-superoxide

dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX): Their fundamental role in the entire antioxidant defence grid. Alexandria J Med 2018; 54(4):287-93.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajme.2017.09.001

- 49. Islam MT. Biological activities and therapeutic promises of *Nigella sativa* L. Int J Pharm Sci Sci Res 2016. https://doi.org/10.25141/2471-6782-2016-6.0237
- 50. Martins MJB, Batista AMA, Brito YNF, Soares PMG, Martins CS, Riberio RA, *et al.* Effect of remote ischemic preconditioning on systemic toxicity and ototoxicity induced by cisplatin in rats: role of TNF- α and nitric oxide. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2018; 79(6):336-46. https://doi.org/10.1159/000485514

https://doi.org/10.1159/000485514

51. Ansari ZM, Nasiruddin M, Khan RA, Haque SF. Protective role of *Nigella sativa* in diabetic nephropathy: a randomized clinical trial. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transplant 2017; 28(1):9-14.

https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-2442.198093

52. Amanulloh M, Krisdayanti E. Jintan hitam sebagai imunomodulator dan antiinflamasi pada pasien asma. J Penelit Perawat Prof 2019; 1(1):115-20. https://doi.org/10.37287/jppp.v1i1.32



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 55, Number 2, 2023; 179-194 https://doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005502202310

Health-related quality of life of the elderly after natural disasters: a scoping review

Pujiatun¹, Anindya K Zahra¹, Detty Siti Nurdiati^{2*}

¹Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Division, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Every nation on earth is experiencing an increase in the number and proportion Submitted: 2022-12-07 of elderly people. This vulnerable population may experience a decline in Accepted : 2023-01-24 health-related quality of life (HRQOL) following a natural disaster. This scoping review aimed to have a better understanding on the elderly's HRQOL following natural disasters, its influencing factors, and the state of the research on this topic. A literature search was conducted using four databases (PubMed/ MEDLINE, Cochrane Library, Science Direct, and ProQuest) for the last 10 years (2013–2022). The summary of the selected relevant articles and analysis data were used to present the findings. There were seven articles included in our review. One article was about floods and the rest was about earthquake. Two out of the six earthquake articles involved tsunamis. All of the studies were conducted during the recovery phase and revealed that the elderly had poor HRQOL after natural disasters. Several aspects, including demographics, physical, psychological, social, and environmental factors, were identified as having impacts on the elderly's HRQOL following a disaster. The relocation had a significant negative impact on the mental health of the elderly, with a mean difference of -3.69 (-5.60, -1.77). In conclusion, the HRQOL of the elderly after a natural disaster is low and affected by several factors. To improve it, a stronger research agenda and disaster management programs that take these factors into account are required.

ABSTRAK

Setiap negara di dunia mengalami peningkatan jumlah dan proporsi lanjut usia. Populasi rentan ini dapat mengalami penurunan kualitas hidup terkait kesehatan setelah bencana alam. Tinjauan pelingkupan ini bertujuan untuk lebih memahami kualitas hidup terkait kesehatan lansia (HRQOL) setelah bencana alam, faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhinya, dan gambaran penelitian tentang topik tersebut saat ini. Penelusuran literatur dilakukan menggunakan empat database (PubMed/MEDLINE, Cochrane Library, Science Direct, dan ProQuest) selama 10 tahun terakhir (2013–2022). Penyajian temuan pada studi ini menggunakan ringkasan artikel terpilih dan analisis data yang relevan. Terdapat tujuh artikel yang disertakan dalam tinjauan ini, yaitu satu artikel tentang banjir dan enam tentang gempa bumi, dengan dua dari enam artikel gempa yang disebutkan melibatkan gempa bumi yang diikuti oleh tsunami. Semua studi dilakukan selama fase pemulihan bencana dan mengungkapkan bahwa lansia memiliki HRQOL yang buruk setelah bencana alam. Beberapa aspek, termasuk faktor demografi, fisik, psikologis, sosial, dan lingkungan memiliki dampak terhadap kualitas hidup terkait kesehatan lansia setelah bencana. Relokasi memiliki pengaruh negatif yang signifikan terhadap kesehatan mental lansia, dengan selisih rerata -3,69 (-5,60, -1,77). Dapat disimpulkan, kualitas hidup terkait kesehatan lansia pasca bencana alam tergolong rendah dan dipengaruhi oleh beberapa faktor. Untuk memperbaikinya, diperlukan penelitian-penelitian berikutnya dan program penanggulangan bencana yang mempertimbangkan faktor-faktor tersebut.

Keywords:

disaster; elderly; quality of life; relocation; review

INTRODUCTION

The Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED) defines a disaster as a situation or event that overwhelms local capacity, necessitating a request at the national international level for external or assistance: an unforeseen and often sudden event that causes great damage, destruction, and human suffering.¹ The international classification of disasters distinguishes two generic categories for disasters (natural and technological). The natural disaster category is divided into six sub-groups: biological (e.g., epidemic), geophysical (e.g., earthquake), climatological (e.g., drought, wildfire), hydrological (e.g., flood, landslide); meteorological (e.g., storm), and extraterrestrial (e.g., impact, space weather).^{1,2} In 2000–2019, CRED's **Emergency Events Database (EM-DAT)** recorded 7,348 natural disaster events which claimed approximately 1.23 million lives and affected a total of over 4 billion people, many on more than one occasion.³ These numbers represent a sharp increase compared to 20 years ago.³

Meanwhile, every country in the world is experiencing growth in the number of the elderly people.⁴ In between 2017 and 2050, the global population aged 60 or over is expected to increase from 962 million to nearly 2.1 billion.⁴ As a result, to ensure that health and social systems are prepared for this demographic shift is one of the global key concerns,⁵ including disaster response.⁶ Considering the importance of this topic, some review articles have been published, such as one about the post-disaster elderly's health needs⁷ and resilience.⁸ To the authors' knowledge, no review articles have looked into the health-related quality of life (HRQOL) of the elderly following natural disasters.

Health-related quality of life is an individual or group's perceived physical and mental health over time.⁹ The inquiries about HROOL focus on physical, mental health, and function, have grown to be a crucial component of health surveillance and may provide a complete picture of the burden of diseases, injuries, and impairments.^{9,10} The HROOL is widely regarded as a reliable indicator of service needs and intervention outcomes.^{9,10} In the case of a disaster, research on HROOL may offer specific insights and practical knowledge that might improve healthcare services, psychological support programs, disaster preparedness, policies, and management.¹¹

The elderly are more vulnerable to a decreasing HRQOL following a natural disaster, they are likely facing challenges as a result of physical impairments, decreased mobility, and impaired cognitive abilities.¹²⁻¹⁴ Chronic psychological diseases, problems, specific nutritional demands, social isolation, and disruptions in health care access and services are other factors that increase the vulnerability of the elderly.^{5,6} Minor aging-related deficits in the intrinsic capacity that were previously compensated may suddenly become a significant burden in the event of a disaster.⁵

This scoping study was conducted to find out more about the state of research on the health-related quality of life of the elderly following natural disasters as well as its affecting factors.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

A scoping review was conducted to quickly map the core concepts that underpin the research field as well as the main sources and types of evidence available. The advantages of this approach can be used to assess the extent, range, and nature of research activity, determine the value of undertaking a full systematic review, summarize and disseminate research findings, or identifying research gaps in the existing literature.¹⁵ The review objective served as the foundation for the PICO elements' formulation. Our research question was "in the elderly population (P), what is the effect of natural disaster (I) on their health-related quality of life (O)?". This PICO would be used for developing search strategies and selecting the studies. The synthesis of the findings was undertaken through an iterative process by three reviewers.

Data sources

On May 21, 2022, medical and health science electronic databases (PubMed/

MEDLINE, Cochrane Library, Science Direct, and ProQuest) were searched for the period of 2013-2022 for the purposes of this review. Hand-searching of relevant journals from the reference lists of those obtained in the initial search was undertaken for additional references.

Search strategy

The following key concepts were used to develop a search strategy: natural disasters, elderly people, and health-related quality of life. Using the advanced search, data were limited to title, abstract, and keywords (TABLE 1).

TABLE 1. Search term used in PubMed/MEDLINE, CochraneLibrary, Science Direct and ProQuest

Category	PubMed/MEDLINE, Cochrane Library, Science Direct and ProQuest strategy
Natural disasters	"disaster" OR "earthquake" OR "flood" OR "hurricane" OR "tsunami"
Elderly	"elderly" OR "older" OR "aged"
Health quality of life	"quality of life" OR "health-related quality of life"

Eligibility criteria

Articles linked with the HRQOL of the elderly people following natural disasters were included in this review. Articles must also be original research published in English to be considered for inclusion. In this review article, studies were limited to natural hazardrelated disasters, excluding biological and extraterrestrial disasters, as in the report of CRED and United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction's (UNDRR).^{1,3} Articles that did not focus addressing the elderly population (aged ≥ 60 years) and HRQOL were excluded. The age of 60 is the threshold age for defining the elderly, as used by the United Nations (UN) and the World Health Organization (WHO) in their previous reports.^{4,5}

RESULTS

Through the database search, 149 articles were identified. After removing duplicates, 125 articles were screened. Based on the abstract screening, 109 articles were excluded because they were irrelevant to the research question. Sixteen articles were selected for full article evaluation, with 9 of them failing to meet the eligibility criteria. Thus, the final sample for the review was seven articles (FIGURE 1).



FIGURE 1. PRISMA flow diagram **records excluded based on the abstract screening

To determine which variables to extract from the included research, a data graphing form was created.¹⁶ This review is focusing on: 1) the study of descriptive characteristics, such as the authors' names, year of publication, article type, type of disaster, study location, and time of data collection

(years after the disaster), 2) sample size and demographic characteristics (age and gender); 3) HRQOL instruments; 4) results summary; 5) factors influencing HRQOL; and 4) other outcomes that were examined in the study. The data were retrieved and entered into a spreadsheet to be compiled and synthesized.¹⁷ (TABLE 2)

Study's descriptive	Number of subjects & demographic	HRQOL	Results summary	Factors affecting HRQOL	Other outcome (s)
characteristics Moriyama <i>et al.</i> , ¹⁸ ; earthquake followed by tsunami; Japan; 3 yr	characteristics 128 subjects: 64 temporary housing group: 45 females; mean age female 76.4 ±7.3 yr; mean age male 78.1±6.9 yr 64 control group: 31 females; mean age female 74.6± 6.9 yr; mean age male 75.1±6.1 yr	SF-36v2	Prevalence of low PCS (%) Men: temporary housing group: 36.8 (19.2–59.0); control group: 30.3 (17.4–47.3) Women: temporary housing group: 20.0 (10.9–33.8); control group: 41.9 (26.4–59.2) Prevalence of low MCS (%) Men: temporary housing group: 36.8 (19.2–59.0); control group: 30.3 (17.4–47.3) Women: temporary housing group: 28.9 (17.7–43.4); control group: 38.7 (23.7–56.2)	Gender and Residency Women in the temporary housing group had lower prevalence of a low PCS (p < 0.05) and higher bodily pain score (72.0; 95% CI: 61.0–84.0) than women in the control group (62.0; 95%CI: 52.0-84.0) p<0.01.	 Physical activity Timed Up and Go Test Grasping power
Cao <i>et al.</i> , ¹⁹ ; earthquakes; China; 5 yr	268 subjects (relocated: 112 nonrelocated: 1560; mean age: 72 yr; gender: 50.7% female	SF-36	PCS score: nonrelocated: 51.92± 8.53; relocated 47.80± 8.62; t or Z: 3.87 (p <.001) MCS score: nonrelocated 55.36±7.18; relocated 51.93± 8.96; t or Z: -3.33 (p <.001)	4 predictors for poor PCS (adjusted R^2 = 0.304, p < 0.001): 1) older age (β =-0.31; p< 0.001); 2) relocation (β =-0.25; p < 0.001); 3) chronic illnesses (β =-0.23; p= 0.003) 4) educational level (β =0.23; p=0.002) 6 predictors for poor MCS (adjusted R^2 = .373; p < .001): 1) older age (β =-0.20; p=0.001); 2) relocation (β =-0.21; p< 0.001); 3) the death of a spouse (β = -0.20 p<0.001); 4) educational level (β =0.19; p=0.004); 5) the loss of family members (β =-0.16; p<0.005); 6) chronic illnesses (β =-0.14; p<0.002)	Psychological distress
Yabuki <i>et al.</i> , ²⁰ ; earthquake followed by tsunami, Japan, 1.5 yr	71 subjects: assembled group (in temporary housing):60; individual group (in their residence):11 Mean age: 75.9 yr; gender: 77.5% female	SF-36	PCS score: overall: 40.6 \pm 15.9°; individual group (nonrelocated): 28.5 \pm 17.9; assembled group (relocated): 42.9 \pm 14.5 MCS score: overall: 51.7 \pm 10.4; individual group (nonrelocated): 57.1 \pm 10.1; assembled group (relocated): 50.7 \pm 10.3 Overall subscales: physical functioning: 36.9 \pm 17.6°; role physical: 41.8 \pm 15.6°; body pain: general health: 46.5 \pm 10.3°; vitality; social functioning: 45.9 \pm 11.9°; role emotional: 44.1 \pm 14.8° mental health: 46.3 \pm 10.8°; "(p < 0.01) lower than national standard	Temporary housing. If compared to the assembled group who live in temporary housing, the individual group had significantly lower scores in physical functioning (18.8 ± 20.0**); role physical (29.7 ± 19.3***); Social functioning (40.0 ± 9.7***); physical component summary (28.5 ± 17.9***); **(p < 0.01); ***(p < 0.05)	• Chronic pain • Activity

TABLE 2. Findings of the included studies

Study's descriptive characteristics	Number of subjects & demographic characteristics	HRQOL instrument	Results summary	Factors affecting HRQOL	Other outcome (s)
Wagle <i>et al.</i> , ²¹ ; earthquakes; Nepal; 1.5 yr	362 subjects, Mean age 70 y Gender: 53% female	SF-12v2	Overall score: $46.55\pm14.74; 59\%$ poor HRQOL (score <50) PCS: $45.92\pm17.80; 54.4\%$ poor PCS (score <50) MCS: $47.18\pm15.25; 44.8\%$ poor MCS (score <50) Subscales: physical functioning: $47.99\pm30.59;$ role physical: 49.10 $\pm23.11;$ bodily pain: $54.41\pm29.26;$ general health: $32.18\pm21.70;$ vitality: $43.02\pm24.14;$ social functioning: $48.96\pm23.32;$ role emotional: $47.51\pm24.84;$ mental health:	Age (β = -0.116, p< 0.001); injury (β = -0.104, p= 0.014); distance to health care facility (β = -0.101, p= 0.026); access to safety information related to an earthquake (β =0.134, p=0.007); social support (β =0.120, p=0.019); chronic disease (β = -0.168, p< 0.001); PTSD (β = -0.225, p< 0.001); functional status (β = 0.295, p< 0.001); difficulty of accessibil- ity to health care services (β = -0.177, p< 0.001).	 PTSD and depression Functional ability Coping strategies Social support Resilience
Wu <i>et al.</i> , ²² ; flood; China; 1 yr	1183 subjects : mean age: 69 yr; gender: 41.2% female	SF-36	49.24±18.33. Overall score median: 64.5 (IQR: 53.3-74.2); PCS score median: 64.2 (IQR: 51.2-75.3); MCS score median: 64.9 (IQR 53.1- 77.1) Subscales scores: physical functioning: 62.5 (48.5-79.0); role physical: 62.5 (35.0- 87.5); bodily pain: 78.8 (61.3-93.8); general health: (57.0 (46.5-67.5); vitality: 59.0 (47.0-73.0); social functioning: 76.3 (58.8-92.5); role emotional: 76.7 (43.3- 100.0); mental health: 62.0 (48.0-78.0) All dimension scores among Bazhong elderly were significantly lower than the rural elderly	Physical domain: older age: OR 2.331 (1.535 ~ 3.539) p<0.001; marital status: married OR 0.403 (0.276 ~ 0.590) $p<0.001$; sleep patterns: moderate sleep pattern 0.456 (0.310 ~ 0.670) $p<0.001$; good 0.393 (0.256 ~ 0.603) $p<0.001$; no chronic diseases: OR 0.606 (0.416 ~ 0.884) $p<0.001$; no hospitalization in the past year: (0.597 (0.383 ~ 0.931) p<0.05); living with spouse: OF 0.475 (0.264 ~ 0.856) $p<0.05$. Mental domain: older age: OR 2.536 (1.610 ~ 3.994) $p<0.001$; female: OR 1.754(1.232 ~ 2.499) $p<0.01$; marital status: married OR 0.225 (0.152 ~ 0.333) $p<0.001$; sleep patterns: moderate OR 0.442 (0.291 ~ 0.672) $p<0.001$) and good OR 0.368 (0.231 ~ 0.586) p<0.001; no illness in the past two weeks: OR 0.392 (0.265 ~ 0.578) $p<0.001$; no chronic diseases: OR 0.512 (0.345 ~ 0.761) $p<0.001$; no hospitalization in the past year: OR 0.597 (0.383 ~ 0.931) p<0.05; living with spouse: OR 0.319 (0.169 ~ 0.603) $p<0.001$. Other: correlations between physical and mental health were significantly found in both genders (male: r = 0.612, p<0.001; respectively)	Health status (two-week healthcare- seeking rate & chronic disease prevalence)

TABLE 2. Findings of the included studies (cont.)

Study's descriptive characteristics	Number of subjects & demographic characteristics	HRQOL instrument	Results summary	Factors affecting HRQOL	Other outcome (s)
Xie <i>et al.</i> , ²³ earthquake; China; 1 yr	191 subjects Mean age: 74y Gender: 62% female	WHOQOL- BREF	Physical domain 56.2±20.3"; psychological domain 45.7±12.1""; social relationship domain 64.2±15.0; environment domain 52.9±14.0. *p<0.001 significantly lower compared to national standard **p<0.001 significantly lower compared to national standard	Physical domain: IADL (β =-0.479, p< 0.001); interest/ hobbies (β = 0.194, p= 0.002); family function (β = 0.134, p= 0.028) Psychological domain: depression (β = -0.255, p<0.001); family function (β = 0.220, p= 0.001); IADL (β = -2.835, p= 0.005) Social relationship domain: subjective support (β = 0.373, p< 0.001); family function (β = 0.225, p= 0.002). Environment domain: depression (β = -0.211, p= 0.002); subjective support (β = 0.162, p=0.017); ADL (β =-0.208, p= 0.003); chronic conditions (β =0.183; p=	 Social support Depression Activity of Daily Living Family function
Kim <i>et al.</i> ,11; earthquake; Korea; 2 yr	312 subjects: Mean age: 78 yr Gender: 69.6% female	WHOQOL- BREF	The mean overall HRQOL score: 51.39±14.60; physical health 49.85±18.07; psychological health 50.16±18.75; social relations 61.93±19.20; environment: 49.53±16.37; general quality of life: 53.44±20.00; general health state: 43.42±26.91.	Depression: significant negative direct (β = - 2.21; p < 0.001), indirect (β = -0.23; p< 0.001), and total effects on HRQOL (β = - 2.44; p < 0.001). Community resilience: significant direct and total effects on HRQOL (β = 6.05; p= 0.001) Social support: significant direct and total effects on HRQOL (β = 0.12, p = 0.008) Disaster preparedness: significant indirect and total effects on HRQOL (β = 0.40; p < 0.001 and β = 0.69, p = 0.031, respectively)	 Depression PTSS Community resilience Social support Disaster preparedness

TABLE 2. Findings of the included studies (cont.)

Effects of relocation

It was found three studies that compared the effects of disaster-related relocation and temporary housing on elderly people's HRQOL.¹⁸⁻²⁰ It was unlikely to synthesize the data in the Moriyama *et al.*,¹⁸ study because they were presented as medians and interquartile ranges. The data from the studies conducted by Cao *et al.*,¹⁹ and Yabuki *et al.*,²⁰ was presented using a forest plot. The mental component summary score indicated a significantly poorer psychological condition of the elderly living in a relocation area with a mean difference of -3.69 (-5.60, -1.77) (FIGURE 2). Meanwhile, physical component summary scores revealed inconsistent findings. Cao *et al.*,¹⁹ found that relocated elderly had lower scores than non-relocated elderly, while Yabuki *et al.*,²⁰ found the contrary to be the case (mean difference: 4.29 (-13.78, 22.36)) (FIGURE 3).



FIGURE 2. Effects of relocation on mental component summary score

Study or	Relocated			Non-relocated			Mean Difference IV, Fixed, 95% CI	Mean Differenc 95% CI	ce IV, Fixed,	
Sungioup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight			
Cao, <i>et al.</i> , ¹⁹	47.8	8.62	112	51.9	8.53	156	54.6%	-4.12 [-6.20, -2.04]	+	
Yabuki, <i>et al.</i> , ²⁰	42.9	14.5	60	28.5	17.9	11	45.4%	14.40 [-3.20, 25.60]		
Total (95% CI)			172			167	100.0%	4.29 [-13.78, 22.36]		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 154.61 Chi ² = 10.6, df = 1 (P = 0.001); I ² = 90%										
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.47$ (P = 0.64)								-10 -5 Favours [Experimental]	5 10 Favours [Control]	

FIGURE 3. Effects of relocation on physical component summary score

DISCUSSION

This scoping review examined the elderly's HRQOL and its factors following a disaster. We also reviewed common research settings and HRQOL instruments that were used. Notably, Wu et al.²² discovered that the elderly in Bazhong after the flood had considerably poorer HRQOL ratings across all dimensions than the overall elderly population as a reference in Sichuan province and other regions of China.²² In general, the elderly had poorer HRQOL after disasters, which is consistent with the previous studies.¹²⁻¹⁴

Factors affecting HRQOL

Based on the gathered studies, a number of variables that have a substantial impact on elderly HRQOL after a disaster have been found. These variables are categorized into four categories: demographic, physical, psychological, and social-environmental factors.

Demographic factors

Demographic factors that affected elderly HRQOL after disasters were gender, age, marital status, and education level.²⁰⁻³⁰

Gender

Moriyama *et al.*,¹⁸ and Wu *et al.*,²² revealed that elderly women had lower levels of HRQOL. It could happen may be due to the fact that women frequently endure more mental stress and trauma than male participants following disasters.²⁴ In a healthy elderly population, women reported lower levels of HRQOL, and these differences were statistically significant between the ages of 66 and 75.²⁵ Another study, however, found that when the other factors were taken into account, gender disparities in HRQOL disappeared.²⁶

Age

Age may determine the physical and mental health of older victims' HROOL.^{18,21,22} In the general elderly population, there is a steady drop in HRQOL related to age, with a significantly more profound decline in the physical domain than in other domains.^{27,28} Among the general elderly population, the lowest HRQOL was observed in the group of people over 80 years old.²⁵ We were unable to acquire comparable information addressing age group comparisons of elderly HRQOL in a postdisaster setting.

Marital status

According to Wu et al.,22 married couples had considerably greater HRQOL than singles during the flood disaster in Sichuan, China, as a result of the couples' shared emotional and physical support.²² This outcome was also discovered in a study of elderly Iranians.²⁷ However, a prior study indicated that among healthy senior populations, marital status had no discernible impact on HRQOL.²⁵ Wu et al.,²² also revealed that older people who live with their spouses have higher HROOL than those who live alone or with other family members or relatives after a disaster. Low HRQOL in the elderly who live alone may be impacted by other factors such as chronic illness, limited income, and rural residence.²⁹

Education level

Higher education among older persons was associated with greater HRQOL in both the mental and physical domains, according Cao *et* *al.*,¹⁹ This finding is consistent with earlier research, which revealed that education significantly improved overall HRQOL.^{25,27,30} Education has an indirect impact on elderly people's quality of life by affecting their nutritional intake,³⁰ income,²⁹ and social support.²⁹ Lower levels of education were linked to worsening life quality, strained social connections, dissatisfaction, and sensory issues.³⁰

Physical factors

Physical factors that had a negative impact on the elderly HRQOL after a disaster were chronic illness,^{18,22,23} hospitalization within the previous year,²¹ illness within the last two weeks,²¹ and injury,²² Multimorbidity in elderly may have an impact on the reduced ability to carry out daily tasks, increased social isolation, and reduced wellbeing.^{31,32} Chronic medical issues in older individuals necessitate ongoing support from the healthcare system.³³ Since this system is disturbed both during and after disasters, the elderly are in greater danger.^{33,34} The elderly are more at risk since this system is disrupted both during and after disasters.^{33,34} Elderly people who have certain pre-existing medical conditions, such as dementia, electrolyte imbalances, diabetes, visual or hearing impairment, mobility issues, dialysis patients, and those who require prescription medications or depend on others for daily activities, are particularly vulnerable.^{33,35}

Psychological factors

Psychological problems such as depression and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) had a detrimental impact on HRQOL levels in the elderly victim, according to Kim *et al.*,¹¹ Wagle *et al.*,²¹ and Xie *et al.*²³ Previous studies discovered that the elderly who had survived a disaster had higher rates of depression,^{36,37} PTSD,^{36,37} and adjustment disorders.³⁶ Depression or other mental illnesses may affect HRQOL by impairing one's willingness to seek treatment, changing how one response to difficult external circumstances, and impairing one's capacity for decision-making.³³ Furthermore, it has been noted that a large number of disaster victims do not ask for help, and that only a small proportion of people with serious mental problems receive treatment.³⁸

Social-environmental factors

Social-environmental factors which were associated with HRQOL include relocation status,¹⁸⁻²⁰ social support,^{11,21,23} resilience,¹¹ community disaster preparedness,¹¹ and accessibility to health care services.²¹ According to research by Cao et al.,19 and Yabuki et al.,20 elderly people who had relocated had significantly lower mental component scores, with a mean difference of -3.69 (-5.60, -1.77). These results were in line with Uscher-Pines' systematic review.39 physical component summary The scores, however, showed contradictory results. Relocated elderly had lower physical component scores than nonrelocated elderly, according to Cao et *al.*,¹⁹ while the opposite was discovered by Moriyama et al.,¹⁸ and Yabuki et al.²⁰ Although there are few studies on the physical health effects of relocation, researchers have shown that relocated elderly had more severe physical health effects over time.^{39,40} However, Moriyama et al.,18 and Yabuki et al.20 found that the relocated group had better physical component scores, particularly in women. They proposed that the elderly support groups and social gatherings in the relocation area may account for their maintenance of HROOL.¹⁸ Additionally, the elderly who have not relocated may have lower physical component scores due to their decreased level of activity.²⁰

In the event of a disaster, social

isolation and decreased social support may increase the elderly vulnerability and decrease their HRQOL.²³ A previous study showed that increased pre-disaster social support has been correlated with less psychological distress related to hurricanes.⁴¹ It is expected that social support and community resilience will improve elderly victims' HRQOL by easing personal psychological and financial burdens.^{21,42,43}

HRQOL was also favorably correlated with disaster preparedness, which includes disaster risk reduction efforts and health-protective behaviours.⁴⁴ The elements of the disaster management strategy should take older persons' particular needs in disaster situations into account.^{6,34} On the other hand, the elderly could contribute as populationspecific experts.³⁴

Difficulty accessing health care services was significantly associated with HRQOL among the elderly.²¹ According to a prior study, those who resided further from medical facilities reported lower health outcomes than those who did.⁴⁵

Research settings

Studies on HRQOL in the older population after disaster are frequently conducted the aftermath in of earthquakes. There were seven articles included in our review: one about floods and six about earthquakes^{11,18-21,23} with two out of the six earthquake articles cited involving earthquakes followed by tsunamis.^{19,20} Other natural disaster settings that researchers sought for analyzing HRQOL in the general population, but not notably hurricane,46,47 the elderly, were tsunami,⁴⁸ and wildfire.⁴⁹ In general, earthquakes continued to be the subject of most investigation. The discovery that earthquakes were discussed in 6 out of 7 articles demonstrates that they are the most well-studied disaster setting and highlights a need for greater research on various types of disasters with an emphasis on the elderly population.

The recovery phase is when all investigations were completed. All of the selected studies were conducted between one and five years after the disaster. It was not surprising, however, because the recovery phase entails assessment, damage rehabilitation. and reconstruction in order to improve living conditions in the impacted areas.⁵⁰ Conducting randomized or prospective cohort studies that capture the before, during, and after phases of a disaster is frequently problematic due to its unpredictable nature.⁵¹

HRQOL measures

In the included studies, the SF-36, SF-12, and WHOQOL-BREF were the instruments utilized to assess HRQOL. The SF-36 has a total of 36 items over eight different quality-of-life domains: physical functioning (10 items); role limitations due to physical illness (4 items); bodily pain (2 items); general health perceptions (5 items); vitality (4 items); social functioning (2 items); role limitations due to emotional problems (3 items); and mental health (5 items).⁵² Physical functioning, role limitations due to physical illness, bodily pain, and general health perceptions reflect the physical component summary (PCS) score.⁵² Vitality, social functioning, role limitations due to emotional problems, and mental health reflect the mental component summary (MCS) score.⁵² Each SF-36 domain's score was linearly translated into a standard score between 0 and 100, with a higher score indicating greater self-perceived health.⁵² Due to the high homogeneity of SF-36 components and reliability, the SF-36 questionnaire was the most widely used questionnaire in groups of the elderly.²⁵ The SF-36 is available in more than 50 different languages and has been extensively tested for cultural equivalence.53-55

The SF-12 questionnaire consists of 12 questions that evaluate one's general quality of life as well as physical and mental health.⁵⁶ Since it is a condensed version of the SF-36, the PCS and MCS are scored similarly.⁵⁶ The scores range from 0 to 100, with 0 denoting the lowest level of health determined by the scales and 100 denoting the highest level of health.⁵⁶ This instrument generally showed acceptable validity and reliability to measure the quality of life among older people.⁵⁶

WHOQOL-BREF, а condensed version of the 100-item World Health Organization Quality of Life Scale, consists of 26 items.⁵⁷ The WHOQOL-BREF comprises two individual items about subjective guality of life and health conditions in addition to domains measuring physical health, psychological social relationships, health. and environmental factors.⁵⁷ A Likert scale with five points was used to score the responses.⁵⁷ Higher scores correlate with higher quality of life.57 WHOQOL-BREF may be more useful to evaluate changes in the elderly's quality of life than SF-36 since it prioritizes responses to aging and avoids emphasizing impairment.58 However, the WHOQOL-BREF examines overall quality of life, while the SF-36 assesses specifically HRQOL.⁵⁹ Before deciding which instrument to use, clinicians and researchers should define their study questions carefully.⁵⁹ We proposed using a standardized instrument with a uniform data presentation to have a better indicator to compare HRQOL scores.

CONCLUSION

HRQOL of the elderly after natural disaster is low and affected by several factors such as demographic (gender, age, marital status, and education level), physic (chronic illness, hospitalization, illness within the last two weeks, and injury), psychology (depression and PTSD), and social environment (relocation status, community resilience, disaster preparedness, and accessibility to health care services). Post-disaster relocation had a significant negative impact on the mental health of the elderly. A stronger research agenda and disaster management programs that take these factors into account are needed to improve elderly HRQOL following disasters.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We would like to thank all colleagues who have supported in the prepare of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. CRED. 2021 Disasters in Numbers. Brussels: CRED; 2022. https://doi.org/10.1787/eee82e6e-en
- Guha-Sapir D, Hoyois P, Below R. Annual Disaster Statistical Review 2012: The Numbers and Trends. Brussels: CRED; 2013. http:// www.cred.be/sites/default/files/ ADSR_2012.pdf
- 3. CRED, UNDRR. Human Cost of Disasters: An Overview of the Last 20 Years, 2000-2019. Geneva; 2020.
- 4. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World Population Ageing 2017 - Highlights. New York: 2017.
- 5. World Health Organization. World Report on Ageing and Health. Geneva: WHO; 2015.
- 6. International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. World Disasters Report 2018: Leaving No One Behind. IFRC; 2018.
- Ahmadi S, Khankeh H, Sahaf R, Dalvandi A, Hosseini SA, Jalilvand S. Health needs of older adults after natural disasters: A systematic literature review. Trauma Mon 2018;

23(4):

https://doi.org/10.5812/traumamon.60622

 Kwan C, Walsh CA. Seniors' disaster resilience: a scoping review of the literature. Int J Disaster Risk Reduct 2017; 25:259-73.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.09.010

9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Measuring Healthy Days Population Assessment of Health-Related Quality of Life. Atlanta, Georgia: CDC; 2000.

http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/brfss/

- 10. Yin S, Njai R, Barker L, Siegel PZ, Liao Y. Summarizing health-related quality of life (HRQOL): development and testing of a one-factor model. Popul Health Metr 2016; 14:22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-016-0091-3
- 11. Kim EM, Kim GS, Kim H, Park CG, Lee O, Pfefferbaum B. Healthrelated quality of life among older adults who experienced the Pohang earthquake in South Korea: a crosssectional survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2022; 20(1):37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-022-
- 01944-8
 12. Fauzan, Nur R, Masni, Mallongi A, Sridani NW, Devi R. Factors related to quality of life of elderly victims of natural disasters in Palu City. Enferm Clin 2020; 30(Supll 4):178-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enfcli.2019.10.064
- 13. Cherry KE, Sampson L, Galea S, Mark LD, Boudoin KH, Nezat PF, *et al.* Health-related quality of life in older coastal residents after multiple disasters. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2017; 11(1):90-6.

https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2016.177

14. Ardalan A, Mazaheri M, Vanrooyen M, Mowafi H, Nedjat S, Naieni K, *et al.* Post-disaster quality of life among older survivors five years after the Bam earthquake: Implications for recovery policy. Ageing Soc 2011; 31(2):179-96.

https://doi.org/10.1017/

S0144686X10000772

- 15. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory and Practice 2005; 8(1):19-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570320. 00119616
- 16. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implementation Science 2010; 5(69). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-69
- 17. Weeks LC, Strudsholm T. A scoping review of research on complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) and the mass media: Looking back, moving forward. BMC Complement Altern Med 2008; 8:43. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-8-43
- 18. Cao X, Chen L, Tian L, Jiang X. Psychological distress and healthrelated quality of life in relocated and nonrelocated older survivors after the 2008 Sichuan Earthquake. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2015; 9(4):271-7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2015.04.008

- 19. Moriyama N, Urabe Y, Onoda S, Maeda N, Oikawa T. Effect of residence in temporary housing after the Great East Japan Earthquake on the physical activity and quality of life of older survivors. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2017; 11(6):701-10. https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2017.19
- 20. Yabuki S, Ouchi K, Kikuchi SI, Konno SI. Pain, quality of life and activity in aged evacuees living in temporary housing after the Great East Japan earthquake of 11 March 2011: a cross-sectional study in Minamisoma City, Fukushima prefecture Clinical rheumatology and osteoporosis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2015; 16:246. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-015-0711-2
- 21. Wagle S, Amnatsatsue K, Adhikari B, Kerdmongkol P, van der Putten M, Silpasuwan P. Health-related quality of life after the 2015 gorkha

earthquakes, among older adults living in lalitpur district of central Nepal. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2021; 15(3):298-307.

https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2019.154

22. Wu J, Xiao J, Li T, Li X, Sun H, Chow EPF, *et al.* A cross-sectional survey on the health status and the healthrelated quality of life of the elderly after flood disaster in Bazhong city, Sichuan, China. BMC Public Health 2015; 15:163.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1402-5

- 23. Xie X, Chen Y, Chen H, Au A, Guo H. Predictors of quality of life and depression in older people living in temporary houses 13 months after the Wenchuan earthquake in western China: A cross-sectional study. Nurs Health Sci 2017; 19(2):170-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12333
- 24. Yilmaz V, Cangur S, Çelik HE. Sex difference and earthquake experience effects on earthquake victims. Pers Individ Dif 2005; 39(2):341-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2005.01.014

25. Krawczyk-Suszek M, Kleinrok A. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) of people over 65 years of age. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022; 19(2):625.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19020625

- 26. Lee Y, Shinkai S. A comparison of correlates of self-rated health and functional disability of older persons in the Far East: Japan and Korea. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2003; 37(1):63-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4943(03)00021-9
- 27. Tajvar M, Arab M, Montazeri A. Determinants of health-related quality of life in elderly in Tehran, Iran. BMC Public Health 2008; 8:323. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-8-323
- 28. Walters SJ, Munro JF, Brazier JE. Using the SF-36 with older adults: a cross-sectional community-based survey. *Age Ageing* 2001; 30:337-347.
- 29. Liu N, Zeng L, Li Z, Wang J. Health-

related quality of life and longterm care needs among elderly individuals living alone: a crosssectional study in rural areas of Shaanxi Province, China. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(313).

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/13/313

- 30. Lasheras C, Patterson AM, Casado C, Fernandez S. Effects of education on the quality of life, diet, and cardiovascular risk factors in an elderly Spanish community population. Exp Aging Res 2001;27(3):257-70. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610730130-0208691
- 31. Chen C, Liu GG, Shi QL, Sun Y, Zhang H, Wang MJ, *et al.* Health-related quality of life and associated factors among oldest-old in China. J Nutr Health Aging 2020; 24(3):330-338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-020-1327-2
- 32. Dev R, Zaslavsky O, Cochrane B, Eagen T, Woods NF. Healthy aging through the lens of communitybased practitioners: A focus group study. BMC Geriatr 2020; 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01611-x
- 33. Kar N. Care of older persons during and after disasters: meeting the challenge. J Geriatr Care Res 2016;3(1). https://www.researchgate.net/

publication/304497407

34. Johnson HL, Ling CG, McBee EC. Multi-disciplinary care for the elderly in disasters: An integrative review. Prehosp Disaster Med 2014; 30(1).

https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1049023X14001241

35. Malik S, Lee DC, Doran KM, Grudzen CR, Worthing J, Portelli I, *et al.* Vulnerability of Older Adults in Disasters: Emergency Department Utilization by Geriatric Patients after Hurricane Sandy. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2018; 12(2):184-193. https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2017.44

36. Viswanath B, Maroky AS, Math SB, John JP, Benegal V, Hamza A, *et al.* Psychological impact of the tsunami on elderly survivors. Am J Geriatr Psychiatr 2012; 20(5):402-7.

h t t p s : //d o i . o r g/10.1097/ JGP.0b013e318246b7e9

37. Jia Z, Tian W, Liu W, Cao Y, Yan J, Shun Z. Are the elderly more vulnerable to psychological impact of natural disaster? A population-based survey of adult survivors of the 2008 Sichuan earthquake. BMC Public Health 2010;10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-172

- Rodriguez JJ, Kohn R. Use of mental health services among disaster survivors. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2008; 21:370-378.
- 39. Uscher-Pines L. Health effects of relocation following disaster: a systematic review of the literature. Disasters 2009;33(1):1-22. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.0361-3666.2008.01059.x
- 40. Sanders S, Bowie SL, Bowie YD. Lessons learned on forced relocation of older adults: The impact of hurricane andrew on health, mental health, and social support of public housing residents. J Gerontol Soc Work 2004; 40(4):23-35. https://doi.org/10.1300/J083v40n04_03
- 41. Hamama-Raz Y, Palgi Y, Shrira A, Goodwin R, Kaniasty K, Ben-Ezra M. Gender differences in psychological reactions to hurricane sandy among New York metropolitan area residents. Psychiatric Quarterly 2015;86(2):285-296.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-014-9333-3

42. Cui K, Han Z, Wang D. Resilience of an earthquake-stricken rural community in southwest china: Correlation with disaster risk reduction efforts. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018; 15(3).

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15030407

43. Xu J, Ou L. Resilience and quality of

life among Wenchuan earthquake survivors: The mediating role of social support. Public Health 2014; 128(5):430-437.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. puhe.2014.03.002

- 44. Gowan ME, Kirk RC, Sloan JA. Building resiliency: A cross-sectional study examining relationships among health-related quality of life, wellbeing, and disaster preparedness. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2014; 12(1). https://doi/org/10.1186/1477-7525-12-85
- 45. Kelly C, Hulme C, Farragher T, Clarke G. Are differences in travel time or distance to healthcare for adults in global north countries associated with an impact on health outcomes? A systematic review. BMJ Open 2016; 6(11):e013059.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 3 6 / bmjopen-2016-013059

- 46. Stanley E, Muntner P, Re RN, Frohlich ED, Holt E, Krousel-Wood MA. Quality of life in hypertensive clinic patients following hurricane Katrina. Ochsner J 2011; 11(3):226-31.
- 47. Barile JP, Binder SB, Baker CK. Recovering after a Natural Disaster: Differences in Quality of Life across Three Communities after Hurricane Sandy. Appl Res Qual Life 2020; 15(1):1151-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-019-09722-3
- 48. Siqveland J, Nygaard E, Hussain A, Tedeschi RG, Heir T. Posttraumatic growth, depression and posttraumatic stress in relation to quality of life in tsunami survivors: A longitudinal study. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2015; 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-014-0202-4
- 49. Rodney RM, Swaminathan A, Calear AL, Christensen BK, Lal A, Lane J, *et al.* Physical and mental health effects of bushfire and smoke in the Australian capital territory 2019–20. Front Public Health 2021; 9:682402. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.682402

- 50. Poser K, Dransch D. Volunteered geographic information for disaster management with application to papid flood damage estimation. Geomatica. 2010; 64(1):89-98. www.nrcresearchpress.com
- 51. Généreux M, Schluter PJ, Takahashi S, Usami S, Mashino S, Kayano R, *et al.* Psychosocial management before, during, and after emergencies and disasters-results from the Kobe expert meeting. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019; 16(8):1390. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16081309
- 52. Ware JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). Med Care 1992; 30(6):473-83.
- 53. Anderson RT. Aaronson NK. Bullinger M, McBee WL. Α review of the progress towards developing health-related qualityof-life instruments for international clinical studies and outcomes research. Pharmacoeconomics 1996; 10(4):336-55.

https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-199610040-00004

54. Wagner AK, Gandek B, Aaronson NK, Acquadro C, Alonso J, Apolone G, et al. Cross-cultural comparisons of the content of SF-36 translations across 10 countries: results from the IQOLA Project. International Quality of Life Assessment. J Clin Epidemiol 1998; 51(11):925-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0895-

https://doi.org/10.1016/s0895-4356(98)00083-3

55. Lam CLK, Tse EYY, Gandek B, Fong DYT. The SF-36 summary scales were valid, reliable, and equivalent in a Chinese population. J Clin Epidemiol 2005; 58(8):815-822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclinepi.2004.12.008

- 56. Jakobsson U. Using the 12-item short form health survey (SF-12) to measure quality of life among older people. Aging Clin Exp Res 2007; 19(6):457-464.
- 57. Skevington SM, Lotfy M, O'Connell

KA. The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: Psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A report from the WHOQOL Group. Qual Life Res 2004; 13(2):299-310. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 2 3 / B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00

58. Castro PC, Driusso P, Oishi J. Convergent validity between SF-36 and WHOQOL-BREF in older adults. Rev Saude Publica 2014;48(1):63-67. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-8910.2014048004783

59. Huang IC, Wu AW, Frangakis C. Do the SF-36 and WHOQOL-BREF measure the same constructs? Evidence from the taiwan population*. Qual Life Res 2006; 15(1):15-24.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-005-8486-9